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When making decisions, the Board is encouraged to consider the College's values of collaboration,
diversity & inclusion, excellence, innovation, integrity, respect, and social responsibility.
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1. CALL TO ORDER

2. INTRODUCTION OF GUESTS

3. ADDITIONS/DELETIONS TO THE AGENDA

4. CONFLICT OF INTEREST DECLARATIONS

5. PRESENTATIONS

5.1. Michelle Hutt, Associate Vice-President, Academic (Enrolment & International
Education) & Janine Knight-Grofe, Manager, International Education to
present an update on international education

6. CHAIR'S REPORT

7. CONSENT AGENDA

The following items will be addressed through the Consent Agenda unless
specifically removed for separate attention, by request.

Recommendation
That all items listed under the heading of consent agenda be adopted as
recommended.

7.1. Approval on Minutes from October 13, 2021, Board Meeting 5 - 11

Recommendation
That the public minutes of the Board of Governors meeting on October 13,
2021, be approved as read.

7.2. Durham College Student Association's 2020-2021 Audited Financial 12 - 30



Statements and 2021-2022 Operating Budget

Recommendation
That based on Item BOG-2021-80, the Durham College Student Association's
2020-2021 audited financial statements and 2021-2022 operating budget be
received for information.

7.3. President's Report - October to November 2021 31 - 38

Recommendation
That Report BOG-2021-74, outlining the president's activities from October to
November 2021, be received for information.

8. DECISION ITEMS

8.1. Approval to Formalize Programs of Instruction: Ontario College Certificates -
Apprenticeships - Elaine Popp & Rebecca Milburn

39 - 42

Recommendation
It is recommended to the Durham Board of Governors:

That in accordance with Report BOG-2021-70, the following programs be
formally recognized as Ontario College Certificates, effective Fall 2022:

School of Hospitality and Horticultural Sciences (HHS)

Culinary Skills – Cook II Apprenticeship, Ontario College Certificate,
MTCU Code 43107, Trade# 415A

•

School of Health and Community Services (HCS)

Early Childhood Assistant - Apprenticeship, Ontario College
Certificate, MTCU Code 41211, Trade# 620C

•

School of Skilled Trades, Apprenticeship and Renewable Technology
(START)

Electrical Techniques – Construction and Maintenance
Apprenticeship, Ontario College Certificate, MTCU Code 45613,
Trade# 309A

•

Electrical Techniques – Industrial Electrician Apprenticeship, Ontario
College Certificate, MTCU Code 45613, Trade# 442A

•

Manufacturing Techniques – Millwright Apprenticeship, Ontario
College Certificate, MTCU Code 47000, Trade# 433A

•

Mechanical Techniques – Elevating Devices Mechanic
Apprenticeship, Ontario College Certificate, MTCU Code 41007,
Trade# 636E

•
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Mechanical Techniques – Steamfitting Apprenticeship, Ontario
College Certificate, MTCU Code 41007, Trade# 307A

•

Motive Power Fundamentals – Automotive Service Apprenticeship,
Ontario College Certificate, MTCU Code 46405, Trade# 310S

•

Plumbing Techniques - Apprenticeship, Ontario College Certificate,
MTCU Code 41010, Trade# 306A

•

Welding Techniques Apprenticeship, Ontario College Certificate,
MTCU Code 44900, Trade# 456A

•

8.2. New Program of Instruction: Fire Protection Technology - Elaine Popp &
Stephanie Ball

43 - 72

Recommendation
It is recommended to the Durham College Board of Governors:

That in accordance with Report BOG-2021-71, the proposed Ontario College
Advanced Diploma program of instruction listed below be approved:

Fire Prevention Technology•

9. DISCUSSION ITEMS

9.1. Sexual Violence and Harassment Action Plan Implementation Report (Bill
132) - Nikki Samuel 

73 - 76

Recommendation
It is recommended to the Durham College Board of Governors:

That Report BOG-2021-81, presenting a statistical report as a directive of the
Sexual Violence and Harassment Plan be received for information.

9.2. Summary of Collaborative Efforts with Ontario Tech University - Don Lovisa 77 - 84

Recommendation
It is recommend to the Durham College Board of Governors:

That Report BOG-2021-73 providing a summary of collaborative efforts with
Ontario Tech University be received for information.

9.3. Office of the Auditor General of Ontario: Value-for-Money-Audit - Public
Colleges Oversight - Don Lovisa

85 - 169

10. UPCOMING EVENTS

Campus Closure: December 24, 2021 to January 4, 2022•

Board Team Building Event (Work of Leaders DiSC Assessment) -
January 27, 2022 from 6:30 p.m. to 8:30 p.m., Centre for Food

•

Board Retreat - March 5 to March 6, 2022, Global Classroom•
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11. MOVE TO IN-CAMERA SESSION

12. ADJOURNMENT
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Draft Minutes of the Board of Governors – October 13, 2021 Page 1 

DURHAM COLLEGE OF APPLIED ARTS AND TECHNOLOGY 
BOARD OF GOVERNORS REGULAR MEETING 

DRAFT PUBLIC SESSION MINUTES 

Date: Wednesday, October 13, 2021 

Location: SSB 116AB Student Services Building 

Members Present: Kristi Honey, Chair of the Board  
Lisa Allen  
Ian Ball  
Suzanne Beale  
Elizabeth Cowie  
Kelly Doyle  
Gail Johnson Morris  
Don Lovisa, President  
Kenneth Michalko (attended virtually) 
Ian Murray  
Kunal Nagpal (attended virtually) 
Jerry Ouellette (attended virtually) 
Jennifer Powell  
Gary Rose, Vice-Chair of the Board  
Dwight Townsend (left at 8:05 p.m.) 
Nathan Wilson  

Members Absent: Nerissa Carino 

Staff Present: Scott Blakey, Chief Administrative Officer  
Tara Koski, Dean, Students  
Barbara MacCheyne, Chief Financial Officer  
Elaine Popp, Executive Vice-President, Academic 
Melissa Pringle, Corporate and Board Secretary 

BOG-2021-72
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Draft Minutes of the Board of Governors – October 13, 2021 Page 2 

1. CALL TO ORDER 

With quorum present, the meeting was called to order at 6:00 p.m. 

The Chair made introductory comments and welcomed new Governors. 

2. INTRODUCTION OF GUESTS 

The Chief Administrative Officer introduced the following guests: 

• Jason Vassell, Faculty, School of Justice and Emergency Services 
• Tom Lynch, Director, Campus Safety 
• Thomas Bezruki, Manager, Emergency Management 
• Jennifer Cosway, Associate Vice-President, Human Resources 
• Michelle Hutt, Associate Vice-President, Academic (International & Enrolment) 
• Debbie Johnston, Dean, School of Professional and Part-Time Learning 
• Peter Garrett, Manager, Strategic Reporting and Government Relations 

3. ADDITIONS/DELETIONS TO THE AGENDA 

None. 

4. CONFLICT OF INTEREST DECLARATIONS 

None. 

5. PRESENTATIONS 

5.1 Jason Vassell, Faculty to present an overview of the Black Student 
Success Network 

J. Vassell provided an overview of the purpose and work of the Black Student 
Success Network and highlighted some of the initiatives underway to support 
black students. 

The Board questioned J. Vassell. 
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Draft Minutes of the Board of Governors – October 13, 2021 Page 3 

5.2 Tom Lynch, Director, Campus Safety, Thomas Bezruki, Manager, 
Emergency Management and Jennifer Cosway, Associate Vice-President, 
Human Resources to present a Status Update on the Fall Return to Campus 
and Implementation of the Vaccine Policy 

The Director, Campus Safety, the Manager, Emergency Management, and the 
Associate Vice-President, Human Resources provided an update on the fall 
return to campus and provided information on rapid testing, the vaccination 
uptake at the Campus Ice Centre, requests for exemptions, and issues related to 
the implementation of the COVID-19 vaccination policy. 

The Board questioned the Director, Campus Safety, the Manager, Emergency 
Management, and the Associate Vice-President, Human Resources. 

6. CHAIR’S REPORT 

The following items were discussed: 

• The Chair shared a conversation she had with Lyn McDonnell of the Accountability 
Group Inc. regarding new sessions at the Higher Education Summit related to 
asking better questions and developing a strategic mindset.  The Chair also 
reminded Governors about the College’s values and the lens through which 
decisions should be made. 

• The Chair asked for volunteers to form a Retreat Planning Committee. Governors’ 
Cowie, Doyle, Johnson Morris, Powell, and Rose agreed to participate. 

• The Chair highlighted the upcoming grad sign pick-up events on October 26 and 
28. 

• Governor Nagpal spoke to the recent student governor workshop he attended. 

• Governor Doyle was recognized for receiving her Good Governance certificate. 

Governor Ouellette temporarily left and re-joined the meeting. 

7. CONSENT AGENDA 

Moved By Governor Beale 
Seconded By Governor Rose 
“That all items listed under the heading of consent agenda be adopted as 
recommended except Item 7.4.” CARRIED 
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7.1 Approval of Minutes from the June 9, 2021, Board Meeting 

That the public minutes of the Board of Governors meeting of June 9, 2021, be 
approved as read. 

7.2 Report of the Governance Review Committee - September 14, 2021 

That the Governance Review Committee Report of September 14, 2021, be 
approved, and all actions be adopted as recommended. 

7.3 President’s Report - June to October 2021 

That Report BOG-2021-68, outlining the president’s activities from June to 
October 2021, be received for information. 

The following item was pulled for discussion: 

7.4 Program Advisory Committee Semi-Annual Report - October 2021 

The Board questioned the Executive Vice-President, Academic, about the status 
of the Program Advisory Committee’s that had a red rating.  In response to 
questions, the Executive Vice-President, Academic, advised that active 
recruitment is underway to ensure that all Program Advisory Committees comply 
with By-law No. 2 and membership requirements. 

Moved By Governor Beale 
Seconded By Governor Rose 
“That Report BOG-2021-58, providing the Program Advisory Committee semi-
annual report be received for information.” CARRIED 

8. DISCUSSION ITEMS 

8.1 Update on Plans for Fall Convocation  

The Associate Vice-President, Academic (International & Enrolment) presented 
an update on plans to recognize graduates this fall, including a revised 
convocation microsite and enhanced grad sign pick-up events.  Planned events 
are responsive to feedback that found graduates did not want to attend a virtual 
convocation and would prefer to wait for an in-person convocation ceremony. 
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8.2 Domestic and International Enrolment Update - Fall 2021 - Day 10 of 
Classes  

The Associate Vice-President, Academic (International & Enrolment) presented 
the enrolment numbers for fall 2021 and reported that as of day 10, the College 
had 10,623 students, of which 8,627 are domestic, and 1,996 are international.  
Further, the Associate Vice-President, Academic (International & Enrolment) 
spoke to enrolment numbers and applicant behaviours trends. 

The Board questioned the Executive Vice-President, Academic and Associate 
Vice-President, Academic (International & Enrolment). 

Moved By Governor Ball 
Seconded By Governor Powell 
“That Report BOG-2021-63 providing an enrolment update for fall 2021 at day 10 
of classes be received for information.” CARRIED 

8.3 Approval of Permanent Program Suspension: Healthcare Administration  

The Executive Vice-President, Academic, provided an overview of the program 
suspension process.  Further, the Dean, School of Professional and Part-Time 
Learning, advised that St. Lawrence College was the host college (through 
Ontario Learn) for most of the courses (9 of the 12 courses) in the graduate 
certificate.  Because of low registration numbers, they dropped the claims for 
these courses.  As the course claims are not financially viable, the College 
recommends that the two courses offered as part of this graduate certificate be 
permanently suspended. 

The Board questioned the Executive Vice-President, Academic, and Dean, 
School of Professional and Part-Time Learning. 

Moved By Governor Ouellette 
Seconded By Governor Nagpal 
“That in accordance with Report BOG-2021-56 the following program be 
permanently suspended effective fall 2021: 
 
Centre for Professional and Part-time Learning (PPL) 

• Health Care Administration (HCAD), Ontario College Graduate Certificate, 
(APS 04003).” CARRIED 
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8.4 Government Relations Update - Fall 2021  

The Manager, Strategic Reporting and Government Relations, presented a 
government relations update for fall 2021 and spoke to the recent results of the 
federal election.  Further, the Manager, Strategic Reporting and Government 
Relations discussed advocacy work related to the Whitby campus and credential 
reform and shared the new government relations strategy. 

Moved By Governor Murray 
Seconded By Governor Michalko 
“That Report BOG-2021-59 providing an update on government relations 
activities for fall 2021, be received for information.” CARRIED 

8.5 First Business Plan Update for 2021-2022  

President Lovisa presented the first business plan update for 2021-2022 and 
highlighted the key initiatives completed to date. 
 
The Board questioned President Lovisa. 

Moved By Governor Johnson Morris 
Seconded By Governor Doyle 
“That Report BOG-2021-69, providing the first update on the 2021-2022 
Business Plan, be received for information.” CARRIED 

8.6 Introduction of the Innovation & Disruption Catalyst Group 

President Lovisa spoke to a new group at the College known as the Innovation & 
Disruption Catalyst Group (IDCG), whose mandate is to amplify and start 
conversations about innovation across all levels of the College.  Further, 
President Lovisa advised the College had launched a Hofstede cultural 
measurement that will close on October 22, 2021.  The results of the survey will 
inform the future work of the IDCG. 

As part of this update, the Board watched a video introducing the Hofstede 
cultural measurement. 

The Board questioned President Lovisa. 

Governor Towsend left the meeting. 
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9. UPCOMING EVENTS 

 The following events were highlighted: 

• Grad Sign Pick Up Events - October 26 (Whitby campus) & October 28 (Oshawa 
Campus) from 4:00 to 6:00 p.m. 

• Learn More Series: Results of the Diversity Self-Identification Survey & Update 
on the Black North Initiative - November 4, 2021, at 6:00 p.m. (virtual) 

10. MOVE TO IN-CAMERA SESSION 

Durham College By-law No. 1. provides for the Board of Governors to address in-
camera items that the Board deems to be confidential to the College. 

Moved By Governor Cowie 
Seconded By Governor Wilson 
“That the Board move in-camera after at 10-minute recess”.  CARRIED 

 The meeting recessed at 8:10 p.m. and reconvened in-camera at 8:22 p.m. 

During the in-camera session, the Board discussed recommendations from its Standing 
Committees, the Board’s goals for 2021-2022, and the new leadership agreement.  
Further, the Board reflected on recently held professional development sessions related 
to governance and risk. 

11. ADJOURNMENT 

 With no further business, the meeting adjourned at 8:56 p.m. 
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

To the Members of 
Durham College Students Inc. 

Opinion 

<t bakertilly 
Baker Tilly KDN LLP 
1748 Baseline Road West 
Suite 200 
Courtice, ON 
L 1 E 2T1 

D: 905.579.5659 
F: 905.579.8563 
durham@bakertilly.ca 
www.bakertilly.ca , 

We have audited the financial statements of Durham College Students Inc. (the "Organization"), which 
comprise the statement of financial position as at April 30, 2021, the statement of operations, statement 
of changes in fund balances and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial 
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of Organization as at April 30, 2021, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the 
year then ended in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations. 

Basis for Opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit 
of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Organization in accordance 
with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada, and we 
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that 
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Finanqia/ Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations, and for such internal 
control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Organization's ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Organization or to 
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Organization's financial reporting 
process. 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. As part of an audit in accordance 
with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

ASSURANCE• TAX• ADVISORY 

Baker Tilly KDN LLP is a member of Baker Tilly Canada Cooperative, which is a member of the global network of Baker Tilly International Limited. 
All members of Baker Tilly Canada Cooperative and Baker Tilly International Limited are separate and independent legal entities. 

Peterborough Courtlce Lindsay Cobourg 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT, continued 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as 
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Organization's internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and ,the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events 
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Organization's ability to continue as a going 
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our 
auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 
the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Organization to 
cease to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events 
in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit. 

Chartered Professional Accountants 
Licensed Public Accountants 

Courtice, Ontario 
November 30, 2021 

<t bakertilly 
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DURHAM COLLEGE STUDENTS INC. 
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
As at April 30, 2021 

ASSETS 

Current assets 
Cash 
Short term investments (Note 3) 
Government assistance receivable (Note 4) 
Prepaid expenses 
Due from Durham College (Note 5) 

Restricted cash - Student Building fund 
Tangible capital assets (Note 6) 

LIABILITIES 

Current liabilities 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
Government remittances payable 
Insurance contract liability (Note 7) 
Deferred revenue - Health & Dental (Note 8) 

NET ASSETS 

Unrestricted 
Investment in capital assets 
Health fund - Internally restricted 
Building fund - Internally restricted 

Approved on behalf of the board ~---________ Director ~ 'PUUA, 

The accompanying notes are an Integral part of these financial statements 

1 

April 30 
2021 

$ 

6,753,818 
551,898 
222,486 
207,942 
233,222 

7,969,366 
537,641 
280,604 

8,787,611 

242,799 
14,588 

143,623 
1,174,065 

1,575,075 

3,985,686 
280,604 

2,408,605 
537,641 

7,212,536 

8,787,611 

Director 

Aprll 30 
2020 

$ 

5,974,983 
551,156 

194,080 
178,565 

6,898,784 

66,774 

6,965,558 

331,999 
29,065 

133,397 
1,230,316 

1,724,777 

2,871,298 
66,774 

1,552,709 
750,000 

5,240,781 

6,965,558 

<I bakertilly 
AGENDA PAGE   16



DURHAM COLLEGE STUDENTS INC. 
STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS 
For the year ended April 30, 2021 

Membership and other revenue 
Health fees (Note 7) 
Student fees (Note 9) 
Other income 

Expenses 
Health expenses (Note 7) 
Wages and benefits (Note 10) 
Occupancy expenses 
Campus life - events and orientation 
Administrative 
Outreach and Wellness services 
Marketing and communication 
Professional fees 
Amortization 
Governance 
Riot Radio 
Clubs and Societies 

Excess of revenues over expenditures from operations 

Government assistance (Note 4) 

Excess of revenues over exeenditures for the lear 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements 

2 

2021 2020 
$ $ 

3,345,573 3,329,010 
2,103,878 1,983,186 

5,742 92 644 

5,455 193 5,404 840 

2,368,134 2,180,448 
918,614 946,190 
157,487 157,519 
126,992 198,207 
91,227 98,644 
71,382 94,766 
63,783 83,802 
35,770 42,375 
23,962 32,927 
21,079 30,881 

9,436 22,722 
5,374 11,812 

3 893 240 3 900 293 

1,561,953 1,504,547 

409,802 

1,971,755 115041547 
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DURHAM COLLEGE STUDENTS INC. 
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES 
For the year ended April 30, 2021 

Unrestricted fund 
Balance, beginning of year 
Excess of revenue over expenses 
Transfer to capital asset fund 
Transfer to health fund (Note 7) 
Transfer from health fund (Note 7) 
Transfer to building fund (Note 5) 
Transfer from building fund 
Balance, end of year 

Invested in Capital Assets 
Balance, beginning of year 
Purchase of capital assets 
Amortization for the year 
Transfer from building fund (Note 5) 
Balance, end of year 

Health fund 
Balance, beginning of year . 
Excess of revenue over expenses of the health fund (Note 7) 
Transfer to unrestricted fund (Note 7) 
Balance, end of year 

Building fund 
Balance, beginning of year 
Transfer to unrestricted fund 
Transfer from unrestricted fund (Note 5) 
Transfer to the Invested in Capital Assets Fund (Note 5) 
Balance, end of year 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements 

3 

2021 2020 
$ $ 

2,871,298 3,213,811 
1,971,755 1,504,547 

18,429 (39,655) 
(1,103,830) (1,057,405) 

247,934 
(20,000) (750,000) 

100 
3,985,686 2,871,298 

66,774 27,120 
5,533 72,581 

(23,962) (32,927) 
232,259 
280,604 66,774 

1,552,709 495,304 
1,103,830 1,057,405 
(247,934) 

2,408,605 1,552,709 

750,000 
(100) 

20,000 750,000 
(232,259) 
537,641 750,000 

<t bakertilly 
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DURHAM COLLEGE STUDENTS INC. 
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
For the year ended April 30, 2021 

2021 2020 
$ $ 

CASH PROVIDED FROM (USED FOR) 
Operating activities 

Net Income 1,971,755 1,504,547 
Adjustments for 

Amortization 23,962 32,927 
Re-invested interest income (742} (706} 

1 994,975 1 536 768 

Change in non-cash working capital items 
Accounts receivable 44,269 
Government assistance receivable (222,486) 
Prepaid expenses (13,862) (37,796) 
Due from Durham College (54,657) (147,871) 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (89,199) 130,521 
Government remittances payable (14,477) 29,065 
Insurance contract liability 10,226 15,347 
Deferred revenue - Health & Dental (56!251} 960,831 

(440,706} 994,366 

1 554 269 2,531,134 

Investing activities 
Purchase of tangible ca12ital assets (237,792} (72,581} 

(237,792} (72,581} 

Increase (decrease) in cash 1,316,477 2,458,553 

Cash 1 beginning of year 5!974!983 3,516,430 

Cash, end of year 7,291,459 5,974,983 

Cash consists of: 
Cash 6,753,818 5,974,983 
Restricted cash - Student Building Fund 537,641 

7,291,459 5,974,983 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements 

4 
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DURHAM COLLEGE STUDENTS INC. 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended April 30, 2021 

1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS 

Durham College Students Inc. (the "Organization") was incorporated on July 10, 2017 without 
share capital and operates as a not-for-profit organization that is tax exempt under the Income 
Tax Act. The Organization is a service-based association that puts Durham College students' 
needs at the forefront, and provides quality campus engagement for every full-time student. 

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

(a} Basis of presentation 

The financial statements were prepared in accordance with Canadian accounting standards 
for not-for-profit organizations (ASNFPO). 

(b} Financial instruments 

The Organization initially measures its financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value, 
except for certain non-arm's length transactions. The Organization subsequently measures 
all its financial assets and financial liabilities at amortized cost, except for investments that 
are quoted in an active market, which are measured at fair value. Changes in fair value are 
recognized in excess of revenue over expenditures. 

Financial assets measured at amortized cost include cash, short-term investments, 
restricted cash - Student Building fund, and amounts due from Durham College. 

Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost include accounts payable and accrued 
liabilities and insurance contract liability. 

Financial assets measured at cost are tested for impairment when there are indicators of 
impairment. The amount of the write-down is recognized in excess of revenue over 
expenditures. The previously recognized impairment loss may be reversed to the extent of 
the improvement, directly or by adjusting the allowance account, provided it is no greater 
than the amount that would have been reported at the date of the reversal had the 
impairment not been recognized previously. The amount of the reversal is recognized in 
excess of revenue over expenditures. 

The Organization recognizes its transaction costs in excess of revenue over expenditure in 
the period incurred. However, financial instruments that will not be subsequently measured 
at fair value are adjusted by the transaction costs that are directly attributable to their 
origination, issuance or assumption 

(c) Short-term investments 

Short-term investments purchased with maturity of three months or more, but less than a 
year are classified as short-term investments. 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements 

5 
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DURHAM COLLEGE STUDENTS INC. 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended April 30, 2021 

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, continued 

(d) Tangible capital assets 

Tangible capital assets are stated at cost or deemed cost less accumulated amortization 
and are amortized over their estimated useful lives at the following rates and methods: 

Equipment 
Computer equipment 
Furniture and fixtures 
Leasehold improvements 

Straight-line 
Straight-line 
Straight-line 

3 years 
3 years 
5 years 

Equipment refers to the capital equipment purchased to operate a Booster Juice business 
as outlined in the Operational Agreement (Note 5). The business is non-operational as at 
year end and therefore will not be subject to amortization until in use. 

Tangible capital assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or conditions indicate 
that the assets no longer contribute to the Organization's ability to provide services or that 
the service potential of the assets are less than their net carrying amount. When conditions 
indicate that a capital asset is impaired, the net carrying amount of the asset is written down 
to the asset's fair value or replacement cost. 

(e) Revenue recognition 

Durham College Students Inc. follows the deferral method of accounting for contributions. 

Student fees consist of Student Association Wellness and Student Life fees and Student 
Centre - Capital Investment fees and Riot Radio fees. Student Association Wellness and 
Student Life fees are used to fund health and counselling, campus safety and academic 
support, as well as student life programming including clubs, associations and 
organizations. Student Centre - Capital Investment fees are collected to fund the operations 
of the Student Centre, which includes; cleaning, operation and general repair, occupier's 
liability insurance and operational staff. Riot Radio fees fund production time at Riot Radio. 

Unrestricted contributions for student fees are recognized as revenue when received or 
receivable if the amount to be received can be reasonably estimated and collection is 
reasonably assured. 

Unrestricted contributions for health fees are recognized as revenue when received or 
receivable if the amount to be received can be reasonably estimated and collection is 
reasonably assured. Student health insurance premiums provide coverage for students on 
an annual basis ending August 31. Deferred revenue includes the portion of fall and winter 
student health fees revenue for the period of coverage May to August of the following year. 

All other revenue is recognized as revenue when received or receivable, if the amount can 
reasonably estimated and collection is reasonably assured. 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements 
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DURHAM COLLEGE STUDENTS INC. 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended April 30, 2021 

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, continued 

{f) Health fund 

The Health fund is funded by the excess of health fund revenues over expenditures from 
student health insurance plan and supports the Organization's initiatives that relate to the 
health and well-being of students. 

(g) Building fund 

The Building fund is an internally restricted board allocation of funds to be used towards the 
future purchase of space for the Organization. The funds have been set aside in a separate 
bank account for future capital spending. 

{h) Contributed services 

The operations of the Organization depend on both the contribution of time by volunteers 
and donated materials from various sources. The fair value of donated materials and 
services cannot be reasonably determined and are therefore not reflected in these financial 
statements. 

(i) Measurement uncertainty 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian accounting standards 
for not-for-profit organizations requires management to make estimates and assumptions 
that affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and 
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and 
expenses during the period. Estimates are used when accounting for items and matters 
such as allowance for uncollectible accounts receivable, amortization, asset valuations, 
deferred revenue and contingencies. Actual results could differ from these estimates. 

On March 11, 2020, the World Health Organization categorized COVID-19 as a pandemic. 
The potential economic effects within the Organization's environment and in the global 
markets, possible disruption in supply chains, and measures being introduced at various 
levels of government to curtail the spread of the virus (such as travel restrictions, closures 
of non-essential municipal and private operations, imposition of quarantines and social 
distancing) could have a material impact on the Organization's operations. The extent of the 
impact of this outbreak and related containment measures on the Organization's operations 
cannot be reliably estimated at this time. 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements 
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DURHAM COLLEGE STUDENTS INC. 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended April 30, 2021 

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, continued 

0) Measurement uncertainty, continued 

As an emerging risk, the duration and full financial effect of the COVID-19 pandemic is 
unknown at this time, as is the efficacy of the government and central bank interventions, 
and other mitigating measures. Any estimate of the length and severity of these 
developments is therefore subject to significant uncertainty, and accordingly estimates of 
the extent to which the COVID-19 pandemic may materially and adversely affect the 
Organization's operations, financial results and condition in future periods are also subject 
to significant uncertainty. Therefore, uncertainty about judgments, estimates, and 
assumptions made by management during the preparation of the Organization's financial 
statements related to potential impacts of the COVID-19 outbreak on revenue, expenses, 
assets, liabilities, and note disclosures could result in a material adjustment to the carrying 
value of the asset or liability affected. 

The Organization has taken the following actions in response to the pandemic: 

- Temporary work from home arrangements for employees; 

- Temporarily suspending all in-person events; and 

- Applying for all grants and subsidies the Organization is eligible for. 

3. SHORT-TERM INVESTMENTS 

Short-term investments consists of two non-redeemable guaranteed investment certificates 
("GIC") that have an annual interest rate of 0.15%. The GICs mature October 2021 and April 
2022, respectively. 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements 
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DURHAM COLLEGE STUDENTS INC. 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended April 30, 2021 

4. GOVERNMENT ASSISTANCE 

In fiscal 2021, the Organization determined that it was eligible for the Canada Emergency Wage 
Subsidy ("CEWS") and the Canada Emergency Rent Subsidy ("GERS"). 

CEWS is a wage subsidy for eligible employers whose business has been affected 
by COVID-19, and who have experienced a reduction in revenue during the pandemic. CEWS 
provides a subsidy of up to 75% of eligible remuneration, paid by an eligible entity to each 
eligible employee - up to a maximum of $847 per week. 

GERS is a rent subsidy for eligible employers whose business has been affected by 
COVID-19, and who have experienced a reduction in revenue during the pandemic. GERS 
provides a subsidy to qualifying property owners and tenants, to cover part of their property 
expenses, starting on September 27, 2020 until June 2021. 

As at April 30, 2021, $191,347 of CEWS and $31,139 of GERS is included in government 
assistance receivable balance. 

Total government assistance included in income for the year was: 

Government assistance - CEWS 
Government assistance - GERS 

5. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

2021 
$ 

378,663 
31 139 

409,802 

The Organization is governed by a board of directors consisting of student representatives from 
Durham College. 

In 2017, the Organization entered into an operational agreement with Durham College. Under 
this agreement, Durham College is responsible to collect certain ancillary fees from students, 
which include; a Student Association Wellness and Student Life fee comprising the membership 
fee collected from the Organization's members, the Student Centre - Capital Investment levy 
collected to support the day-to-day operations of the Organization, the Riot Radio fee, and 
student health and dental fees, which are then remitted to the Organization. No further ancillary 
student fees collected by Durham College are remitted to the Organization. A new one year 
agreement was signed March 1, 2021. 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements 
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DURHAM COLLEGE STUDENTS INC. 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended April 30, 2021 

5. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS, continued 

6. 

Under the operational agreement, the Organization has committed to assume the food 
operations at the Student Centre including a Booster Juice and a grill concept, effective on a 
date agreed upon by the parties and within 90 days of full opening of all campus food services as 
approved by Durham College Risk Management. As part of this commitment the Organization 
paid the college $232,259 (Note 6) from the building fund for the capital equipment located in the 
hospitality space in the Student Centre. The Organization has also committed $33,580 to 
upgrade the Student Centre seating area to better prepare for the physical distancing 
requirements as a result of COVID-19. The Organization has contributed a minimum of $20,000 
for the 2020-2021 academic year to the building fund, as outlined in the Operational Agreement. 

On March 1, 2021, the Organization entered into an rental agreement with Durham College for 
space in the Student Centre building. The Organization has agreed to pay annual rent, including 
HST, of $243,750 to Durham College in equal monthly instalments until March 31, 2022. This 
agreement has a one year renewal term at the end of the lease. The rent will increase $2,373 
monthly when the food operations are open in the Student Centre. 

The operations of the Organization depend on the contribution of services from Durham College. 
The fair value of the services cannot be reasonably determined and are therefore not reflected in 
these financial statements. 

These transactions are in the normal course of operations and are measured at the exchange 
amount, which is the amount of consideration established and agreed to by the related parties. 

The amount due from Durham College is non-interest bearing and has no specific terms of 
repayment. 

TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS 

2021 2020 
Accumulated Net Book Net Book 

Cost Amortization Value Value 
$ $ $ $ 

Computer equipment 17,728 11,403 6,325 4,325 
Furniture & fixtures 33,532 32,835 697 7,352 
Leasehold improvements 81,224 39,901 41,323 55,097 
Equipment (Note 5) 232,259 232,259 

364,743 84,139 280 604 66,774 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements 
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DURHAM COLLEGE STUDENTS INC. 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended April 30, 2021 

7. HEAL TH FUND AND RELATED DISBURSEMENTS 

All full-time Durham College students are required to pay for health and dental insurance as part 
of the base student fees. Students can opt-out of these plans if they have alternative coverage. 

On September 1, 2018, the Organization began to self-insure the health and dental plan. All 
annual surpluses are invested in the health fund reserve. The Organization is liable for health 
and dental claims made by students for the lesser of one year after the service date of the claim 
or 90 days after coverage terminates. A provision has been made in the amount of $143,623 for 
claims incurred to April 30, 2021 but not yet reported using applicable industry rates. 

In order to mitigate risk, the Organization pays an annual stop loss premium for the health plan 
based on projected future claims. The Organization is insured for claims that exceed 120% of 
the projected future claims. The Organization reviews the health fund reserve semi-annually to 
ensure a minimum reserve amount of 20% of projected claims not covered by the stop loss 
ihsurance. 

The Organization entered into an agreement with an insurance consulting company to provide 
program management services with respect to the student health and dental plan. If terminated 
without cause, the contract requires the Organization to pay a fee equivalent to program 
management fees for a full policy year based on the current years enrolment. The agreement is 
effective until August 31, 2021. 

The Organization agreed to contribute one-time "COVID-19 Emergency Funding" for students 
affected by the pandemic, administered by the Financial Aid Office of Durham College. The 
agreement stipulated the amount of $247,934 to be transferred from the health fund to pay for 
the support. 

Revenue 
Student health levy (net of opt-out) 

Expenses 
Claims 
Health plan premiums 
Program management fees 
COVID emergency funding support 

Health - wages, salaries and benefits (Note 1 O) 

Excess of revenue over expenses of the health fund 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements 
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2021 
$ 

3,345,573 

1,659,717 
277,482 
183,001 
247,934 

2,368,134 
121,543 

855,896. 

2020 
$ 

3,329,010 

1,704,262 
305,308 
170,878 

2,180,448 
91,157 

1,057,405 
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DURHAM COLLEGE STUDENTS INC. 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended April 30, 2021 

8. 

9. 

10. 

DEFERRED REVENUE 

Health insurance deferred revenue 
Opening balance 
Funds received, health (net of opt-out) 
Funds earned in the year 

Total health deferred revenue 

STUDENT FEES 

Wellness and Student Life 
Student Centre 
Riot Radio 

WAGES AND BENEFITS 

Outreach and Wellness services 
Clubs and Societies 
Riot Radio 
Health 
Management 
Executive 
Legal Aid 
Marketing 
Campus life - events and orientation 

2021 2020 
$ $ 

1,230,316 269,485 
3,289,322 4,289,841 

(3,345,573) (3,329,01 0) 

1,174,065 1 230 316 

2021 2020 
$ $ 

1,173,254 1,084,072 
771,642 768,291 
158,982 130,823 

2,103 878 1,983,186 

2021 2020 
$ $ 

373,143 362,518 
145,870 152,311 
127,293 123,713 
121,543 91,157 
75,825 60,206 
40,411 36,808 
21,523 21,675 

8,096 55,450 
4,910 42,352 

918,614 946,190 

Management and administrative compensation totaling 
allocated to various functions based on time spent. 

$315,543 (2020 - $320,000), was 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements · 
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DURHAM COLLEGE STUDENTS INC. 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended April 30, 2021 

11. COMMITMENTS 

The Organization has committed to a $1 million contribution in the form of a pledge to the 
Durham College Foundation, payable over 5 years according to the following schedule. The 
purpose of the commitment is to support the Building for Skills campaign for the Durham College 
Phase IV Whitby Campus Revitalization initiative, specifically the expansion of the Centre for 
Skilled Trades and Technology (CSTT). In return, the Organization will be permitted usage and 
occupancy of designated spaces in the Whitby Campus Main Building and Oshawa Campus 
Gordon Willey Building. 

September 2021 
September 2022 
September 2023 
September 2024 
September 2025 

12. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 

2021 
$ 

200,000 
200,000 
200,000 
200,000 
200,000 

1,000 000 

On October 28, 2018, a lawsuit was initiated against the Organization by former employees 
alleging wrongful dismissal. The claim is for $450,000 plus legal costs. The likelihood of the 
claim being successful is not known. The Organization has filed a statement of defence and it is 
the intention of the Organization to aggressively defend this lawsuit. 

13. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

Subsequent to the year end, the Organization intends to purchase two Guaranteed Investment 
Certificates (GIG). The Board has approved one GIG for $870,000 to be purchased using the 
Health fund and the second GIG for $900,000 will be purchased using the unrestricted fund. 

14. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

The Organization is exposed to various risks through its financial instruments and has a 
comprehensive risk management framework to monitor, evaluate and manage these risks. The 
following analysis provides information about Organization's risk exposure and concentration as 
of April 30, 2021. 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements 
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DURHAM COLLEGE STUDENTS INC. 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended April 30, 2021 

14. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, continued 

{a) Credit risk 

Credit risk arises from the potential that a counter party will fail to perform its obligations. As 
the cash balance and short-term investments are held with a major Canadian financial 
institution there is a concentration of credit risk with one bank in Canada. The risk is 
managed by using a major bank that is a high credit quality financial institution as 
determined by rating agencies. The carrying amount of cash and short-term investments 
included on the statement of financial position represent the maximum credit exposure. The 
Organization is not exposed to significant credit risk related to accounts receivable as these 
are primarily due from Durham College and expect to be collected in full. 

{b) Interest rate risk 

The guaranteed investment certificates included in short-term investments bear interest at a 
fixed rate of interest and as such are subject to interest rate price risk resulting from 
changes in fair value from market fluctuations in interest rates. The Organization manages 
this risk through investing in fixed-rate securities of short to medium term maturity and plans 
to hold the securities to maturity. The exposure to this risk increased primarily due to 
interest rate volatility caused by the COVID-19 pandemic. 

Unless otherwise noted, it is management's opinion that the Organization is not exposed to 
significant other price risks arising from these financial instruments. These risks have been 
updated for the impact of COVID-19. Managemellt continues its assessment given the fluidity of 
COVID-19's global impact. 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements 
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        Public Report 

Board of Governors - 1 - December 8, 2021 

 
Report Number: BOG-2021-74 
 
To: Board of Governors 
 
From: Don Lovisa, President 
 
Date of Report: November 25, 2021 
 
Date of Meeting: December 8, 2021 
 
Subject: President’s Report – October to November 2021  
 

Purpose 
 
The purpose of this report is to provide an update on the President’s activities and 
significant college initiatives from October to November 2021.  
 

1. Our Students 

        Durham College students recognized in Oshawa’s Culture Days 

Artwork created by Durham College students was recently featured by the City of 
Oshawa during its Culture Days, which took place virtually and in recreation centers 
across the city.  
 

Held annually each September, Culture Days 
is a national celebration of arts and culture, 
promoting and fostering meaningful 
connections between creators and the public, 
while highlighting the importance of artistic 
and cultural practices.  
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Board of Governors - 2 - December 8, 2021 

DC and OPG work together to support Indigenous students in 
Millwright program  

Durham College’s Academic Upgrading department is delighted to announce the 
successful completion of the Introduction to Millwright project at the OPG Darlington 
Energy Complex. The 6-week training program was delivered to a cohort of 8 individuals 
from various Indigenous communities in the area. These individuals made significant life 
changes required to commit to the program with the goal of being successfully indentured 
into the Millwright Regional Council of Ontario as first year apprentices.  

 
The program consisted of two weeks of 
in class academic upgrading to prepare 
students for the communications, math, 
and spatial reasoning segments of the 
Millwright aptitude test, as well as a 
four-week Introduction to Millwrighting 
course delivered by qualified MRCO 
Sister Training Instructors with weekly 
support from the Academic Upgrading 
team.  The successful partnership 
between the college, industry, union, 
and community-based organizations is a testimony of what can be accomplished when 
there is a demonstrated commitment to improving opportunities for Indigenous 
candidates into the trades. 

 
The following organizations were involved in the creation, funding and delivery of the ITM 
program. 

• Millwright Regional Council of Ontario 
• Millwright Local 2309 
• Ontario Power Generation 
• OCNI (Organization of Canadian Nuclear Industries) 
• ION (Indigenous Opportunities Network) 
• AABO (Aboriginal Apprenticeship Board of Ontario) 
• Kigita Mikam 
• First Nations Power Authority 
• Durham College, Academic Upgrading program 
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2. Our People  

DC faculty Brian Legree wins Exemplary Leadership Award for 
innovation in journalism studies 

Durham College would like to 
congratulate Brian Legree, 
professor, School of Media, Art & 
Design, and award recipient of the Chair 
Academy’s 2021 Exemplary Leadership 
Award. 

The award recognizes achievements 
that advance academic and administrative leadership in higher education 
organizations. For 30 years, the Chair Academy has hosted the International 
Leadership Conference as an opportunity for leaders from all levels to share ideas, 
issues and challenges faced in the higher education sector. 

 
3. Our Work 

OPG renews support for Durham College, Ontario Tech with $5-million         
investment 

Ontario Power Generation will 
continue its decade-long 
collaboration with Durham 
College and Ontario Tech 
University through a new $5-
million investment. The funding 
will assist in recruiting and 
retaining students—including 
those currently under-
represented in the industry, such 
as women and Indigenous people—to build a diverse population of potential 
employees for the energy sector in skilled trades, science, engineering and 
technology. Much of this will focus on technology development in the energy sector 
for climate change initiatives 

 

 
 
 
 

AGENDA PAGE   33

https://durhamcollege.ca/academic-schools/school-of-media-art-design
https://durhamcollege.ca/academic-schools/school-of-media-art-design
https://www.chairacademy.com/index_conf.html
https://www.chairacademy.com/index_conf.html


        Public Report 

Board of Governors - 4 - December 8, 2021 

 
Durham College continues to recognize the class of 2021 
DC continued to celebrate the achievements of the class of 2021 with a virtual 
celebration and lawn sign pick-up event for all fall graduates. While a physical 
convocation ceremony wasn’t possible this year, festivities were once again in full 
swing as friends, family and the entire college community come together 
to celebrate the hard work of its more than 1,300 graduates. 

Filled with elements typically seen at 
convocation, like messages of 
congratulations from our leadership 
team and Board of Governors, as 
well as important information about 
alumni perks and benefits, the 
college’s Convocation Recognition 
Website officially launched on 
October 28 as a celebratory send-off 
for students who have achieved their 
credential.  

 

DC receives more than $472,000 from Global Skills Opportunity to 
support faculty-led learning abroad for students 

In the current Canadian context of 
urgently needed Reconciliation, 
Durham College has been awarded 
more than $472,000 in funding from 
Global Skills Opportunity, the 
Government of Canada’s Outbound 
Student Mobility Pilot Program, for an 
innovative international learning 
opportunity designed to engage with 
Indigenous and traditional 
communities around the world. 

Offered through DC’s Faculty-Led Classroom Abroad (FLCA) program, 
FLCA@Home and Away will begin with virtual activities, followed by future global 
travel opportunities to participating countries. 

By taking part in the FLCA@Home and Away initiative, students will increase their 
knowledge of intercultural competencies and hone their professional networking 
skills while demonstrating cultural awareness, adaptability, resilience, creativity, 
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and self-awareness, particularly in understanding the unique perspectives and 
contributions of Indigenous peoples. They also will learn to respond positively to 
written, spoken, or visual messages in a manner that ensures respect of cultural 
differences, while developing the ability to recognize and interpret cultural 
perspectives without bias. In addition, demonstrating respect for the diverse 
opinions, values, belief systems, and contributions of others will be emphasized as 
they cultivate transferable skills for their personal and professional development. 

 

First People’s Indigenous Centre Celebrates 10th anniversary  

Tuesday, November 30 
marked the 10th Anniversary 
of the First Peoples 
Indigenous Centre (FPIC), 
formerly the Aboriginal 
Student Centre. In October 
of 2011, the Aboriginal 
Student Centre opened its 
doors in the Simcoe building 
and was gifted with the 
Anishinaabemowin name 
Suswaaning Endaajig “A 
Nest Away from Home” by 
Elder and Traditional 
Knowledge Keeper, Gerard Sagassige. This space was created as a place for 
Indigenous students to feel at home and supported by community. On October 2, 
2018, the Aboriginal Student Centre moved into its new home the First Peoples 
Indigenous Centre (FPIC) in the Centre for Collaborative Education (CFCE). 

Over the past decade, Durham College has taken significant steps to create an 
inclusive environment for Indigenous students and community members, as well as 
a place for other members of the DC community to learn more about the 
Indigenous way of knowing. FPIC provides students with access to Elders and 
Traditional Knowledge Keepers, sacred medicines, culturally specific programming 
and support, and is home to many Indigenous events including a language 
revitalization program, Full Moon ceremonies, Powwows, and more. 

To mark this momentous occasion, students, employees and community members 
were invited to drop by the FPIC 10th Anniversary Open House for the opportunity 
to celebrate the Indigenization efforts we have achieved over the past 10 years. 
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DC Leadership Team and Black Student Support Network Meet 

In November, the Durham College Leadership team met virtually with the Black 
Student Support Network (BSSN) to better understand their work and priorities. 

DCLT gained a deeper understanding of how 
we can better support the BSSN, including 
providing employees with ongoing anti-Black 
racism training. The two groups will meet again 
in the new year to further discuss opportunities 
and next steps.   

 
This meeting and the initiatives of the BSSN align with DC’s commitment to the 
Black North Initiative as well as our values of respect, diversity and inclusion.  

 
4. Our Community 

DC virtually hosts girls in grades 7 and 8 for the Young Women in 
Science, Technology and Trades Conference 2021 

Durham College once again hosted 
the Expand The Possibilities: Young 
Women in Science, Technology and 
Trades conference, which saw more 
than 1,000 girls in Grades 7 and 8, 
from five school board across 
Ontario, virtually come together for a 
morning of exploration designed to 
connect them with careers in science, technology and skilled trades.  

This is the third time DC has hosted the conference, which was the largest to-date, 
and it couldn’t have been done without the generosity and support of community 
sponsors General Motors of Canada, Gerdau, Ontario Power Generation, 
RESCON and Black & McDonald. 
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DC part of the EaRTH District, a new green technology hub 

As the global climate crisis accelerates, Durham College, Centennial College, the 
University of Toronto Scarborough, Ontario Tech University and Trent University, 
have joined together to advance clean, green, sustainable solutions with the 
launch of the Environmental and Related Technologies (EaRTH) Hub in the 
eastern Greater Toronto Area. 

Dedicated to fueling sustainable, 
resilient communities locally and 
around the world, the EaRTH District 
will develop the region’s sustainable 
technology sector through research, 
academic programming and 
commercialization of advanced 
technology.  

 

Durham College teams up to protect bees 

Named a BeeCity for a third consecutive 
year, the City of Oshawa and its branch of 
education and research 
partners, TeachingCity, worked with 
Durham College to raise awareness and 
empower social action to support and 
protect pollinators. 

TeachingCity collaborates in applied 
research and experiential learning to tackle 

urban issues affecting the City of Oshawa. As an education partner of 
TeachingCity, DC rallied its interdisciplinary team of faculty members from 
the School of Science & Engineering Technology, students from the Architectural 
Technology and Environmental Technology programs and the college’s 
entrepreneurship centre, FastStartDC, to investigate the impacts of introducing an 
urban beekeeping program in Oshawa and deliver an awareness campaign on the 
importance of pollinators. 
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More than 1,500 visitors explored DC digitally at Fall Virtual Open 
House 

November 13 marked Durham College’s fourth 
Virtual Open House event in two years, as DC’s 
dedicated employees, faculty and students logged 
on to welcome more than 1,500 prospective 
students and their families as they explored DC 
online. Checking in from across the globe, visitors 
from 50 countries benefited from the immersive, 
virtual format as they got an inside look at DC and 
gained access to important information that will 
help them prepare for their college experience. 

 
 
 

Key Meetings Involving the President’s Office (October 12 to December 8) 

• Durham Region Economic Development Steering Committee Meeting, 
October 14  

• Presentation to the Rotary Club of Oshawa, October 18 
• Colleges Ontario and PEQAB Working Group Meeting, October 20  
• Colleges Ontario Committee of President’s meeting, October 21  
• OPG and X-Lab Tour and Meeting, October 21 
• Colleges Ontario and Ontario College of Teachers Meeting, October 22 
• CiCan High Performing Board Committee Meeting, October 22 
• Meeting with MP Turnbull, October 29  
• Meeting and Tour with Minister of Agricultural, Food and Rural Affairs, 

October 29  
• Grad Sign Pick up Events, October 26 and 28  
• CiCan Executive Committee Meeting, November 4 
• Meeting and Tour with MP O’Toole, November 10  
• CiCan Board Meeting, November 16 and 17  
• Meeting with Town of Uxbridge and Lafarge, November 22  
• PEQAB Virtual Site Visit, November 25 
• Presentation to Rotary Club of Ajax, November 25 
• Meeting and Tour with Region of Durham, December 3 
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Report Number: BOG-2021-70 

To: Board of Governors 

From: Dr. Elaine Popp, Executive Vice President, Academic 

Date of Report: December 1, 2021 

Date of Meeting: December 8, 2021 

Subject: Approval to Formalize Programs of Instruction: Ontario College 
Certificates - Apprenticeships 
 

1. Purpose 

To obtain approval from the Board of Governors to formalize Apprenticeship 
programs under the credential: Ontario College Certificate, effective September 
2022.  

2. Recommendation 

It is recommended to the Durham Board of Governors: 

That in accordance with Report BOG-2021-70, the following programs be 
formally recognized as Ontario College Certificates, effective Fall 2022:  

School of Hospitality and Horticultural Sciences (HHS) 
• Culinary Skills – Cook II Apprenticeship, Ontario College Certificate, MTCU 

Code 43107, Trade# 415A 

School of Health and Community Services (HCS) 
• Early Childhood Assistant - Apprenticeship, Ontario College Certificate, 

MTCU Code 41211, Trade# 620C 

School of Skilled Trades, Apprenticeship and Renewable Technology 
(START) 
• Electrical Techniques – Construction and Maintenance Apprenticeship, 

Ontario College Certificate, MTCU Code 45613, Trade# 309A 

• Electrical Techniques – Industrial Electrician Apprenticeship, Ontario College 
Certificate, MTCU Code 45613, Trade# 442A 

• Manufacturing Techniques – Millwright Apprenticeship, Ontario College 
Certificate, MTCU Code 47000, Trade# 433A 
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• Mechanical Techniques – Elevating Devices Mechanic Apprenticeship, 
Ontario College Certificate, MTCU Code 41007, Trade# 636E 

• Mechanical Techniques – Steamfitting Apprenticeship, Ontario College 
Certificate, MTCU Code 41007, Trade# 307A 

• Motive Power Fundamentals – Automotive Service Apprenticeship, Ontario 
College Certificate, MTCU Code 46405, Trade# 310S 

• Plumbing Techniques - Apprenticeship, Ontario College Certificate, MTCU 
Code 41010, Trade# 306A 

• Welding Techniques Apprenticeship, Ontario College Certificate, MTCU 
Code 44900, Trade# 456A 

3. Background 

The initiative to formalize the apprenticeship programs as Ontario College 
Certificates modernizes the skilled trades and apprenticeship system and 
enables the province’s economic recovery by supporting awareness of the skilled 
trades and contributing to the college approach to modernize and branding 
apprenticeship as the third pillar of post-secondary education. 

The Building Opportunities in the Skilled Trades Act, 2021 received Royal Assent 
on June 3, 2021. This legislation will transform the system and make it more 
efficient and easier to navigate. This legislation will: 

• establish a new Crown agency called Skilled Trades Ontario that would 
enable tradespeople to get certification in one place, with enhanced digital 
services; 

• assign the Minister of Labour, Training and Skills Development 
responsibility for regulatory decisions for the skilled trades and the Ministry 
responsibility for inspections; and 

• enhance the services provided to apprentices, skilled trades workers and 
their employers. 

Until the new agency (Skilled Trades Ontario) is in place (anticipated in January 
2022), the Ontario College of Trades will continue to provide services as required 
under the Ontario College of Trades and Apprenticeship Act, 2009, including: 

• issuing certificates, 
• certification renewals for compulsory trades, and 
• trade equivalency assessments for out of province trades looking to work 

in Ontario1. 

                                            
1 Skilled trades and apprenticeship system changes | ontario.ca Skilled trades and apprenticeship system 
changes | ontario.ca 
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4. Discussion 

4.1 Culinary Skills – Cook II Apprenticeship, Ontario College Certificate 
MTCU Code: 43107, Trade# 415 
Program Hours: 720 
NOC Code: 6322 Cooks 
CVS Validation: October 13, 2021 

4.2 Early Childhood Assistant – Apprenticeship, Ontario College 
Certificate 
MTCU Code: 41211, Trade# 620C 
Program Hours: 750 
NOC Code: 4214 Early Childhood Educators and Assistants 

  CVS Validation: November 2, 2021 

4.3 Electrical Techniques – Construction and Maintenance 
Apprenticeship, Ontario College Certificate 
MTCU Code: 45613, Trade# 309A  
Program Hours: 842 
NOC Code: 7241 Electricians 
CVS Validation: October 12, 2021 

4.4 Electrical Techniques – Industrial Electrician Apprenticeship, Ontario 
College Certificate 
MTCU Code: 45613, Trade# 442A 
Program Hours: 842 
NOC Code: 7242 Industrial Electricians 
CVS Validation: October 12, 2021   

4.5 Manufacturing Techniques – Millwright Apprenticeship, Ontario 
College Certificate 
MTCU Code: 47000, Trade# 433A 
Program Hours: 720 
NOC Code: 7311 Construction millwrights and industrial mechanics 
CVS Validation: October 4, 2021 

4.6 Mechanical Techniques – Elevating Devices Apprenticeship, Ontario 
College Certificate 
MTCU Code: 41007, Trade# 636E 
Program Hours: 720 
NOC Code: 7318 Elevator constructors and mechanics 
CVS Validation: November 1, 2021 

4.7 Mechanical Techniques – Steamfitting Apprenticeship, Ontario 
College Certificate 
MTCU Code: 41007, Trade# 307A 
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Program Hours: 720 
NOC Code: 7252 Steamfitters, pipefitters and sprinkler system installers 
CVS Validation: October 12, 2021 

4.8 Motive Power Fundamentals – Automotive Service Apprenticeship, 
Ontario College Certificate 
MTCU Code: 46405, Trade# 310S 
Program Hours: 720 
NOC Code: 7321 Automotive service technicians, truck and bus 
mechanics and mechanical repairers 
CVS Validation: November 11, 2021 

4.9 Plumbing Techniques Apprenticeship, Ontario College Certificate 
MTCU Code 41010: Trade# 306A 
Program Hours: 720 
NOC Code: 7251 Plumbers 
CVS Validation: September 29, 2021 

4.10 Welding Techniques Apprenticeship, Ontario College Certificate 
MTCU Code 44900: Trade# 456A 
Program Hours: 772 
NOC Code: 7237 Welders and related machine operators 
CVS Validation: September 29, 2021 

5. Financial/Human Resource Implications 

There are no human resources implications with the decision to formalize the 
programs noted above as the faculty complement teaching in the programs has 
been established. 

6. Implications for the Joint Campus Master Plan 

There are no implications for the joint campus master plan. 

7. Implications for Ontario Tech University. 

There are no implications for Ontario Tech University. 

8. Relationship to the Strategic Plan/Business Plan 

The proposal to formalize the programs noted above supports the college’s vision 
and plans to deliver high-quality programs that reflect labour markets, are 
responsive to emerging economies and provide mobility for graduates to continue 
with their education. 

AGENDA PAGE   42



 
  Public Report 

  

Board of Governors - 1 - December 8, 2021 

Report Number: BOG-2021-71 

To: Board of Governors 

From: Dr. Elaine Popp, Executive Vice-President, Academic 

Date of Report: December 1, 2021 

Date of Meeting: December 8, 2021 

Subject: New Program of Instruction: Fire Prevention Technology 

1. Purpose 

To seek approval from the Board of Governors for the following post-secondary 
program of instruction for September 2023 intake: 

Fire Prevention Technology 

• Credential: Ontario College Advanced Diploma 
• Duration: Six semesters 
• School: Justice & Emergency Services 

2. Recommendation 

It is recommended to the Durham College Board of Governors: 

That in accordance with Report BOG-2021-71, the proposed Ontario College 
Advanced Diploma program of instruction listed below be approved. 

• Fire Prevention Technology 

3. Background 

Durham College is proposing the option to offer Fire Prevention Technology 
Ontario College Advanced Diploma within the School of Justice and Emergency 
Services. The School of Justice and Emergency Services offers a portfolio of 
diverse programs, at the certificate, diploma, advanced diploma and graduate 
certificate levels. This proposed program complements and extends our current 
offerings. 

The Fire Prevention Technology Ontario College Advanced Diploma program 
offers students an opportunity to explore the practical, theoretical, and provincial 
and national legislative aspects of the science and art of fire protection and 
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prevention. The program will utilize state-of-the-art laboratory facilities and 
current industry software to prepare students for a career in this rapidly growing 
and developing field. Students will work with experts in all areas of the fire and 
life safety industry from detection and suppression to prevention and gain the 
skills to plan, design, install and maintain current and cutting-edge fire protection 
equipment.  

The graduates of the program will be prepared to perform a variety of technical 
functions using complex engineering applications and apply practical knowledge 
in the enforcement and legislation of provincial and federal life safety codes. In 
addition to the training in the design, installation and maintenance of fire 
protection systems, graduates will have the opportunity to acquire a variety of 
National Fire Protection Association (NFPA) certifications in fire prevention and 
education, recognized in North America and approved by the Office of the 
Ontario Fire Marshall. 

A Fire Protection Technology advanced diploma is currently offered at two CAAT 
colleges under the MTCU code 63003. Graduates of these programs are 
prepared for careers in sprinkler design, insurance, fire alarms, code–consulting, 
inspection and firefighting. 

As per the Ministry of Training, Colleges and Universities’ Minister’s Binding 
Policy Directive 3.0, Programs, Framework for Programs of Instruction, the Board 
of Governors is responsible for approving programs of instruction the college will 
offer. 

It is the role of the Durham College Board of Governors to ensure that programs 
of instruction are developed and implemented in conformity with the Credentials 
Framework, and are consistent with provincial program standards where they 
exist. It is also the responsibility of the Board to ensure that all new and modified 
post-secondary programs of instruction lead to one of the following credentials:  
Durham College Certificate, Ontario College Certificate, Ontario College 
Diploma, Ontario College Advanced Diploma, Ontario College Graduate 
Certificate or Bachelor Degree. 

We confirm that Durham College is in compliance with all Minister’s Binding 
Policy Directives as noted above, for this new program of instruction. 

4. Discussion 

The environmental scan prepared by the Institutional Research and Planning 
team in the Office of Research Services, Innovation and Entrepreneurship, 
indicates the proposed Fire Prevention Technology program would be a strong 
addition to the College’s program offerings for the following reasons: 

• Strong fall enrolment with some international interest. 
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• Catchment loss of approximately 10 students each year. 
• High employment and related employment rates for graduates.  
• Graduates earn higher wages than the average for college graduates. 
 

5. Financial/Human Resource Implications 

The Program Summary attached provides a projected five-year budget with 
account of all capital and human resource requirements.  

The proposed program, Fire Prevention Technology, will be submitted in the 
Request for Approval for Funding Form to the Ministry of Colleges and 
Universities (MCU). Tuition is set for $3,183.00 and has been restricted until 
there is direction from MCU. 

The target for new contribution breaks even in Year 1. 

6. Implications for the Joint Campus Master Plan 

There are no implications for the joint campus master plan. 

7. Implications for Ontario Tech University 

There are no anticipated implications for Ontario Tech University resulting from 
the implementation of this new program recommendation. 

8. Relationship to the Strategic Plan/Business Plan 

8.1 Strategic Fit 

The proposed program aligns with the following objectives/goals of the 
Academic, Strategic, and Business plans. 
 

Academic Plan 
Goal 1: Ensure Exceptional Quality in our Academic Programs 
Goal 2: Enhance Exemplary Teaching and Learning Practices 
 
Strategic Plan and Business Plan 
Pillar: Our Students  
Goal: To educate and inspire students to realize success in their careers 
and communities 

This proposal arises from the Comprehensive Review Process (CPR) and has 
been reflected in the Annual Program Review (APR) and Program Advisory 
Committee (PAC) discussions. Graduates of the proposed program will obtain 
Fire Prevention Office and Fire Safety Educator credentials, providing access to 
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a wider variety of career options within the fire industry. To align with industry 
expectations, the lab environments have undergone significant upgrade, in 
addition to modification, to support the faculty’s enhancement of the teaching 
and learning for the students to meet the curriculum in the proposed program. 
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General Program Information 

Proposed Program Title: Fire Prevention Technology 

Proposed Credential: Ontario College Advanced Diploma 

Academic Dean(s): Stephanie Ball 

School(s): Justice and Emergency Services (JES) 

Date of Review by PPRC: November 10, 2021 

MTCU Code: 63003 

Weight and Funding Unit (as per APS table): Weight = 1.2, Funding = 3.5 

Proposed Tuition: Year 1: $3,183 

Proposed Implementation: September 2023 

Year 1 Enrolment: 40 + 5 (transfer) 

Number of Sections, Y1: 1 

International Students Seat Allocation: 0 (The target market for this proposed 
program is primarily domestic students due to the heavy emphasis on provincial 
and federal legislation). 

Number of Semesters: 6 (6 + 1 semester for optional co-op) 

Total Hours:  1764 instructional hours + 530 optional co-op = 2294 total hours 

New or Replacement Program: Replacement 

Number of New FT Faculty: 1 FT (3rd year) 

Program Delivery Methods: Classroom, lab, online, optional 530-hour co-op 

Laptop Requirement: No 

New or Renovated Space Requirements: No, upgrades were made in 2020 

Total Capital Costs:  Year 1: $271,000 (software, licencing and computer 
upgrade). Year 5: $271,000 (estimated costs for upgrade to computers in the lab 
to support the processing requirements) 
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Additional software costs (for college or for student): Year 1: $13,806; 
increasing by an additional 2% each subsequent year. Year 4: software may 
require refresh 

1. Approval Stages 
The following approval stages have been assessed for this program: 
☒ Labour Market 
☒ Student Demand 
☒ Budget reviewed and approved by the Chief Financial Officer and the Vice 

President, Academic 
☒ Presented to the Program Proposal Review Committee  
☒ New Program Proposal Summary reviewed by the Associate Dean, Centre for 

Academic and Faculty Enrichment 
☒ New Program Proposal Summary reviewed by the Dean, Centre for Academic and 

Faculty Enrichment 
☒ Approved by Executive Vice-President, Academic (DATE:  November 30, 2021) 
☐ Reviewed and approved by President (DATE:   ) 

2. Program Overview 

 Program Description 

The Fire Prevention Technology Ontario College Advanced Diploma program offers 
students the opportunity to explore the practical, theoretical, and provincial and national 
legislative aspects of the science and art of fire protection and prevention. The program 
will utilize state-of-the-art laboratory facilities and current industry software to prepare 
students for a career in this rapidly growing and developing field. Students will work with 
experts in all areas of the fire and life safety industry from detection and suppression to 
prevention and gain the skills to plan, design, install and maintain current and cutting-
edge fire protection equipment.  

The graduates of the program will be prepared to perform a variety of technical 
functions, complex engineering applications and apply practical knowledge in the 
enforcement and legislation of provincial and federal life safety codes. In addition to 
training in the design, installation and maintenance of fire protection systems, graduates 
will have the opportunity to acquire a variety of National Fire Protection Association 
(NFPA) certifications in fire prevention and education, recognized in North America and 
approved by the Office of the Ontario Fire Marshall. 

 

 Career Outcomes 

Job Titles Where Graduates Might Work 

• Alarm system technician • Alarm system sales and marketing 
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Job Titles Where Graduates Might Work 

• Fire alarm designer 
• Fire inspector 
• Fire prevention officer 
• Fire protection systems consultant 
• Fire protection technician 
• Preventative maintenance technician 
• Sprinkler design 
• Project management 
• Sales 
• Fire consultant 
• Sprinkler installer 
• Plans Examiner 
• Engineering technician 
• Fire protection technologist  
• Building inspector for fire safety 
• Fire & Explosion Investigator  
• Public Information Officer  
• Fire Safety Educator  
• Insurance Inspector 

• Code consulting companies 
• Insurance companies 
• Engineering firms 
• Fire departments 
• Fire prevention services 
• Fire protection companies  
• Provincial or municipal governments 
• Military 
• Private firms 
• Hospitals 
• Federal Government 
• Private Sector  
• Asset Management 
• Property Management 

 Vocational Program Learning Outcomes 

Vocational program learning outcomes must be consistent with the requirements of the 
Credentials Framework for the proposed credential. The graduate of the program has 
reliably demonstrated the ability to: 

1. Produce engineered drawings of fire detection systems, water-based sprinkler 
systems and special hazard systems in accordance to applicable building and fire 
codes suitable for all major building occupancies and hazard types. 

2. Interpret the National and Provincial building codes, fire codes and relevant 
standards to apply in the design, implementation, maintenance, inspection of fire 
detection and fire suppression systems. 

3. Analyze, troubleshoot and resolve fire and life safety protection systems utilizing 
proven methodologies and applicable tools. 

4. Review plans for all building classifications and types before, during and after 
construction to determine fire code compliance. 

5. Prepare an inspection report noting deficiencies, violations and recommendations 
for fire protection systems according to codes, policies and procedures of the 
jurisdiction. 

6. Prepare comprehensive fire and life safety plans and hazard surveys in 
accordance with applicable building codes, occupancy and hazard type. 

AGENDA PAGE   49



 
                        New Program Summary  

4 

7. Work professionally, safely, and cooperatively in multidisciplinary teams to meet 
objectives for completing fire prevention and protection projects. 

8. Apply project management tools and techniques to oversee the execution for fire 
and life safety projects. 

9. Prepare and present the results of inspection reports to support legal proceedings 
and prosecution. 

10. Coordinate, design and implement fire and life safety educational activities by 
establishing priorities with community stakeholders. 

 Admission Requirements 
• Ontario Secondary School Diploma (OSSD), Mature student or equivalent  
• Grade 12 English (C or U)  
• Grade 12 mathematics (C, M or U) 

Recommended: 
• Grade 12 chemistry (C or U) 
• Grade 12 physics (C or U) 
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3. Program of Study 

Semester 1 Semester 2 Semester 3 Semester 4 Spring/ 
Summer Semester 5 Semester 6 

Principles of Fire 
Prevention 

(3hrs) 

Sprinkler Design 1 
(4hrs) 

Sprinkler Design 2 
(4hrs) 

Sprinkler Design 3 
(4hrs) 

Co-op 
(optional) 

Fire Inspector 1 
(3hrs) 

Fire Inspector 2 
(3hrs) 

Fire Dynamics 
(3hrs) 

Building Construction 
for Fire 
(3hrs) 

Special Extinguishing 
Systems 

(3hrs) 

Fire Alarm Design 2 
(3hrs) 

Legislation 
(3hrs) 

Plans Examination 
(3hrs) 

AutoCAD 1 
(3hrs) 

AutoCAD 2 
(3hrs) 

Fire Alarm Design 1 
(3hrs) 

Building Code 1 
(3hrs) 

Ontario Fire Code 2 
(4hrs) 

Ontario Fire Code 3 
(4hrs) 

Electricity and 
Electronics for Fire 

Detection 
(4hrs) 

Fire Detection and 
Alarm 
(3hrs) 

Ontario Fire Code 1 
(4hrs) 

Project Management 
for Fire and Life 

Safety 
(3hrs) 

Hazardous 
Materials 

(3hrs) 

Building Code 2 
(3hrs) 

Math for Fire and Life 
Safety 1 
(3hrs) 

Math for Fire and Life 
Safety 2 
(3hrs) 

Fire Safety Systems 
Lab 2 
(4hrs) 

Technical Report 
Writing 
(3hrs) 

Courtroom 
Procedures 

(3hrs) 

Fire and Explosion 
Investigation 

(3hrs) 
COMM 1100: 

Communication 
Foundations  

(3hrs) 

Fire Safety Systems 
Lab 1 
(4hrs) 

COOP 1000 
(3hrs) 

GNED 
(3hrs) 

Fire and Life Safety 
Educator 1 

(3hrs) 

Fire and Life Safety 
Educator 2 

(3hrs) 

  GNED 
(3hrs) 

GNED 
(3hrs) 

Fire Safety Systems 
Lab 3 (3hrs)  

19 hours/wk 
266 hours/semester 

20 hrs/wk 
280 hours/semester 

24 hrs/wk 
336 hours/semester 

22 hrs/wk 
308 hours/semester 530 Hours 22 hrs/wk 

308 hours 
19 hrs/wk 
266 hours 
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Calculation of Work Integrated Learning (Co-op) Hours 

Program 
Name 

Number of 
Academic 
Semesters 

Number 
of Work 
Terms 

Total 
Number of 

Work 
Terms and 
Academic 
Semesters 

Academic 
Hours 

Work 
Term 
Hours 

Total 
Number 

of 
Program 
Hours* 

Percentage 
of Work 
Based on 

Hours 

Example: 
Mechanical 
Eng. Tech. 

6 2 8 1708 840 2548 49% 

Fire 
Prevention 6 1 7 1764 530 2294 30% 

Total time spent in the work component must be at least 30% and not more than 75% 
of the time spent in required academic study to be considered Co-op by Ministry of 
Colleges and Universities (MCU) and Ministry of Finance for the employer’s Co-
operative Education Tax Credit (CETC). 
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Semester 1 
Course Title: Principles of Fire Prevention 
Course description: Students are introduced to fire and life safety and focus on the 
factors, events, governing bodies, stakeholders and legalities that shape the fire 
prevention industry. Students explore fire prevention principles, lines of defense and 
codes essential to fire and life safety and the operational principles of fire detection and 
water-based sprinkler systems. 
Instructional Setting: Classroom/Online 
Total Hours (Semester): 42 

Course Title: AutoCAD 1 
Course description: Students are introduced to the design of fire protection systems. 
Students navigate and utilize the software to design architectural floor plans and 
contribute to basic fire protection design methodologies. 
Instructional Setting: Lab 
Total Hours (Semester): 42 

Course Title: Electricity and Electronics for Fire Detection 
Course description: Students explore the fundamental principles of electricity and 
electronics for fire detection systems. They develop, analyze and configure electrical 
circuitry and electronic devices using proven methodologies and calculations. 
Instructional Setting: Classroom/Lab 
Total Hours (Semester): 56 

Course Title: Math for Fire and Life Safety 1 
Course description: Students are introduced to mathematical language, concepts, and 
processes to support electricity and program learning. Students develop problem-solving 
skills by applying topics of study to related practical problems. They explore number 
representation and computation, equation and notation basics, geometry, trigonometry, 
and graphing. 
Instructional Setting: Classroom/Online 
Total Hours (Semester): 42 

Course Title: Fire Dynamics 
Course description: Students explore fire chemistry, fire sciences, heat transfer and fire 
behavior to support the study of fire from its incipient stage to its decay in solid, liquid and 
gas phase fires. Students classify fires and corresponding behaviors based on 
environmental influences. 
Instructional Setting: Classroom/Online 
Total Hours (Semester): 42 

Course Title: COMM 1100: Communication Foundations 
Course description: This course invites students to practice and develop the 
foundational skills and competencies necessary to communicate in a variety of contexts. 
Students will be challenged to reflect upon questions that include, but are not limited to: 
What is the purpose of communication? How does one communicate effectively and 
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professionally? How can I improve communication to meet the needs of my audience? 
Students will learn to analyze different audiences and their needs and adapt their 
messages to ensure written, verbal, and visual communication is effective. The course 
will introduce communication theories, techniques, and models for interpersonal 
relationships, group dynamics, public communication, and intercultural environments. 
Instructional Setting: Classroom/Online 
Total Hours (Semester): 42 

Semester 2 
Course Title: Building Construction for Fire 
Course description: Students explore the principles of building construction and 
architectural strategies pertaining to passive fire protection, effective engineering for fire 
protection and life safety, and limiting the spread of fire. 
Instructional Setting: Classroom/Online 
Total Hours (Semester): 42 

Course Title: Sprinkler Design 1 
Course description: Students explore the operational principles of water-based sprinkler 
systems and the application of the National Fire Protection Association - NFPA 13 
towards its design. Students design sprinkler systems and contribute to design layouts, 
plans and specifications as per hazard classifications. 
Instructional Setting: Classroom/Lab 
Total Hours (Semester): 42 

Course Title: Math for Fire and Life Safety 2 
Course description: Students develop problem-solving and critical thinking skills by 
applying topics of study to related practical problems. They explore algebraic expressions 
and equations, systems of linear equations in two and three unknowns, and analytical 
geometry. 
Instructional Setting: Classroom/Online 
Total Hours (Semester): 42 

Course Title: Fire Detection and Alarm 
Course description: Students examine the principles of early warning fire detection and 
the operational principles of automatic fire detectors, control units, circuits structures, 
sound patterns, voice communication, conventional and addressable control units. This is 
an essential course to obtaining Canadian Fire Alarm Association (CFAA) designation. 
Instructional Setting: Classroom/Online 
Total Hours (Semester): 42 

Course Title: AutoCAD 2 
Course description: Students use advanced features, managing layers, drawing, text, 
application of symbols, and smart drawings to create advanced level 2D and 3D isometric 
drawings. Students create floor plans, riser diagrams for fire alarm and sprinkler systems. 
Instructional Setting: Classroom/Lab 
Total Hours (Semester): 42 
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Course Title: Fire Safety Systems Lab 1 
Course description: Students operate and analyze fire detection and water-based 
sprinkler systems. They test and inspect systems as per CAN/ULC-S536 and NFPA 25. 
Students complete wiring projects on fire alarm systems, and perform monthly and annual 
inspections of fire alarm systems, sprinkler systems, fire extinguishers and emergency 
lighting. 
Instructional Setting: Lab 
Total Hours (Semester): 56 

Semester 3 
Course Title: Sprinkler Design 2 
Course description: Students explore water supplies, hydraulic hand calculations and 
design approaches for sprinklers. Working on sprinkler software, students complete 
projects and assignments utilizing NFPA 13. Students create sprinkler system 
configurations using hydraulic calculations for various hazards and most demanding 
areas. 
Instructional Setting: Classroom/Lab 
Total Hours (Semester): 56 

Course Title: Ontario Fire Code 1 
Course description: Students examine the Fire Protection and Prevention Act and the 
Ontario Fire Code Parts 2 and 6. Students utilize the code and interpret laws associated 
with fire and life safety in Ontario. Emphasis is on the development of fire safety planning 
and fire protection systems. 
Instructional Setting: Classroom/Online 
Total Hours (Semester): 42 

Course Title: Fire Alarm Design 1 
Course description: Students examine the codes and standards (section 3.2.4 of the 
Ontario Building Code and CAN/ULC-S524) to design fire alarm systems. Circuit 
structures, audibility, and fire alarm networks are analyzed to support the application of 
fire detection principles. Students design basic fire alarm systems for various building 
classifications. This course is essential for obtaining your Canadian Fire Alarm 
Association (CFAA) designation. 
Instructional Setting: Classroom/Online 
Total Hours (Semester): 42 

Course Title: Special Extinguishing Systems 
Course description: Students focus on the study of alternatives to water-based fire 
suppression utilized in environments where water may not be suitable as a primary 
suppression agent. Students analyze the principles and effectiveness of suppression 
agents (foams, clean agents, inert gasses and dry powder) for various hazards. 
Instructional Setting: Classroom/Online 
Total Hours (Semester): 42 

Course Title: Fire Safety Systems Lab 2 
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Course description: Students explore advanced wiring techniques, trouble shooting, 
installation and commissioning of fire protection equipment. Students apply the codes and 
standards, use tools and test equipment to solve advanced, yet common faults. Students 
complete fire alarm inspections and verifications as per CAN/ULC – S536 and CAN/ULC-
S537. They conduct inspections of dry, wet, pre-action, standpipe inspections, conduct 
flow tests, and complete partial and full trips on sprinkler systems as per NFPA 25. 
Instructional Setting: Lab 
Total Hours (Semester): 56 

Course Title: COOP 1000 
Course description: The purpose of this course is for students to enhance their career 
planning skills and apply these skills to secure and effectively prepare for their co-op work 
term. Self-marketing techniques such as developing cover letters and resumes, searching 
for jobs, professionally using social media, researching and networking, and interviewing 
will be developed and practiced. Additionally, students will focus on ‘soft' skills such as 
self-awareness, goal setting, interpersonal communication, personal presentation, and 
business etiquette. Students will learn how to manage technology in the hiring and 
selection process along with regulations that apply in the workplace with regards to social, 
organizational, ethical, and safety issues. 
Instructional Setting: Classroom 
Total Hours (Semester): 42 

Semester 4 
Course Title: Sprinkler Design 3 
Course description: Students explore advanced projects for the design of sprinkler 
systems and include advanced hydraulic calculations, flow tests, and the approval 
process from the authority having jurisdiction (AHJ). Students perform advanced software 
applications, perform hydraulic calculations and design sprinkler systems. 
Instructional Setting: Lab 
Total Hours (Semester): 56 

Course Title: Fire Alarm Design 2 
Course description: Students engage in projects to design fire detection systems, with 
engineered drawings, floor plans, riser diagrams, sequence of operation and rationales 
for approval by the authority having jurisdiction. Students engineer a complete fire alarm 
system as per the requirements outlined in the Ontario Building Code and CAN/ULC-
S524. 
Instructional Setting: Classroom/Online 
Total Hours (Semester): 42 

Course Title: Project Management for Fire and Life Safety 
Course description: Students explore business development, sales, bidding on tenders, 
the professional strategies for planning and managing projects from inception to closure. 
Factors such as time management, scheduling a project and budgeting will support the 
student to manage risks and constraints throughout the project and ensure they are on 
schedule. 
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Instructional Setting: Classroom/Online 
Total Hours (Semester): 42 

Course Title: Building Code 1 
Course description: Students navigate and interpret part 3 and 9.10 of the Ontario 
building code for fire protection. Students acquire the skills necessary to understand and 
apply fire protection codes to building types and to the design of buildings. 
Instructional Setting: Classroom/Online 
Total Hours (Semester): 42 

Course Title: Technical and Report Writing 
Course description: Students explore the technical and report writing skills required for 
the workplace. Students select and use appropriate research, language, layout and 
graphics for technical documents. Emphasis is on the process of completing any on-the-
job writing assignments, the specific formats most often used, and related communication 
asks such as oral presentations. To support the student to reach these goals, emphasis is 
on the elements of clear writing and the necessary critical thinking that must precede 
good writing. 
Instructional Setting: Classroom 
Total Hours (Semester): 42 

Spring/Summer 
Course Title: Optional Co-op  
Course description:  
Instructional Setting: Field/Industry 
Total Hours (Semester): 530 

Semester 5 
Course Title: Fire Inspector 1 
Course description: Students apply the Ontario Fire Code and NFPA 1031 to 
investigate and inspect fire code violations, prepare inspection reports, prepare and 
document evidence, determine the appropriate course of action and issue violation 
notices. Students have the opportunity to obtain certification from the Office of the Ontario 
Fire Marshal and Emergency Management upon successful completion of this course. 
Instructional Setting: Classroom/Online 
Total Hours (Semester): 42 

Course Title: Legislation 
Course description: Students examine, in detail, the Fire Protection & Prevention Act 
(FPPA) which defines the governance, powers and duties allocated to the Authority 
Having Jurisdiction (AHJ). Students apply the act to various case studies emphasizing 
municipal and provincial level considerations. Students will have the opportunity to obtain 
certification from the Office of the Ontario Fire Marshal and Emergency Management, 
upon successful completion of this course. 
Instructional Setting: Classroom/Online 
Total Hours (Semester): 42 
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Course Title: Ontario Fire Code 2 
Course description: Students examine Part 3 and Part 5 of the Ontario Fire Code and 
apply the codes to various case studies and inquires. Students apply fire safety 
regulations for industrial occupancies and identify hazardous materials by defining the 
required handling and storage protocols. Students will have the opportunity to obtain 
certification from the Office of the Ontario Fire Marshal and Emergency Management, 
upon successful completion of this course. 
Instructional Setting: Classroom/Online 
Total Hours (Semester): 56 

Course Title: Hazardous Materials 
Course description: Students identify hazardous materials, according to The Ontario 
Fire Code and NFPA 1072 - Standard for Competence of Responders to Hazardous 
Materials Weapons of Mass Destruction Incidents. Students explore safety measures and 
recognize potential threats stemming from hazardous materials. Students apply the 
Ontario Fire Code, Occupational Health and Safety Standard and the Emergency 
Response Guide to various incidents and potential threats. Students will have the 
opportunity to obtain certification from the Office of the Ontario Fire Marshal and 
Emergency Management, upon successful completion of this course. 
Instructional Setting: Classroom/Online 
Total Hours (Semester): 42 

Course Title: Courtroom Procedures 
Course description: Students engage in mock trials to demonstrate courtroom decorum 
and conduct court responsibilities in accordance with Ministry-approved procedures, 
practices and guidelines. The focus of this course is on the students’ ability to articulate 
the process of collecting and presenting evidence. Students will have the opportunity to 
obtain certification from the Office of the Ontario Fire Marshal and Emergency 
Management, upon successful completion of this course. 
Instructional Setting: Classroom/Online 
Total Hours (Semester): 42 

Course Title: Fire and Life Safety Educator 1 
Course description: Students are prepared to qualify for a NFPA 1035 level 1, Fire and 
Life Safety Educator. Students construct educational workshops for fire and life safety for 
members in the community. Students will have the opportunity to obtain certification from 
the Office of the Ontario Fire Marshal and Emergency Management, upon successful 
completion of this course. 
Instructional Setting: Classroom/Online 
Total Hours (Semester): 42 

Course Title: Fire Safety Systems Lab 3 
Course description: Students demonstrate the operational principles of fire protection 
systems while obtaining hands on practical skills of fire detection, water-based sprinkler 
systems and suppression systems. Students perform inspections and prepare 
documentation for approval from the authority having jurisdiction to demonstrate an 
understanding of fire protection systems and their functionalities. 
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Instructional Setting: Lab 
Total Hours (Semester): 42 

Semester 6 
Course Title: Ontario Fire Code 3 
Course description: Students examine, in detail, Part 9 of the Ontario Fire Code to 
identify the requirements of fire and life safety when buildings require a retrofit of active 
and passive fire protection. Students will have the opportunity to obtain certification from 
the Office of the Ontario Fire Marshal and Emergency Management, upon successful 
completion of this course. 
Instructional Setting: Classroom/Online 
Total Hours (Semester): 56 

Course Title: Fire Inspector 2 
Course description: Students apply the Ontario Fire Code and NFPA 1031 to 
investigate fire code violations and determine an appropriate course of action. Students 
learn how to enforce codes in new and existing structures, construction sites, classify 
mixed use occupancies, recommend policies, calculate occupant load and review plans 
for the installation of fire protection systems. Students will have to opportunity to obtain a 
NFPA 1031 Level 2, Fire Inspector designation. 
Instructional Setting: Classroom/Online 
Total Hours (Semester): 42 

Course Title: Plans Examination 
Course description: Students analyze construction drawings through the point of view of 
fire prevention and life safety. Emphasis is on passive and active fire protection 
measures. Students interpret and review architectural plans and drawings for the 
approval of construction permits. Students will have the opportunity to obtain certification 
from the Office of the Ontario Fire Marshal and Emergency Management, upon 
successful completion of this course. 
Instructional Setting: Classroom/Online 
Total Hours (Semester): 42 

Course Title: Fire and Life Safety Educator 2 
Course description: Students develop community outreach programs and activities for 
various audiences and communities. Emphasis is on preparing students to qualify for a 
NFPA 1035 level II, Fire and Life Safety Educator. Students develop the necessary skills 
to develop policies, manage and deliver educational programs and/or workshops for fire 
and life safety for members in the community. Students learn to budget, plan and develop 
educational programs and strategies within the context of fire and life safety. 
Instructional Setting: Classroom/Online 
Total Hours (Semester): 42 

Course Title: Fire and Explosion Investigation 
Course description: Students analyze fire scenarios though the application of theory. 
Students reconstruct scenes before the fire event, and analyze demarcations, smoke and 
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burn patterns to determine the cause and origin of a fire. Students investigate and collect 
evidence for further investigation and forensics. 
Instructional Setting: Classroom/Online 
Total Hours (Semester): 42 

Course Title: Building Code 2 
Course description: Students examine the Ontario Building Code with respect to fire 
protection. Emphasis is on Division B Part 1, 3, 6, 9 and 11. Students learn construction 
methods, renovation, and fire protection for large and small buildings. Upon successful 
completion students will have the opportunity to obtain a BCIN (Building Code 
Identification Number) designation. 
Instructional Setting: Classroom/Online 
Total Hours (Semester): 42 

4. Strategic Alignment 

4.1 Strategic Fit 

The proposed program aligns with the following goals of the Academic, Strategic, and 
Business plans. 

Goal 1: Ensure Exceptional Quality in our Academic Programs (Academic Plan) 
Goal 2: Enhance Exemplary Teaching and Learning Practices (Academic Plan) 

Pillar: Our Students (Strategic & Business plans) 
Goal: To educate and inspire students to realize success in their careers and 
communities. 
 
This proposal arises out of the Comprehensive Review Process (CPR) and has been 
reflected in the Annual Program Review (APR) and Program Advisory Committee (PAC) 
discussions. Graduates of the proposed program will obtain Fire Prevention Office and 
Fire Safety Educator credentials, providing access to a wider variety of career options 
within the fire industry. To align with industry expectations, the lab environments have 
undergone significant upgrade, in addition to modification, to support the faculty’s 
enhancement of the teaching and learning for the students to meet the curriculum in the 
proposed program. 
 

4.2 Fit with Existing Programs 

Durham College is proposing the option to offer Fire Prevention Technology, Ontario 
College Advanced Diploma, within the School of Justice and Emergency Service (JES). 
JES offers a portfolio of diverse programs, at the certificate, diploma, advanced diploma 
and graduate certificate level. 
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This proposed program complements and extends our current offerings. We currently 
offer the three semester Pre-Service Fire Education and Training (PFET) program for 
aspiring firefighters. The program advisory committee members for the PFET program 
have commented on how valuable it is for their candidates, for employment, to have 
broader knowledge of the fire safety industry and have emphasized that graduates with 
this additional credential are well positioned for success. This proposed program is a 
complement to the PFET program and extends the opportunity for further education in 
this area. 

A Fire Protection Technology advanced diploma is currently offered at two CAAT colleges 
under the MTCU code 63003. Graduates of these programs are prepared for careers in 
sprinkler design, insurance, fire alarms, code–consulting, inspection and firefighting. 

5. Labour Demand and Graduate Employment Possibilities 

Institutional Research and Planning prepared a comprehensive environmental scan. The 
following is a summary of the information and data from the scan. 

After a review of the need for a Fire Prevention Technology program, Durham College 
determined it would be valuable to add this Ontario College Advanced Diploma to its 
postsecondary offerings because of: 

• Strong Fall enrolment with some international interest. 
• Catchment loss of approximately 10 students each year. 
• High employment and related employment rates for graduates.  
• Graduates earn higher wages than the average for college graduates. 

5.1 Labour Market Analysis 

Between the years 2010 and 2019 in Ontario, there were 110,811 fires with loss (injury, 
fatality and/or dollar loss). The majority of these fires (47%) occurred in residential 
properties1 and smoke alarms operated in less than half. 2 The fact is, many of these fires 
are preventable, and fire-related injuries and fatalities are far more prevalent in the 
absence of fire safety systems. 

In Ontario, fire prevention, fire services, and fire safety for all buildings are governed by 
the Fire Protection and Prevention Act (FPPA, 1997). The Office of the Fire Marshal 
(OFM) is responsible for administering the FPPA, and is mandated to provide leadership 
and support to fire departments across the province of Ontario through advisory, 
investigation, training and instructional programs.9 The responsibility of providing fire 
protection and prevention services is incumbent on local municipalities. This includes 

                                            
1 Ministry of the Solicitor General. Fire Losses: Causes, Trends, Issues. 2020. 
https://www.mcscs.jus.gov.on.ca/english/FireMarshal/MediaRelationsandResources/FireStatistics/OntarioFires/FireLossesCausesTren
dsIssues/stats_causes.html  
2 Ministry of the Solicitor General. Smoke alarm Status in Home Fires. 2021. 
https://www.mcscs.jus.gov.on.ca/english/FireMarshal/MediaRelationsandResources/FireStatistics/OntarioFires/SmokeAlarmStatusinH
omeFires/stats_sa_status.html  
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responding to fires, the enforcement of the Ontario Fire Code and conducting property 
inspections.  

While fire services are commonly thought of in terms of fire suppression (i.e., fire fighting), 
the field is much broader and includes fire protection and prevention. Fire protection 
refers to the measures taken to protect lives and properties from fire through prevention, 
detection and suppression.3  Fire prevention involves the proactive steps taken to reduce 
fire hazards so that a fire does not have a chance to ignite. Fire detection refers to alert 
systems that notify a building's occupants and fire departments of a fire (e.g., fire alarm)4, 
and fire suppression includes systems that are designed to extinguish or contain a fire 
through various methods (e.g., sprinkler).   

Fire services are provided by government and private organizations, involve multiple 
regulatory bodies, and are tied to various legislation, codes and standards. Opportunities 
for a career in fire services exist for professionals with a broad range of skills, knowledge 
and experiences. For instance, fire fighters primarily control and extinguish fires; fire 
alarm technicians install, service and inspect fire alarm systems; and fire prevention 
officers enforce, educate and advise on fire code compliance. 

Primary employers of fire protection and prevention professionals are in the public sector, 
such as fire departments. In Ontario, there are currently 441 fire departments 5 (29 in the 
Durham Region) providing many services, including fire suppression, emergency rescue, 
auto extrication, hazardous materials response, fire safety inspections and public fire 
safety education.6 Employment opportunities also exist in the private sector in insurance 
agencies, engineering firms, manufacturing firms and other businesses supplying fire and 
safety system solutions. In 2013, Ontario adopted the National Fire Protection Association 
(NFPA) Professional Standards, which outline training and certifications for occupations 
such as Career and Volunteer Firefighters (NFPA 1001), Public Fire and Life Educator 
(NFPA 1035), and Fire Inspector (NFPA 1031).7 Such credentials allow for participation in 
a wider variety of career options within the fire and life safety industry.  

According to a 2020 market research report, "Fire Protection System Market by Product 
(Fire Suppression, Fire Sprinkler, Fire Analysis, Fire Response, Fire Detection), Service 
(Engineering, Installation and Design, Maintenance, Managed), Vertical, and Region - 
Global Forecast to 2025", the global fire protection system market size is estimated to 
reach $95.4 billion (USD) by 2025, up from $67.7 billion in 2020. The market growth is 
expected to be fueled by the development of the construction industry, an increase in the 

                                            
3 Ontario. Fire Protection and Prevention Act, 1997. https://www.ontario.ca/laws/statute/97f04  
4 Northeast Document Conservation Center. An Introduction to Fire Detection, Alarm and Automatic Fire sprinklers. 1999. 
https://www.nedcc.org/free-resources/preservation-leaflets/3.-emergency-management/3.2-an-introduction-to-fire-detection,-alarm,-
and-automatic-fire-sprinklers  
5 Ministry of the Solicitor General. Number of Fire Departments and Firefighters. 2020. 
http://www.mcscs.jus.gov.on.ca/english/FireMarshal/MediaRelationsandResources/FireStatistics/NumberFireDepartmentsFirefighters/
stats_fd.html  
6 Durham Region. Fire. 2021. https://www.durham.ca/en/living-here/fire.aspx  
7 Ministry of the Solicitor General. Certification and Accreditation. 2018. 
https://www.mcscs.jus.gov.on.ca/english/FireMarshal/EducationTestingCertification/CertificationAccreditation/OFM_certification.html  
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loss of human lives and property due to fire breakouts, stringent regulatory compliances, 
and a rise in the adoption of wireless technology in fire detection systems.8 

Locally, more frequent updates to the Ontario Building Code and Ontario Fire Code also 
support employment for fire protection and prevention professionals who can navigate the 
complex codes and standards. For instance, recent changes to the Ontario Building Code 
require automatic sprinklers in all care occupancies, care and treatment occupancies, and 
licensed retirement homes. Further, all multi-unit residential buildings higher than three 
storeys must include fire sprinklers. Ultimately, new requirements related to fire protection 
and prevention require professionals to support compliance (e.g., design, manufacturing 
and installation) as well as carry-out inspections and investigations. 

Labour Market Outlook 
Occupational Classification: National 

Job titles and descriptions relevant to the field of Fire Prevention Technology were culled 
from a variety of labour market reports. The National Occupation Classifications (NOC) 
provides a standardized framework for organizing the labour force in a coherent system. 
Based on the titles and descriptions, two key four-digit NOC codes were identified: 4312 
and 2233. 

These two codes are: 4312 – Firefighters (e.g., Firefighter; Fire prevention officer; Fire 
inspector) and 2233 – Industrial engineering and manufacturing technologist and 
technicians (e.g., Fire protection technician - manufacturing). 

Table 1 displays wages, occupation statistics and employment outlooks for relevant 
occupations in Canada. 

  

                                            
8 Markets and Markets. Fire Protection System Market by Product (Fire Suppression, Fire Sprinkler, Fire Analysis, Fire Response, Fire 
Detection), Service (Engineering, Installation and Design, Maintenance, Managed), Vertical, and Region - Global Forecast to 2025. 
2019. https://www.marketsandmarkets.com/Market-Reports/fire-protection-systems-market-1018.html  
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Table 1 

Wages, Occupational Statistics and Employment Outlook (National) 

NOC Code - 
Occupation  

Median 
Wage9 

Employ
ment  

in 2018 

Median 
Age in 
2018  

Average 
Retirement 
Age in 2018 

Outlook 
to 202810 

4312 – Firefighters $41.21 32,400 41 58.0 Balance 

2233 – Industrial 
engineering and 
manufacturing 
technologists and 
technicians 

$27.00 19,900 40 61.0 Balance 

Source: Employment and Social Development Canada www.jobbank.gc.ca/marketreport/outlook Accessed: June 2021 

The median wages for relevant occupations are higher than average, especially for 
Firefighters. A balanced labour market is projected for these occupations through to 2028, 
meaning the labour supply is expected to meet demand. 

Provincial Outlook 
Occupational Classification: Provincial 

Figure 1 displays the provincial job outlook rating for the relevant occupations, as well as 
median income. 

  

                                            
9 Average Wages - All occupations = $21.00 based on Working in Canada (2006, Statistics Canada Census) 
10 Definitions correspond to national labour market data taken from the Department of Employment and Social Development Canada 
(ESDC) and are based on the Canadian Occupational Projections System (COPS). 
Balance Labour demand and labour supply are expected to be broadly in line for this occupation group over the 2019-2028 period.  
Surplus This occupational group is expected to face labour surplus conditions over the period of 2019-2028 period.  
Shortage This occupational group is expected to face labour shortage conditions over the period of 2019-2028.  
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Figure 1 
 

NOC 4312 – Firefighters NOC 2233 – 
Industrial engineering 

and manufacturing 
technologists and 

technicians 

 
Median Income 

$102,119 

 
Median Income 

$62,961 
Source: iaccess Job Profiles, accessed: June 2021 

The outlooks for relevant occupations are favourable for Firefighters and Industrial 
engineering and manufacturing technologist and technicians, and the median income for 
these two occupations is higher than the Ontario average of $55,121. 

Employment is primarily full-time and males hold the majority of positions in the relevant 
occupations. 

Table 2 displays the education level of employees in relevant occupations in Ontario. 

Table 2 

Education Level 4312 – 
Firefighters 

2233 – Industrial engineering 
and manufacturing 

technologists and technicians 

No certificate, diploma or degree: 1% 0% 

Secondary (high) school diploma or 
equivalency certificate 

21% 23% 

Apprenticeship or trades certificate 
or diploma 

8% 7% 

College, CEGEP or other non-
university certificate or diploma 

51% 40% 

Bachelor's degree 15% 19% 

Degree in medicine, dentistry, 
veterinary medicine or optometry 

0% 0% 
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Education Level 4312 – 
Firefighters 

2233 – Industrial engineering 
and manufacturing 

technologists and technicians 

Master's degree 1% 5% 

Earned doctorate 0% 1% 

Other 3% 5% 

Figure 2 displays the sectors in which the relevant occupations are employed. 

Figure 2 

4312 – Firefighters 
2233 – Industrial engineering and 
manufacturing technologists and 
technicians 

94% Public administration 33% Professional, scientific and 
technical services 

2% Utilities 17% Wholesale trade 

1% 
Administrative and support, 
waste management and 
remediation services 

13% Public administration 

1% Construction 11% Construction  

Source: iaccess Job Profiles, accessed: June 2021 

Occupations relevant to the proposed Fire Prevention Technology program are prevalent 
in Public administration, Professional, scientific and technical services and Construction 
sectors.  

Table 3 presents the combined number of jobs that are expected to be created in Ontario 
and select census divisions across all three relevant occupations. 
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Table 3 

Occupation Summary (Ontario and Select Census Divisions) – 2020 & 2025 

Region 2020 Jobs 2025 
Jobs Change % Change Median Hourly 

Wages 
Ontario 40,753 41,036 283 1% $32.32 

Durham 1,292 1,234 -58 -5% $33.00 

Toronto 8,137 7,642 -496 -6% $31.08 

Peel 5,194 4,975 -219 -4% $30.52 

York 3,926 3,759 -167 -4% $30.99 

Peterborough 411 486 74 18% $30.01 

Northumberland 174 203 30 17% $31.12 

Kawartha Lakes 169 196 26 16% $32.65 
Source: Labour Force Survey, EMSI Analyst 2021.1, accessed: June 2021 

A total of 283 jobs are expected to be created in Ontario by 2025 across the NOC codes. 
Most jobs are anticipated to be created in the Peterborough census division. 

Local Outlook 
Occupational Classifications: Region of Durham 

The share of Ontario’s employment of Firefighters is high in the Durham census division 
(10%). Table 4 presents the number of jobs and hourly wages for all relevant occupations 
within the Durham census division. Job counts are presented for 2020, in addition to a 
projection of the number of jobs in 2025.  

Table 4 

Durham Region Employment Outlook - 2020 & 2025 

NOC 2020 Jobs 2025 Jobs Change % Change 
Median 
Hourly 
Wages 

4312 – 
Firefighters 

434 445 11 3% $45.52 

2233 – Industrial 
engineering and 
manufacturing 
technologists 
and technicians 

292 292 0 0% $29.65 

Total 1,291 1,233 -58 -5% $33.00 
Source: Labour Force Survey, EMSI Analyst 2021.1, accessed: June 2021 
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Table 4 indicates the greatest number of jobs created in the Durham census division will 
be in the occupations categorized as Firefighters.  

Main Industries of Employment: Region of Durham 

The North American Industry Classification System (NAICS) 11 provides a standardized 
framework for classifying industries present in any given geographic region. NAICS 9131 
– Municipal protective services (includes fire departments), 5616 – Investigation and 
security services (includes security system services), 5413 – Architectural, engineering 
and related services (includes engineering firms and building inspection services), and 
2382 – Building equipment contractors (includes alarm systems installation services) 
have been chosen for inclusion based on their relevance to Fire Protection Technology 
graduates.  
Relevant employers include a wide range of organizations and industries, from fire 
departments to alarm installation services, and from large corporations to small 
businesses. It is evident from the research that these industries are largely centralized in 
Toronto and the surrounding area. 
Of the relevant industries, the majority of employers in the Durham census division have 
1-4 employees. However, there are a few larger employers with 200-499 employees 
across all four industries.   

Associations and Affiliations 
• American Fire Sprinkler Association 
• Canadian Automatic Sprinkler Association (CASA) 
• Canadian Fire Alarm Association (CFAA) 
• Canadian Fire Safety Association (CFSA) 
• Industrial Fire Prevention Association 
• National Fire Protection Association (NFPA) 
• National Fire Sprinkler Association 
• Office of the Ontario Fire Marshall (OFM) 
• Ontario Municipal Fire Prevention Officers Association 
• Ontario Association of Certified Engineering Technicians and Technologists 

(OACETT) 
• Home Fire Sprinkler Coalition 
• Society of Fire Protection Engineers (SFPE) 

6. Analysis of Competition 

Durham College currently offers a certificate in Firefighter Pre-service, Education and 
Training, and a diploma in Fire and Life Safety Systems Technician. The curriculum of the 
diploma program focuses primarily on fire detection (e.g., fire alarm industry) and 
provides limited earning potential and career progression for graduates. The first two 

                                            
11 NAICS is the agreed upon common framework for the production of comparable statistics by the statistical agencies of the three 
countries, Canada, Mexico and the United States. Its hierarchical structure is composed of sectors (two-digit code), subsectors (three-
digit code), industry groups (four-digit code), and industries (five-digit code). 
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years of the diploma and proposed advanced diploma programs are equivalent. This 
provides students the opportunity to enter the industry after the second year to gain more 
experience and return to complete the third year to broaden their skills. An advanced 
diploma program in this field offers a broader set of skills for fire prevention (e.g., sprinkler 
design; code consulting; risk management; fire inspection and investigation), and 
prepares graduates for higher-paying and more competitive positions.  

There are two CAAT colleges that offer Fire Protection Technology advanced diploma 
programs. Both colleges have state-of-the-art fire training centres that provide practical 
experience to students. Programs in this MTCU code, in addition to DC’s proposed 
program, prepare students to pursue a career as fire inspectors, offer several NFPA 
certifications, and pathways for further study.  
 
7. Student Interest 

The following table presents first year enrolment over the last five years and across the 
college system in programs with the MTCU code 63003. 

 

• The average growth12 between 2016 and 2020 for total applications was: 1.9%. 
• The average growth between 2016 and 2020 for first choice applications was: 9.2%. 
• The average growth between 2016 and 2020 for confirmations was: 7.8%. 

Overall, domestic applicant interest in this program has increased over the reporting 
period. The 2021-22 application cycle is in progress but confirmations for Fall 2021 are 
slightly lower than the previous five years (110 as of June 2021). The Winter intake had 
stable applications and confirmations but there was a decline in Winter 2020-21, which 
was a term largely impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic.  

                                            
12 Average Growth refers to the average change each year. 
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System-wide, international enrolment in Fire Protection Technology programs has 
increased over the reporting period in the Fall intake. However, the Winter intake did 
decrease significantly in 2020-21. International students account for a small proportion of 
Fall enrolment (less than 10%). Due to the heavy emphasis on provincial and federal 
legislation, the low enrolment numbers for international students is not surprising; 
although international student numbers were not accounted for in the budget, the School 
of Justice and Emergency Service welcomes all students to the program. 

8. Target Market 

The target market for this program is domestic students possessing a high school diploma 
or equivalent. 

9. Operating Revenue and Expenses 

The following tables summarize the net contribution for the proposed Fire Prevention 
Technology, Ontario College Advanced Diploma program.  
 
Student Enrolment 2022-23 

Projection 
2023-24 

Projection 
2024-25 

Projection 
2025-26 

Projection 
2026-27 

Projection 
Projected enrolment 45 45 45 45 45 

Total 45 83 120 120 120 

 

Net Contribution 2022-23 
Projection 

2023-24 
Projection 

2024-25 
Projection 

2025-26 
Projection 

2026-27 
Projection 

Total Direct Program 
Expenses 234,683 324,382 473,410 482,727 492,229 

Total Revenue For 
Program 390,299 722,052 1,037,218 1,037,218 1,037,218 

Net Contribution $ 155,616 397,670 563,808 554,492 544,989 

Net Accumulated 
Contribution / (Deficit) 155,616 553,286 1,117,094 1,671,586 2,216,575 

Net Contribution - % of 
Gross Revenue 39.9% 55.1% 54.4% 53.5% 52.5% 

Target Net Contribution n/a Breakeven 40.0% 40.0% 40.0% 

Capital Requirement 271,200 0 0 0 271,200 
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Revenue 2022-23 
Projection 

2023-24 
Projection 

2024-25 
Projection 

2025-26 
Projection 

2026-27 
Projection 

Tuition Fees per 
academic year 

$3,183 $3,183 $3,183 $3,183 $3,183 

Set-Aside Fee 
Removed 

$318 $318 $318 $318 $318 

Tuition Fee realized 
by college  

$2,865 $2,865 $2,865 $2,865 $2,865 

Total Tuition Fees 128,912 238,486 342,582 342,582 342,582 

Other Revenue 
(Contract Training) 0 0 0 0 0 

Total Other Revenue 0 0 0 0 0 

Program Wtd Funding 
Unit  1.40 1.40 1.40 1.40 1.40 

Grant - MTCU 
Operating (Assume 
$4160/wfu) 

$261,387 $483,566 $694,636 $694,636 $694,636 

Total Revenue $390,299 $722,052 $1,037,218 $1,037,218 $1,037,218 

 

Expenditures 2022-23 
Projection 

2023-24 
Projection 

2024-25 
Projection 

2025-26 
Projection 

2026-27 
Projection 

Salaries - Faculty (FT) 105,273 107,378 199,526 203,517 207,587 

Salaries - Co-
ordinator Allowance 0 0 0 0 0 

Salaries - PT 
Teaching 47,040 122,640 149,520 152,510 155,561 

Salaries - PL 
Teaching 0 0 0 0 0 

Salaries - Sessional 
Teaching 0 0 0 0 0 

Contract Teaching 0 0 0 0 0 

Total Teaching 
Salaries 152,313 230,018 349,046 356,027 363,147 

AGENDA PAGE   71



 
                        New Program Summary  

26 

Expenditures 2022-23 
Projection 

2023-24 
Projection 

2024-25 
Projection 

2025-26 
Projection 

2026-27 
Projection 

Benefits - Faculty - FT   
25% 26,318 26,845 49,882 50,879 51,897 

Benefits - Faculty - PT 
14% 6,586 17,170 20,933 21,351 21,778 

Benefits - SS (FT) 
28% 3,360 3,427 3,496 3,566 3,637 

Total Employee 
Benefits 36,264 47,441 74,310 75,796 77,312 

Total Labour 200,577 289,700 435,841 444,558 453,449 

Instructional Supplies 15,000 15,300 15,606 15,918 16,236 

Instructional Other 
Costs 0 0 0 0 0 

Field Work 0 0 0 0 0 

Membership & Dues 0 0 0 0 0 

Professional 
Development 1,000 1,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 

Travel/accommodatio
n/meals 1,300 1,300 2,600 2,600 2,600 

Promotion/Public 
relations 0 0 0 0 0 

Maintenance- 
Equipment 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 

Telecommunications 0 0 0 0 0 

Software Costs 13,806 14,082 14,364 14,651 14,944 

Office supplies/Other 
Expenses 0 0 0 0 0 

Rental  0 0 0 0 0 

Total Other 
Expenditure 34,106 34,682 37,570 38,169 38,780 
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Report Number: BOG-2021-81 
 
To: Board of Governors 
 
From: Nikki Samuel, Director, Office of Equity, Diversity & Inclusion 
 
Date of Report: November 30, 2021 
 
Date of Meeting: December 8, 2021 
 
Subject: Sexual Violence and Harassment Action Plan Statistics 
 

1. Purpose 

The purpose of this report is o provide a statistical report on the Sexual Violence 
and Harassment Action Plan. 
 

2. Recommendation 

It is recommended to the Durham College Board of Governors: 

That Report BOG-2021-81, presenting a statistical report as a directive of the 
Sexual Violence and Harassment Plan, be received for information.  

3. Background 

On September 16, 2021, the provincial government announced its regulatory 
amendments to the Sexual Violence and Harassment Action Plan Act 
(Supporting Survivors and Challenging Sexual Violence and Harassment). The 
proposed amendments, seek to strengthen the sexual violence policies of 
publicly-assisted colleges and universities by increasing protection for those 
impacted by sexual violence in post-secondary institutions. Institutions are to be 
compliant with the proposed amendments by March 1, 2022. 
 
The amendments include:  

1) A complainant acting in good faith who discloses sexual violence will not 
be penalized for violating an institution’s policies related to substance use 
at the time the Act of sexual violence took place. 

2) During the investigative process, complainants who disclose will not be 
asked irrelevant questions from staff or investigators, such as those 
relating to past sexual history or sexual expression/orientation. 
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The Durham College Sexual Violence Policy has been updated to reflect these 
amendments and compliance with provincial changes. The updates can be found 
in sections: 

a) 4.7.3 
b) 6.5.11 

The following represents statistical information for the sexual violence mandate 
at Durham College for November 2020 – November 2021.  
 

• Total number of formal complaints/reports of sexual violence: 0 
• Number of formal complaints/reports of sexual assault: 0 
• Number of formal complaints/reports of sexual harassment: 0 
• Number of formal complaints/reports of voyeurism: 0 
• Number of informal (disclosures) of sexual violence: 9 

These statistics capture the number of formal and informal reports of sexual 
violence. For this report, sexual violence is defined as an umbrella term that 
includes sexual assault, sexual harassment, stalking, indecent exposure, 
voyeurism, and sexual exploitation. Formal reports are received by the Office of 
Campus Safety (OCS), and informal reports are referred to the Office of Equity, 
Diversity, and Inclusion (OEDI). 

4. Discussion/Options   

The Office of Campus Safety received zero (0) reports; compared to the four (4) 
reports received last year that would meet the reporting criteria of Sexual 
Violence.  
 
The Sexual Violence Educator and Support Coordinator received nine (9) 
disclosures of sexual violence from campus members; compared to sixteen (16) 
disclosures received in the previous year. Disclosures were received from 
students, faculty, residence, and the Campus Health Centre.  
 
OEDI continues to prioritize educational awareness to support the campus 
community in increasing their knowledge and understanding on several topics 
related to sexual violence. The 2020-2021 academic year marked the third 
occasion Durham College participated in the global 16 Days of Activism Against 
Gender-based Violence campaign, in collaboration with Ontario Tech University. 
In 2020-2021 the College launched its Kiss with Consent speaker series, 
recognizing the increased rates of gender-based violence during the pandemic. 
This relevant and responsive series focused on increasing participants’ 
awareness of digital consent and cyber-sexual violence. 
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2021-2022 Education and Awareness programming: 
• The fourth annual 16 Days of Activism Against Gender-based Violence 

campaign continued in collaboration with Ontario Tech University. This 
year, all activities took place virtually and included pivotal learning areas 
such as: 

- Increased awareness of the impact of gender-based violence on 
the mental health of survivors and frontline workers. 

- Explored the intersections of gender-based violence through the 
lens of anti-Blackness. 

- Provided practical strategies and tools to recognize, support, and 
disrupt gender-based violence. 
 

• This year marks Durham College’s inaugural December 6, National Day of 
Remembrance and Action on Violence Against Women virtual speaking 
event, focusing on Anti-Blackness in Gender Justice Movements. 

• Programming on consent and boundaries was delivered in partnership 
with Ontario Tech and the Sexual Harassment and Assault Resource 
Exchange (SHARE).  

• The ManMade program is scheduled to launch in March 2022, facilitated 
by the Durham Rape Crisis Centre (DRCC), for male-identified student 
leaders. 

• Let’s Talk Sex series will continue in partnership with Ontario Tech and 
AIDS Committee of Durham Region (ACDR). 

• Launch of the Sexual Violence First Aid module for employees in Winter 
2022. 

• Expansion of employee-focused sexual violence awareness training in 
Winter 2022. 

• Expansion of Kiss with Consent programming to include topics on intimacy 
and healing after trauma in Winter 2022. 

• Continue collaborative consent campaign with OntarioTech 
(#WeGetConsent) for residence. 

 
Sexual Violence First Aid Training Course 
Durham College in collaboration with the Durham Rape Crisis Centre (DRCC), 
developed and launched its first Sexual Violence First Aid Training Course for 
students in Fall 2021. A staff version is scheduled to launch in Winter 2022. This 
initiative was made possible through funding from the Centre for Innovation in 
Campus Mental Health. 
 
This course increases participants’ knowledge and awareness of the 
manifestations of sexual violence; while providing strategies, tools, and 
resources through a trauma-informed lens to support participants in responding 
effectively to disclosures of sexual violence on campus. 
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Learning Outcomes: 

• Provide an overview of key terms and definitions of sexual violence. 
• Explore misconceptions and myths of sexual violence and its impact on 

survivors. 
• Practice supportive intervention techniques and skills when receiving a 

disclosure. 
• Identify resources and supports to assist survivors. 

At the time of this report, there are over 335 students registered; while 99 
students have completed the course. Currently, 78% of students reported an 
increase in their understanding of sexual violence and feel confident in 
responding to disclosures after completing the module. Based on positive 
feedback from participants, collaboration with the DRCC will continue to explore 
content development for future modules.  

5. Financial/Human Resource Implications 

The implementation of the Act continues to require dedicated resources, to 
ensure training materials remain relevant and responsive to the community’s 
needs. Additionally, it requires that every employee and board member continue 
to participate in mandated training to understand roles in policy compliance. It 
requires significant time from two Directors for the continued management of all 
components of the Act. 

6. Implications for the Joint Campus Master Plan 

There are no implications for the joint campus master plan. 
 

7. Implications for Ontario Tech University 

Ontario Tech University is also required to provide statistics to its Advisory 
Committee on Student Sexual Violence Prevention and Support, and the Board 
of Governors. 
 

8. Relationship to the Strategic Plan/Business Plan 

This subject pertains to the “our people” and “our students” pillars in the strategic 
plan, and business plan to foster a positive work environment that is diverse, 
inclusive, and respectful. Additionally, to ensure Durham College achieves Bill 
132 compliance. 
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Report Number: BOG-2021-73 
 
To: Board of Governors 
 
From: Don Lovisa, President 
 
Date of Report: November 15, 2021 
 
Date of Meeting: December 8, 2021  
 
Subject: Summary of Collaborative Efforts with Ontario Tech University 
 

1. Purpose 

The purpose of this report is to inform the Board of Governors of the various 
initiatives and activities where Durham College and Ontario Tech University 
effectively collaborate.  
 

2. Recommendation 

It is recommended to the Durham College Board of Governors: 

That Report BOG-2021-73 providing a summary of collaborative efforts with 
Ontario Tech University be received for information. 

3. Background 

In May 2021, the Durham College (DC) and Ontario Tech University (OUT) 
boards signed a letter that solidified the institutions’ commitment to collaborate in 
various areas. DC and OTU collaborate and cooperate in the delivery of services 
and provide unique opportunities for students.  Our mission, “Together, we are 
leading the way,” emphasizes the importance of working closely with all external 
partners to provide as many pathways as possible for students wishing to 
continue their education.  The 2020-2021 academic year saw 407 students in the 
first year at DC who had prior OTU experience and 425 students who started 
their studies at OTU who had previous DC experience.  
 
The 2021-2022 business plan refers to an action “to support the strategic 
discussion of the Board of Governors, and capitalize on the co-location, the 
leadership teams of DC and OTU will explore opportunities to collaborate.” 
Attachment 1 summarizes various initiatives, events, and activities where DC and 
OTU work together to benefit both institutions. 
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4. Discussion/Options 

Refer to Attachment 1 for a detailed overview of the collaborative efforts between 
DC and OTU.  

 
5. Financial/Human Resource Implications 

There are no financial/human resource implications.  

6. Implications for the Joint Campus Master Plan 

There are no implications for the Joint Campus Master Plan.  
 

7. Implications for Ontario Tech University 

DC will continue to work with OTU collaboratively and professionally to enhance 
our relationship as campus partners.  

 
8. Relationship to the Strategic Plan/Business Plan 

This report fulfills the action under the “Our Work” goal in the 2021-2022 
business plan “to support the strategic discussion of the Board of Governors and 
capitalize on the co-location, the leadership teams of DC and OTU will explore 
opportunities to collaborate.”  
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Summary of Collaborative Efforts between 
Durham College and Ontario Tech University 

Prepared by Durham College – November 2021 

INTRODUCTION 

The following document provides examples of how Durham College (DC) and Ontario Tech 
University (OTU) collaborate and cooperate to deliver services and provide unique 
opportunities for students.  Our mission, “Together, we are leading the way,” emphasizes the 
importance of working closely with all external partners to provide as many pathways as 
possible for students wishing to continue their education.  The 2020-2021 academic year saw 
407 students in the first year at DC who had prior OTU experience and 425 students who 
started their studies at OTU who had previous DC experience.  

In May 2021, the DC and OTU boards signed a letter that solidified the institutions’ 
commitment to collaborate in various areas. Below are the four main collaboration goals that 
were identified as targets to enhance our position as an education hub in the Durham Region 
and Northumberland county: 

1. Leverage core academic strengths, knowledge and expertise that position the
organizations as leaders in transformative education.

2. Leverage existing relationships, joint programs, and initiatives to enhance and create
equal value for each institution.

3. Leverage IT infrastructures and disruptive technologies to differentiate the two
institutions from others with a student-centric approach to enhance learning and service
delivery.

4. Leverage opportunities to demonstrate combined strengths and make innovative
contributions to Durham and Northumberland, Ontario, and Canada’s economic,
environmental and social health.

STUDENT EXPERIENCE – EXPERIENTIAL LEARNING 

Supports Goals 1, 2, 3 and 4  

• The Director of Experiential Learning collaborates with OTU colleagues as a representative
on the City of Oshawa’s TeachingCity steering committee and the Region of Durham’s
CityStudio steering committee to facilitate meaningful experiential learning opportunities
for students.  One specific example is the development of a tri-institutional ‘City Idea Lab’
course in which students from DC, OTU, and Trent learn together to address a challenge
identified by City of Oshawa collaborators.

Attachment 1 to 
BOG-2021-73
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• DC received two awards from CEWIL Canada’s Innovation Hub (iHub), funded in part by the 
Government of Canada’s Work-Integrated Learning Initiative. These awards will support 
field placement opportunities for DC Fitness and Health Promotion students at OTU, during 
which they will develop unique training programs for elite varsity athletes through a multi-
phase project.  

• Before the pandemic, DC co-ordinated a two-day disaster simulation exercise (e.g., Project 
Lord Ridgeback), including OTU students from the Collaborative Nursing and Forensic 
Science programs. This year it will be held as a tabletop exercise with DC only. Next year DC 
will once again invite OTU to join us in our full-scale exercise. 

• The collaborative BScN nursing program continues to be a success. 186 students were 
accepted into the program in 2020/21, and over 87.7% BScN Collaborative program 
graduates completed the National NCLEX exam. 

• DC and OTU submitted a collaborative eCampusOntario grant proposal for the creation of 
shared digital assets to support the simulated application of concepts for diploma/degree 
programs in the areas of engineering, robotics, and mechatronics. 

• The College and University successfully applied for an eCampusOntario Virtual Learning 
Strategy project. The “Indigenous Histories and Reconciliation” course, led by DC with OTU 
as a collaborating institution, will be updated and shared with all postsecondary institutions 
in Ontario by March 2022. Currently, the modules have 781 registrants. 

COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT 

Supports Goals 2 and 4  

• Representatives from both institutions attend heads of guidance meetings (DDSB and DSB) 
and are viewed as educational partners. 

• Each institution is invited to participate in open house events. 

• Recruitment offices from each institution collaborate to accommodate groups on campus 
that wish to tour both institutions on the same day. 

• DC and OTU employees participate in the OPG steering committee to implement and 
monitor the partnership agreement. 

• The Environmental and Related Technologies Hub (EaRTH District) was recently launched in 
the eastern GTA region in partnership with OTU, Centennial College, University of Toronto 
Scarborough (UTSC), and Trent University 
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PROGRAM COOPERATION  

Supports Goals 1, 2 and 4 

• DC and OTU are developing and exploring an embedded bridge pathway between the 
Electromechanical, Electronics, and Mechanical Engineering Technology diplomas and the 
Manufacturing Engineering degree. 

• DC and OTU are exploring ways to collaborate on a degree between the institutions. 
Advertising and Marketing Communications and Public Relations are being considered. The 
objective is to create a new degree (120 credits) that will award a 2-year DC diploma and a 
4-year Honours Baccalaureate from Ontario Tech. 

• Campus Conflict Mediation Services operates at both DC and OTU. 

• DC partners with Ontario Tech and Victim Services of Durham Region on activities for the 
National Day of Remembrance & Action on Violence against Women. 

• DC partnered with OTU and Kimberly Black for the Kimberly Black Scholarship Walk / Run. 

APPLIED RESEARCH 

Supports Goals 3 and 4  

• DC and OTU researchers are collaborating on projects funded by the College and 
Community Social Innovation Fund: 
 

o Raising Resilient Families: Empowering Parents with Cognitive Challenges 
(Ontario Tech graduate student) 

o Innovation Through Co-production: A holistic approach to supporting social 
competency in pre-school children (faculty collaborator) 

o Enriching firefighter training through the development of a novel virtual reality 
training simulation for personalized precision skill and resilience training (faculty 
collaborators); also funded by Mitacs. 
 

• OTU and DC have representation on the Best Start Network: Research and Knowledge 
Mobilization Sub-Committee, co-chaired by a DC faculty member and a Regional staff 
member.  
 

• A Mitacs application was submitted and approved for a project with the Region of 
Durham involving interns from both institutions. This project is an enhancement to one 
of the funded College and Community Innovation Fund projects. 
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• DC and OTU employees and the Spark Centre have collaborated over the past five years 
on the provincially funded Autonomous Vehicle and Innovation Network and are 
presently working together on a proposal for the follow-on Ontario Vehicle Innovation 
Network initiative. 

• OTU’s library staff are members of DC’s newly formed Research Data Management 
working group, providing support for the college’s development of related policies and 
practices. 

• DC and OTU are parties to a reciprocal Board of Record agreement, in which 
collaborative minimal research involving human participants is reviewed and approved 
by the Research Ethics Board of the lead researcher. 

FASTSTART 

Supports Goal 4 

• There is regular communication between the two entrepreneurship centres around 
sharing opportunities for students from both institutions, including the Digital Challenge 
for Rural Canada in August 2021.  
 

• FastStart manager regularly attends the monthly Durham Entrepreneurship Ecosystem 
Forum (DEEF) community meetings organized by Ontario Tech. 

• There is collaboration with the School of Business, IT & Management, and the Campus 
Librarian to share events, create an Entrepreneurship Research Guide, and deliver a 
session in early 2022 on resources available to student entrepreneurs. 

SHARED SERVICES  

Supports Goals 2 and 3 

• A Joint Service Management Agreement results in Durham College and Ontario Tech 
collaborating and cooperating in the sharing of a number of services in ITS, facilities, 
security, library, residence, health and safety, and the annual budget creation and 
financial reconciliation of shared services and resources.   
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ORIENTATION AND STUDENT LIFE   

Supports Goal 2 and 4 

• The Office of Equity, Division and Inclusion works with the Equity and Inclusion Office at 
Ontario Tech University to host various events intended to raise awareness about 
gender-based violence and sexual health, including 16 days of Activism against gender-
based violence, Let’s talk sex series (summer and current semester), and Share session: 
focus on consent (current semester) 

• Recreation/athletics collaborate in many opportunities, events, and facility 
improvements (e.g., Vaso Field, basketball dressing rooms). 

• The Mental Health Outreach program is jointly funded by the Residence, OTU, and DC. 

• The DC Student Development team works with the OTU Student Life team to co-
ordinate space/time for fall orientation programming. 

• DC and OTU student governments cohost social events on campus when possible. 

CAREER DEVELOPMENT 

Supports Goal 4  

• Institutions host a joint job fair and a further education expo each fall. 

• DC and OTU co-ordinate on-campus employer visits when the organization wants to hire 
both college and university graduates.  

HEALTH SERVICES  

Supports Goal 2 and 4  

• All medical services are offered to both DC and OTU students, including the following 
programs: 

o International Wellness Check-up programs 

o Mental Health Screening 

o Mental Health focused funded projects – Better Together Series (in collaboration 
with Ontario Shores Centre for Mental Health Sciences)  

o Cognitive Behavioural Therapy (CBT) and Dialectical Behavioural Therapy (DBT) 
projects are offered to students on campus in collaboration with Ontario Shores 
Centre for Mental Health Sciences 
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COVID-19 RESPONSE  

Supports Goal 4 

• We established a joint operations committee early in the pandemic, which meets 
weekly to resolve various COVID-19 related issues for both institutions.  

• DC and OTU staff and leadership worked together to develop a COVID-19 screening app.  

• Collaborated on a joint lease agreement to host a mass immunization centre on campus. 
Partnered with Durham Region and Lakeridge Health.   

• Created a rapid testing clinic to serve the entire campus community  

• DC and OTU staff collaborated with the Ministry of Colleges and Universities to create a 
procurement process to obtain COVID-19 related personal protective equipment quickly  

INTERNATIONAL  

Supports Goal 2  

• Joint offers of admission are given to international students to study at DC and Ontario 
Tech for their English language institute. 

SENIOR LEADERSHIP AND GOVERNANCE  

Supports Goal 2  

• Each member of DC and OTU’s senior leadership teams meet regularly with their 
respective counterpart to discuss and resolve any issues that affect both institutions.  

• Co-populous governors help ensure open lines of communication between boards. 
Currently, no co-populous governor sits on the OTU board.  

• Board chairs maintain an open line of communication, and joint board meetings are held 
bi-annually.   
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Ministry of Colleges and Universities 

u Ii oll ges 

Twenty-four publicly assisted colleges in Ontario 

annually offer over 3,000 certificate, diploma, degree 

and apprenticeship programs to almost 350,000 stu­

dents in fields such as applied arcs, technology and 

business. The objective of public colleges is to provide 

career-oriented education and training to help students 

gain employment, meet the needs of employers, 

and support the social and economic development 

of communities. 

Public colleges are Crown agencies, established 

under the Ontario Colleges of Applied Arts and Tech­
nology Act, 2002. The Ministry of Colleges and 

Universities (Ministry) sets oul binding policy direc­

tives, operating procedures and other requirements 

for public colleges to follow. Each college is governed 

by a board of governors, which is accountable to the 

government for their legislated mandate, successful 

achievement of goals consistent with government pri­

orities, and for prudent financial management. 

In 2020/21, the Ministry provided grant-based 

funding to public colleges totall ing $1.6 billion. Public 

colleges also received revenue from other sources 

such as tuition fees, federal and provincial grants 

(such as employment services grants), ancillary 

revenue and donations. In 2020/21, the total reven ue 

of Onta rio's public colleges was $5.1 billion. 

Our audit found that the public colleges' collect­

ive net assets (assets remaining after their liabilities) 

increased $1.22 billion (62%) over the past four years 

prior to 2020/21. While this increase supports the 

sector's financial health, it has been pdmarily due to 

a significant reliance on international student enrol­

ment to subsidize the provincial costs of domestic 

students' education and colleges' administrative and 

capital expenditures. Direct provincial funding per 

full-time-equivalent domestic public college student 

in Ontario for 2018/19 was the lowest in Canada. 

Between 2012/13 and 2020/21, public coUeges 

experienced a 15% decline in domestic student enrol­

ments but a 342% growth in international student 

enrolments, with 62% (2020/21) of international 

students coming from India. The decrease in domes­

tic students has mainly been due to a change in the 

demographics of Ontario's population, and high­

school graduates pursuing university over college 

education. About 30% (104,937) of all (348,350) stu­

dents enrolled in public colleges in Ontario in the fall 

of 2020 were international students. 

The increase in international students was influ­

enced by prospective students viewing Canada as 

an attractive destination to study in and enrolling in 

Canadian post-secondary institutions as a pathway 

for immjgration. International students in the public 

college sector contribute to locaJ economics th rough 

spending, increase the diversity of colleges and local 

communities, and can help regions meet future labour 

demands where the local demographics are unable to 

meet employer needs. 

Despite these benefits, a high reliance on inter­

national student enrolment by public colleges poses 

risks outside of the Ministry's and the public college 

sector's control, such as Lhe potential loss of a large 

number of students if individuals from one country 

were to suddenly not be able to obtain study visas or 

otherwise be restr icted from entering Canada. We 
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found that domestic students continue to have access 

to public college programs along with international 

sLudent growth; however, the Ministry has not 

assessed how the high reliance on international stu­

dents may impact the entiJe public college sector over 

the long term. 

Partnerships between public colleges and private 

providers for the delivery of public college programs 

(public-private college pattnerships) have existed 

in Ontario since at least 2005 and are unique in 

Canada. Ilowcver, these have s ignificantly expanded 

in the last two years. /1.s of June 2021, 11 public 

colleges had partnered with a total of 12 for-profit 

private career co!Jeges. We fo und that the Ministry's 

oversight of these public-private college partnerships 

has not been effective. For example, the Ministry 

did not act w hen certain public colleges exceeded 

the Ministry's enrolment limits at their partner-

ship campuses and has not put in place compliance 

mechanisms. Although not under the purview of the 

Ministry, we a lso found that the quality assurance 

processes were not reviewed in a timely manner after 

these partnerships formed. 

New Strategic Mandate Agreements were signed 

between the Ministry and each public college. The 

purpose is, in pa rt, to increase accountability and 

iocentivize colleges to invest in initiatives that have 

positive labour market outcomes and encourage each 

college's specialization. Colleges arc measured against 

their own targets, which is a calculation that includes 

an average of their historical performance. Based on 

the target-setting formula, we found instances where 

some targets were set lower than rhc previous year's 

targets, despite some colleges exceeding perform­

ance in the previous year. As well, COVID-J9 funding 

was provided to public colleges based on projected 

revenue decreases due to rhe pandemic, but we found 

that two colleges that received funding actually 

saw an increase in revenue in the year that funding 

was received. 

'lwo external organizations assess the quality of 

programs offered by Ontario colleges, in addi tion 

to other regulatory bodies that provide accredit­

ation, such as the Colleges of Nurses of Ontario for 

nursing programs. The Ontario College Quality 

Assurance Service and the Postsecondary Educa-

tion Quality Assessment Board conduct independent 

quality reviews of non-degree and degree pro-

grams, respectively. The Minist,,y relies on these 

entities to ensure that public colleges offer quality 

programs. According to the most recent quality assur­

ance audits of the 24 public colleges, all of them met 

or partially met the six quali ty assurance standards 

established by the Ontario College Quality Assurance 

Service. As well, since 2008 the Postsecondary Educa­

tion Quality Assessment Board has not recommended 

that the Minister deny consent for any public college 

degree programs due to quali ty concerns. 

At the public college level, we found that most 

programs offered by rhe public college sector a re 

gene.rally aligned with Ontario's projected job market 

n eeds. From 2016/ 17 to 201 9/20, depending on the 

college attended, 59.2% to 88.5% of graduates from 

a n Ontario public college found full-time employ­

ment in a related field six months after graduation. /1.s 

well, from 2015 to 2019, 89.6% co 92.5% of employ­

ers surveyed by a firm contracted by the Ministry were 

satisfied or very satisfied with their employees' college 

preparation for their role. However, we found that 

significant delays in the Ministry's program approval 

process is hindering colleges' abiliLy to respond 

quickly to markeL needs. Furrher, we found that board 

governance of public colleges could be strengthened 

in areas such as board member tra ining, conflict of 

interest processes a nd board evaluations. 

Some of our significant audit find ings include: 

lnternallonal Students 
• Public colleges are Increasingly teliant on tuition 

fees from international students to remain 

financially sustainable. In 2020/21, public col­

leges received a total of $1. 7 billion i.n tuition 

fees from international students, enrolled at both 

their home and public-private co!Jege partnership 

campuses, which represented 68% of colleges' 

total tuition fee revenue. Meanwhile, international 

student enrolment represented 30% of the total 

student enrolment. We found that some colleges' 
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positive financial position was mainly due to inter­

national student enrolment. 

Jn 2017 /18, for the first time, international 

student tuition revenue exceeded domestic student 

tuition revenue. We found that the Ministry hai; 

not developed a strategic plan for tl,e sector to help 

mitigate the risk of a sudden decline in international 

students and the impact it could have on the college 

sector, students and government. We noted that 
public colleges have relied on international student 

tu ition fees not only for their operating financial 

sustainability but also for funding expenditures for 

capital improvements to their facilities. 

Limited college oversight of international 

st1.1de11t recruitment agencies. Public colleges 

use many recruitment agencies with offices 

located around the world to atb·act international 

students. Our in-depth review of four selected col­

leges found that none of them have established a 

formal policy to guide the selection and removal of 

recruitment agencies, and that they have limited 

oversight of their third-party agencies to confirm 

whether those agencies are providing services 

with honesty and integrity. For these four public 

colleges, we reviewed a sample of 100 of their 

contracted international recrui tment agencies and 

reviewed those agencies' websites. We found that 

while the significant majority (93) of them pre­

sented accurate information, seven agencies made 

misleading claims. Examples of misleading claims 

were related to the visa approval process, such 

as ensuring "100% success," providing "visa 

assurance" a nd guaranteeing scores on the 

International English Language Testing. Such mis­

leadLng advertisemeitt can create a repucational 

risk for the public college sector as a whole. 

Publ lc-Pf'lvate College Partnerships 
Under public-private college partnership agreements, 

public colleges provide their curriculum to the ir 

private career college partner. Public colleges retain a 

portion of the fees paid by each international student 

enrolled in programs delivered by the private partner. 

The privale career college partner hires instructors 
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who deliver the public college curriculum, provides 

facilities for students, and manages the day-to-day 

operations at rhc partnership campus. Students who 

graduate from programs delivered by the private 

career partner colleges obtain a public college creden­

tial issued by the public college. 

These partnerships are financially attrac tive 

to public colleges, particularly t hose in northern 

areas or smaller communities. ror these public col­

leges, having a private career college partner with 

campuses in a large, urban centre such as the Greater 

Toronto Area, w here most international snidents 

prefer to study, means gaining an additional source 

of revenue from increased international student 

enrolment. Under existing federal government immi­

gration policy, international students who graduate 

from a public college are eligible for the Post-Gi-adua­

tion Work Permit Program. As such these partnerships 

a re very beneficial for private career colleges since 

graduates from private career colleges are otherwise 

not eligible for the program. If this immigration policy 

were changed to allow graduates of private career 

colleges to obta in these permits, there would be little 

reason for them to maintain their partnerships with 

public colleges. Our significant findings related to 

public-private college partnerships include: 

• Five of the six public colleges with private 

college partners could have incurred operat­

ing deficits had they not received international 

s tudent tuition partnership revenue in 

2019/20. S.ix public colleges with private career 

college partners entered into these partner-

ships prior to December 2019. We analyzed 

the financial information from these colleges 

and found that, in 2019/20 alone, five of them 

(Cambrian, Canadore, Lambton, Northem, and 

St. Lawrence) could have incurred an ann ual 

deficit had they not received partnership 

revenue, all other f~ctors being equal. 

• The Mlnisa:y did not take timely action to 

ensure compliance with the Public College­

Private Partnerships Minister's Binding Policy 

Directive (Partnerships Directive). Issued 

in December 2019, the Partnerships Directive 
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stipulates that the maximum international student 

enrolment across all private career college partner 

campuses cannot exceed twice tJ1e amount of 

international student enrolment at the public 

college's home campus(es) (also known as the 

2:l enrolment ratio requirement). Contrary to 

the Partnerships Directive, the Ministry has not 

assessed the public colleges' compliance with 

the enrolment requirements. The Partnerships 

Directive also states that if the requirement is not 

met, the public college must submit an enrolment 

plan specifying how and when the ratio will be 

achieved; however, it does not impose a submis­

sion deadline for these plans. Our assessment 

found that in. fall 2020, five of the six partnerships 

(Cambrian, Canadore, Lambton, Northern, and 

St. Lawrence) exceeded the required thresh-

old, but only three of the five submitted an 

enrolment plan to the Ministry. As of August 

20211 the Ministry had not followed up with the 

other two colleges that did not submit a plan 

(Cambrian and St. Lawrence). 

Most public-private career college partnerships 

and their programs have not yet been subject 

to an independent quality assurance audlt. The 

Ontario College Quality Assurance Service con­

ducts th ird-party quality assurance audits of 

public colleges, i11cluding their policies overseeing 

private partners, on a five-year cycle. The quality 

assurance audit standards for public colleges were 

updated in May 2019 to include an additional 

requirement to audit the quality assurance pro­

cesses at public-private college partnerships. Prior 

to th.is update, there was no requirement ro audit 

the quality assurance processes at p ublic-private 

college partnerships, but one college (Cambrian) 

did have a partnership program included in 

iLs 2019 audit prior to the requirement. Eleven 

partnerships currently exist; six of them were 

established between 2005 and 2015. Only two of 

these (Lambron and St. Clair) have been subject 

to the quality assurance audit since the audit 

standards for public colleges were updated in 

2019. Depending on the last date at which the 

public colleges were audited, we found that the 

five-year cycle means that some public colleges 

with partnerships will not be audited against 

the new standards until 2026. ln addition, -vve 

found tha t the Ontario College Quality Assurance 

Service does not obtain certafa audit information 

d irecrly from the privace career college part-

ners, and that it does not always select a program 

offered at the partnership campus for audit. 

• Two pru·tnerships operating in British Columbia 

conflict with Ontario's objectives and avoid 

certain legjsJative requirements in British 

Columbia . Two public colleges have partnerships 

with private career colleges in Br.itish Columbia. 

These public colleges a re nor certified under 

the British Columbia Private Traini11gAct. Trus 

certification would normally be required for 

out-of-province public institutions to operate in 

the province. However, due to Lhe partnership 

agreement in place, only the private partner is 

certified. Under British Columbia's legislative 

framework, when the private partner presents 

a new program that has been developed by the 

Ontario public college for approval, the BC Min­

istry of Advanced Education and Skills Training 

indicated thal it does not have the authority 

to rake the partnership arrangement into con­

sideration to approve or deny the program, even if 

concerns exist. 

Ministry's Funding Allocation 
• Ontario provides the lowest amount of funding 

for full-time domestic s tudents of all Canadian 

provinces. In 2018/19 (the most recent data 

available), Ontario provided public colleges 

with under $10,000 per full-time equivalent 

student. This is the lowest amount compared with 

all other provinces. 

• Performance-based targets used to allocate 

Ministry funding can be set lower than previ­

ous year's targets, despite colleges exceeding 

performance in the previous year. In the 

2020- 2025 Strategic Mandate Agreements, the 

Ministry set targets for each public college across 
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lO metrics based on an agreed-upon formula using 

the college's pasc_performance results. Ministt·y 

funding wil l be based on the colleges' achieve­

ments toward these metrics starting 2022/23 

(originally 2020/21, but implementation was 

postponed due to COVJD-19). Our analysis found 

that the four colleges we reviewed in-depth 

achieved their targets for 2020/21 on eight 

meo-ics. However, three colleges (Loyalist, Sault 

and St. Clair) had 2021/22 targets for these 

metrics set lower than the 2020/21 targets due to 

the way the targets are calculated. 

• COVID-19 funding was provided to public col­

leges based on projected revenue decreases 

due to the pandemic, but two colleges that 

received funding actually saw an jncrease in 

revenue and annua l s urplus. The Ministry pro­
vided $62.4 million of funding to 12 of the 24 

public colleges in March 2021 that it calculated to 

be most impacted by tl1e COVID-19 pandemic. The 

purpose of the fund ing was to help these colleges 

manage the decline in their revenue and increased 

costs caused by the pandemic for eligible expendi­

tures between July 1, 2020 to June 30, 2021. Five 

colleges (Canadore, Georgian, Niagara, North­

ern and St. Lawrence) deferred a total of $14.7 
million to use in the foUowing fiscal year as they 

did not uLilize the full amount allocated to them 

in 2020/21. Two of these colleges (Canad ore and 

Northern) h ad an increase in their total revenue 

and their annual surplus in 2020/21 compared to 

their operations in 2019/20, despite rhe impact of 

COVID-19. 
• Ministry's a llocation of capital funding to 

p ublic colleges does not take into consideration 

the level of deferred mainte nance and state 

of repair. In 2013, the MinisLry commissioned 

an assessment report on the condition of public 

college facilities. Over a subsequent five-year 

period, the Ministry funded 4% of one college's 

$94.7 million of assessed deferred maintenance 

needs, compared to 56% of another college's 

$5.7 million. The allocation of capital renewal 

fu nding is based on the public colleges' domestic 
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enrolment levels, but does not factor ifl deferred 

maintenance and state of repair needs. 

Public Colleges' Program Oversight 
• Ministry standat'ds for public college 

non-degree programs are either outdated or 

non-existent. The Ministry establishes program 

standards that outline minimum requirements 

for learning outcomes and employability skills 

for college graduates in each particular field 

of study. As of May 2021, 36 or 24% of the 

147 program standards had not been updated 

within the Ministry's intended five- to 10-year time 

frame. Thirty-one of the 36 program standa rds 

were u pdated between J J and 14 years ago. The 

remaining five programs were last updated 

over 18 years ago, and 3,456 students were 

enrolled in tl1esc programs in 2019/20 across all 

24 public colleges. 
• Delay in program approvals by the Ministry 

hinders public colleges' ability to respond 

quickly to ma rket needs. If a public college is 

seeking Ministt·y fu nding for a program that is 

being offered, it must receive approval from the 

Minislry. Degree programs must receive min­

isterial consent. The Ministry has established 

internal timelines for this process: non-degree 

program approvals should be completed within 

three months and ministerial consent for degrees 

is to be granted within six months of the submis­

sion date to the Ministry. We found that, between 

April 2020 and March 2021, non-degree programs 

took on average six months to receive approval; of 

this time, the submission was delayed at the Min­

ister's office for just over two months. For degree 

programs, s ince the six-month t imeline was imple­

mented in December 2019, the approvals have 

taken on average eight months from the submis­

sion date. The Ministry advised our Office that 

many factors have contributed to delayed program 

approval$, including additional follow-up required 

from colleges, staff turnover, as well as delays at 

the Minister's office. 
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Governance at Public Colleges 
• Governance oversight practices can be 

stl'engthened by improving training, conflict 

of interest processes and perfoi-mance 

evaluations. The Ministry's Protocol for Board 

Nominations and Appointments requires public 

college boards to ensure that new board members 

participate in Colleges Ontario's orientation 

sessions, and that they provide ongoing develop­

ment activities to their members. I lowever, at the 

four colleges we reviewed, we found that not all 

external (Lieutenant Governor in Council and 

board-appointed) board members had attended 

the orientation sessions. Further, we found that 

although all four colleges had conflict of interest 

policies, none required board members co com­

plete an annual Confl ict ofinterest Declaration 

Form and it is not requ.iTed by the Ministry. fn 

addition, our review found that only two of the 

four colleges conducted board evaJuations (in 

2019/20 and 2020/21) in compliance with the 

Governance and Accountability Frameworlc 

Minister's Binding Policy Directive. 

This report contains 26 recommendations, with 

53 action items, to address our audit findings. While 

some recommendations within our report are directed 

specifically to the public colleges we reviewed in-depth, we 

encourage all public colleges to implement the recom­

mendations that may also be applicable to them. 

Overall Conclusion 
Our audit concluded that graduates from the 24 

public colleges are receiving an education that 

prepa res them for the future, as the degree and non­

degree programs offered by colleges are aligned 

with Ontario's projected job market needs. However, 

we found that while the Ministry is responsible for 

approving public college programs for funding and 

granting consent for degree programs, s ignjficant 

delays in the Ministry's program approval process is 

hindering the colleges' abili ty to launch programs 

in a timely manner for student enrolment. As well, 

we found that many of the Ministry standards 

for non-degree programs are either outdated or 

non-existent. 

Further, we found that Ontario public colleges 

have experienced a significant increase in international 

student enrolment over the past decade and rhar the 

sector telics on international students for its financial 

sustainability. The Ministry lacks a formal and com­

prehensive long-term strategy and action plan to 

sufficiently mitigate the risks this high reliance on 

international sL1.1denc enrolments poses to the public 

college sector. As well, the Ministry does not monitor 

student application data for oversubscribed programs 

to confirm domestic students continue to h ave access 

to public colleges. 

The Ministry has estabHshed a comprehensive 

policy framework for the public college sector, and 

several Minister's Binding Policy Directives outline 

clear roles and responsibilities. However, we found 

that the Ministry does not have sufficient oversight to 

confirm public colleges' compliance with the enrol­

ment requirements of the Partnerships Directive 

which governs the arrangements of public colleges 

who enter into a partnership with a private career 

college. At the time of our audit, the Ontario model 

of public-private college partnerships was unique in 

Canada. In addition, we found that most public-pri­

vate college partnerships and their programs have not 

yet been subject to an independent quality assurance 

audit. These audits are conducted to confirm that 

t he public colleges have processes in place to ensure 

programs offered by their partners are delivered 

in accordance with the curriculum and by guaLi• 

fled ins1-ructors. 

The Min istry funds a portion of public colleges' 

operating funding based on tJ1e colleges' perform­

ance. However, we concluded that the Ministry's 

performance target-setting process and metrics 

used do not always encourage colleges to improve 

their performance every year. As well, some 

metrics encourage a continued reliance on inter­

national srudent enrolment and public-private 

college partnerships. 

Further, based on our review of four selected 

public colleges, we found tha t these colleges had 
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limited oversight of the many international student 

recruitment agencies with which they contract. For 

example, we found instances of misleading advertise­

ments by some recruitment agencies that could create 

a reputational risk for the public college system as 

a whole. 

We concluded that governance practices of public 

college boards can be strengthened by better aligning 

with leading governance practices on board member 

training, conflict of interest processes and perform­

ance evaluations. 

Finally, we generally found that public colleges' 

financial statements arc prepared in accordance 

with Canadian public sector accounting stan-

dards. However, the timeliness of the reporting of 

these financial statements to the Ministry and the 

public, as well as the disclosure in the financial state­

ments and annual reports, require improvements 

to comply with the Ministry's operating procedures 

and to better serve the needs of decision-makers and 

financial statement users by increasing disclosures 

about p ublic-private college partnerships. 

I OVERALL MINISTRY RESPONSE 

Ontario's 24 colleges of applied ans and technology 

play a vital role in providing high-quality post-sec­

ondary education to students at campuses across 

the province, helping them prepare for jobs and 

supporting the economic and social development 

of communities. 

College Boa rds of Governors have consider­

able autonomy in setting strategic direction and 

mal<.ing decisions to ensure that colleges are effect­

ively and appropriate ly managed to achieve their 

mandate. The Ministry of Colleges and Universities 

is responsible for post-secondruy education out­

comes as a whole and supports the post-secondary 

sector by issuing policy direction, distributing provin­

cial funds to publicly-assisted institutions, providing 

student financial assistance and supporting 

research. The Ministry welcomes the opportunity 

to strengthen its policies and processes to support 
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the achievement of goals consistent with govern­

ment priorities for colleges. 

Ontario's post-seconda1y sector has undergone 

an unprecedented shift in response to the COVJD-19 

pandemic; colleges have had to adapt in order to 

continue meeting the needs of students, faculty, and 

Ontarians across the province. The pandemic has 

brought to light underlying issues, including colleges' 

focus on international student enrolment, while 

exacerbating others, such as lengthy timelines in 

program approvals. 

The Ministry is aware of some of the key 

challenges and issues outlined in this report 

and is committed to supporting a more innova­

tive, sustainable and responsive post-secondary 

education system to fuel Ontario's global com­

petitiveness as we move forward during this 

challenging time. 

The Ministry thanks the Auditor General 

and her team for the report. We look forward to 

next steps. 

I OVERALL RESPONSE Of THE FOUR 
SELECTED PUBLIC COLLEGES 

The Auditor General's report has shined a timely 

spotlight on the issue of the inadequate financial 

support of the coHege sector in Ontario. At the 

heart of the issue of the growth of international 

enrolment is chronic and historical under­

funding by the provincial government, clearly 

demonstrated by the comparison of funding 

levels across Canada. As the Auditor General's 

figu res show, Ontario's colleges are underfunded 

by thousands of dollars per student compared to 

other provinces. 

Unfortunately, this is not new. But years of 
inadequate provincial funding and challenging 

demographics have been compounded by the gov­

ernment's 10% tuition fee reduction, followed by a 

tuition fee freeze. The result is that colleges cannot 

survive on domestic student enrolment alone and 

have increasingly turned to international enrol­

ment as a source of revenue. 
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However, Ontar.ians should be proud that 

our publicly assisted colleges have become a 

leading global destinalion for international stu­

dents. Many of those students are seeking notjusl 

a Canadian post-secondary education, but also 

an opportunity to start a new life and career in 

Canada. Colleges play a critical role in developing 

a highly skiJled workforce, the critical underpin­

ning to a strong recovery from the pandemic 

and beyond. 

We agree with the Auditor General that 

diversification of international enrolment is an 

important strategy for colleges and efforts are 

already under way across rhe system. 

As well, we welcome recommendations to 

streamline the Minisn·y's program approvals 

process, helping colleges respond quickly to the 

rapidly evolving needs of the workplace. For the 

same reason, we are seeking reforms to the cre­

dential framework that would give colleges more 

flexibility in the kinds of programs we offer to 

meet the needs of our students and employers. 

2.1 Public Colleges In Ontario 
There are 24 publicly assisted colleges of applied arts 

and technology established under the Ontario Col­
leges of Applied Arts and Technology Act, 2002 (Act). 

Twenty-one were fou nded in the mid- to lace-60sj 

one was established in 1972 and two Jlrench-language 

colleges were established in the 1990s. See Appendix 1 

for a map of the public colleges' main campuses across 

Ontario. In 2020/21, the total full- and part-time 

student enrolment in Ontario public colleges was 

348,350, or a 13% increase from 309,120 in 2012/ 13. 

Enrolment size ranges across public co!Jeges, from 2,302 

students at Boreal Oocated in Sudbury) to 36,940 

at Seneca (located in North York). Figure 1 lists the 

public colleges by location, enrolment and revenue 

in 2020/21 . Appendix 2 shows the enrolm ent u·ends 

between 2016/17 and 2020/21 by public college. In 

the four years prior to the COVJD-19 pandemic, total 

enrolment increased by 11%; Boreal had a decrease of 

4% and Lambton increased by 48%. 

Under the Act, rhe objective of p ublic colleges 

is to offer a comprehensive program of career-ori­

en ted, post-secondary education and training that : 

• assists individuals in finding and 

keeping employment; 

• meets the needs of employers and the changing 

work environment; and 

• supports the economic and social development of 

local and diverse communities. 

Public colleges offer programs in six fields: applied 

arts, technology, business, health sciences, human 

services (for example, Early Childhood Education) 

and hospitality and tourism. Over 3,000 programs 

across these fields are eligible fo r funding from 

the Ministry of Colleges and Universities (Min-

istry). Figure 2 provides the number of programs 

approved for Ministry funding and offered in each 

field between 2016 and 2020. 

Students can obtain an Ontario College Certifi­

cate, Ontario College Diploma, Ontario College 

Advanced Diploma or Ontario College Graduate 

Certificate in these fields (see Appendix 3 for a glos­

sary of terms). The Post-seconda,y Education Choice 
and Excellence Act, 2000 allows public colleges to 

offer baccalaureate degree programs once they 

have received minfaterial consent. Public colleges 

are limited in the number of degree programs that 

they may offer depending on their designation as an 

Institute ofTechnology and Advanced Learning. Five 

colleges have this designation (Conestoga, George 

Brown, Humber, Seneca, and Sheridan) and so are 

permitted to offer up to 15% of their programming 

in bachelor degrees; the remaining public colleges 

are limited to 5%. Figure 3 shows the enrolment in 

degree and non-degree programs across all colleges. 

Twenty colleges offer bachelor's degree programs in 

collaboration with universities, and 14 of these col­

leges offer honours bachelor's degree programs in areas 

such as nmsing. 
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Figure 1: Public Colleges - Location (Region in Ontario and City/Town), 1 Enrolment and Revenue, 2020/21 
Source of data: Ministry of Colle(!es and Universities 

Domestic International 
Students Students 

Central Region (Greater Toronto Area) 

Seneca3 (1967) North York 26,077 10,863 

Humber (1967) Toronto 24,837 5,606 

George Brown ( 1967) Toronto 22,536 6,328 

Sheridan (1967) Oakville 18,160 6,322 

Centennial (1966) Toronto 11,731 8,328 

Durham (1967) Oshawa 13,555 1,646 

Central Region (Non-Greater Toronto Area) 

Conestoga (1967) Kitchener 13,591 9,484 

Mohawk (1966) Hamilton 13,755 3,288 

Georgian ( 19 67) Barrie 11,437 3,726 

Niagara (1967) Welland 7,448 2,697 

North Region 

Cambrian (1967) Sudbury 3,508 4,541 

Canadore (1972) North Bay 2,772 5,237 

Northern ( 1967) Timmins 1,143 4,692 

Confederation ( 1967) Thunder Bay 2,599 560 

Sault3 (1965) Sault Ste. Marie 1,750 1,149 

Bo real ( 1995) Sudbury 2,151 151 

East Region 

Algonquin (1967) Nepean 21,699 3,384 

St. Lawrence (1967) Kingston 5,872 4,546 

Fleming (1967) Peterborough 5,349 1,351 

La Cite ( 1990) Ottawa 4,388 1,093 

Loyallst3 (1967) Belleville 3,169 1,460 

South-West Region 

Fanshawe (1967) London 15,703 5,433 

St. Clair3 (1966) Windsor 7,599 6,739 

Lambton (1969) Sarnia 2,584 6,313 

Total 243,413 104,937 

1. Most colleges have more than one campus. Across the public college sector. 188 campuses arc located .In 89 cities and towns. 

442.92 

466.51 

358.77 

350.87 

343.04 

185.14 

338.95 

232.20 

208.39 

167.27 

99.89 

141.82 

69.68 

86.26 

79.40 

78.53 

339.85 

126.70 

127.96 

109.07 

88.75 

315.07 

237.96 

104.42 

5,099.42 

2. The data represents fall 2020 full- and part-Umo enrolmenL As a result of tho global pandemic, the majority of domestic and International students studied 
romotely due to travel resllicUons and llmltaUons on the sl2e of Indoor gathe~ngs artecUng campuses. Too detailed breakdown of the number of students that 
studied remotely Is not readily available. 

3. Public colleges that were selected for detailed review. 
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Figure 2: Number of Public College Programs Approved for Ministry Funding by Program Field, 2016-2020 
Source of data: Ministry of Colleges and Universities 

Applied Ms 835 887 922 939 982 
Technology 725 748 784 816 874 
Business 635 671 701 723 771 
Health Sciences 322 332 340 349 376 
Human Services (e.g., Early Childhood Education) 102 116 122 130 141 
Hospitality and Tourism 105 111 114 118 122 

Total Approved for Funding• 2,724 2,865 2,983 3,075 3,266 

• Each or lho totals represents the totDI number of runded programs orrered across all 24 public colleges. II several colleges off or the same progrnm, this Is counted 
mullple Umt!s. As well, public colleges may offer programs they fund full), from their tulUon revenue, called •unfunded programs.• lhe Ministry does not provide 
funding ror tho enrolment of domestic students In these unfunded programs. These programs may bo targeted towards lnternoUonol students, or In situations where 
the college expects a strong market demand and seeks to offer these programs promptly, without roquesllng Ministry rundlna. Colleges may decide 10 lo tor apply 
for Ministry funding for these programs. Domestic students registered In these programs are not ellgible to, the Ontario Student Assistant Progrorn. Between 2016 
and 2020, tho numbor of unr11nded programs ranged between 23 and 78 each year. Global Buslnoss Management Is an example of an unfunded progrnrn. 

Figure 3: Full-time Enrolment in Degree and Non-Degree Programs at Public Colleges, 2020/21 
Source of data: Ministry of Colleges and UnlvorslUcs 

# % 

Degree 20,891 12 

Non-Degree 156,412 88 

Depending on the credential being obtained by a 

student, a public college program typicaJly takes one 

or two years co complete, and colleges generally 

offer programs of study that are career-focused. 

Comparatively, university undergraduate degrees 

typically take four years to complete and the educa­

tion provided is typically more academic-focused. 

Unlike private career colleges, which are privately 

operated businesses, public colleges are funded in part 

by the provincial government and must adhere to the 

Minisu·y's policies (see our audit on Private Career 

Colleges Oversight in our Office's 2021 Annual Report). 

2.1.1 Student Enrolment and Recruitment 

Over the past decade, from 2012/13 (earliest data 

available) to 2020/21, the public college sector has 

seen a decrease in domestic student enrolment, whHe 

# % # % 

2,863 3 23,1s4 I 9 

93,355 97 249,767 91 

international student enrolment has substantially 

increased (Figure 4). Specifically, domestic student 

enrolment (full- and part-time) at public colleges 

decreased by 15% from 285,368 students in 2012/13 
to 243,413 in 2020/21. Over that same period, inter­

national student enrolment increased 342% from 

23,752 students to 104,937. 
According to Statistics Canada, Ontario colleges 

admitted the largest number (65.3%) of international 

students of any province between 2015 and 2019, an 

increase from 34.7% between 2000 and 2004. 
The decline in Ontario public colleges' domestic 

student enrolments is partly due to a decline in the 

18-24 age cohort of the province's population and 

a shift in high-school graduates' preferences toward 

university over college-level education. For full ­

time domestic student enrolments, public colleges 

saw a decrease of 23,224 students from 2015/16 to 
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Figure 4: Enrolment at Public Colleges, Domestic and International Students, 2012/131- 2020/21 
Source or data: Ministry of Colleges and Unlversltlos 
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1. 2012/13 was the earliest data available with the level or detail required. 
2. Starung 111 2020/21, tho Ministry Improved enrolment data collection tor unfunded programs. This resulted In addltlonat enrolment reported for domt!SUc students 

(59} and lnternaUonal students (14,869), with International students represe11Ung the 1naJori1,y of this Increase as they are moro commonly registered In unfunded 
programs. This means that for all years prior to 2020/21, 1110 onrolmenl lor lnternaUonal students shown ore underrepotted. 

2020/21, while over that same period, public univer­

sities saw an increase of 11,567 students. 

In the Ministry of Finance's 2020 demographic 

trend analysis and future projections, the 18-29 age 

cohort of Ontario's population is expected to 

increase, but this wil l be largely driven by immi­

gration, including through international students. 

(Section 4.1 discusses the growth of international 

student enrolment and its impact on the public 

college sector.) 

Each public college is responsible for recruiting its 

own students. For domestic recruim1ent, public col­

leges typically have staff who attend career fairs, high 

school events, and create social media adverlis-

ing. For international students, public colleges use 

a combination of recruitment agencies and direct 

recruitment to ato·act potential students to study in 
Ontario. Agencies, who recruit the majority of inter­

national students, work on a commission contract 

basis and are located both in Canada and in. the target 

countty. College staff decide whom to engage as an 

agent, oversee and provide advice or guidance to 

agents, and approve promotional materials created 

by agents. 

2.2 Ministry Responslbllity and 
Oversight 
2.2.1 Setting the Policy Framework and 
Reporting Requirements 

The Ministry is responsible for setting out the policy 

framework for Ontario public colleges. This includes 

mandatory requirements and guidance documents 

that outline the roles, responsibilities and perform­

ance expectations of the colleges. Eleven Minister's 

Binding Policy Directives set out mini rn um expecta­

tions for public colleges. Ten Operating Procedures 

outline specific procedures that colleges must follow 

to comply with the Ontario Colleges of Applied Arts a11d 
Technology Act, 2002 (Act), its regulation and the Dir­

ectives (Appendix 4 shows a list of the Directives and 

their related Operating Procedures). 

2.2 .2 Funding Support for Public Colleges 

Ministry funding for the 24 public colleges consists 

of a core operating grant, a performance grant, 

special purpose grams and capital grants. In 2020/21, 

these grants amounted to $1.6 billion, with the 

largest percentage from the core operating grant 

(51 %), followed by special purpose grants (23%), 

AGENDA PAGE   97



performance-based grants (21 %) and capital grants 

(5%). Ministry funding supports college operation& so 

domestic tuition fees remain within a range to aUow 

students to access a college education. 

Public colleges also receive revenue from 

other sources including other Ontario ministry 

grams, tuJtion fees from domestic and international 

students, other student fees, contractual fees and 

other fees for service, and anciUary and other 

revenue. In 2020/21, the total revenue for aU public 

colleges was $5.1 biUion, an increase of 16% from 

$4.4 billion in 2016/17. 

The Min is try's core operating and performance­

based grants in 2020/21 represented 22% of the 

colleges' total revenue. That same year, the largest 

source of revenue (33%) came Crom tuition fees 

paid by international students. ln comparison, in 

2011/ 12, the core operating and performance­

based grants represented 29% of colleges' total 

revenue, while international student tuition fees 

represented 8%. Appendix 5 shows the breakdown 

of public colleges' total revenue for 2011/12 to 

2020/21 by revenue source. 

Based on the most recent data ava il-

able, in 2018/19 Ontario provided the lowest level 

of government funding- under $10,000-on a per 

full-time-equivalent student basis for its colleges com­

pared to all other Canadian provinces (Figure 5). 

The Ministry also provided two rounds of support 

fund ing in 2020 and 2021, tota lling $75.6 million, to 

help public colleges manage additional, unforeseen 

costs associated with the COVlD-19 pandemic 

(Section 4.4.1) . 

2,2.3 Ministry Oversight of Public Colleges' 
Financial Health 

The Minisny conducts annual reviews of interim and 

final financial statements submitted by the public col­

leges. As part of its review, the Ministry assesses each 

public college against seven financial health indica­

tors. lf a college does not meet the Ministry target for 

several of the indicators, the Ministry is to follow up 

with the public college for the reason the targets were 

not met and the college may be asked to submit finan­

cial information mor·e frequently so that the Ministry 

can monitor the coJlege's operations. 

l n our review of the Ministry's monitoring pro­

cesses, we found only two instances since 2014 where 

the Ministry identified colleges with weak financial 

indicators. We noted that the Ministry took actions to 

increase its monitoring efforrs and that both colleges' 

financial health has since improved. 

2.2.4 Strategic Mandate Agreements 

In September 2020, each public college signed a new 

Strategic Mandate Agreement with the Ministry. The 

Ministry changed its operational funding approach 

in the new agreements so that increases in the 

proportion of government fu nding are linked to col­

leges' achievement of performance-based outcomes. 

These bilateral agreements include the government's 

accountability and transparency objectives, as well 

as each college's priorities for the applicable period. 

The most recently signed agreements have a five­

year term, from 2020 to 2025. Appendix 6 provides 

details of the new agreements and lists the 10 pcr­

fonnance metrics established under the agreements. 

Since Ontario implemented this approach, Alberta 

has also begun to shift to a performance-based 

funding system for its post-secondary education 

system. Manitoba and New Brunswick have indicated 

an interest in adopting a similar system. 

The Ministry initially planned to apply the new 

performance-based funding approach lo up to 

25% of colleges' operating fu nding in 2020/21 and 

increase this up to 60% by 2024/ 25. These percent­

ages are significantly higher than the 1.2% prior to 

2020/21. However, due to COVID-19, the Ministry 

postponed implementing the new funding approach 

for two years (planned to sta rt in 2022/ 23) to 

provide the colleges greater financia l stability and 

allow for the pandemic's effects on the sector to be 

better understood. The Ministry plans to consult with 

public colleges starting in November 2021 Lo discuss 

COVJD-19 impacti. on men·ic performance. 
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Figure 5: Provincial Funding per Full-Time-Equlvalent1 Domestic Public College Student, 2018/192 

Prepared by the O[Jloo or lhe Auditor General of Ontario 
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1. In this flguro. "/ull•tlme equlvalcnf Is a mathcmoUcal approxlmnUon equal to rull-Umo students plus (part•bmc students/3.5). It does not menn octual full course 
load equivalents based on credits token. The methodology that our Office followed was slmllar to U1at used by Higher Educallon Strategy Assoclnlcs. 

2. 2018/ 19 data Is tho most recent year avolleble from SlatlsUcs Canada. 

2.2.5 Tuition Fees 

The Minislly, with Cabinet approval, regulates 

tuition fees for domestic students enrolling in public 

colleges. In 2020/21, annual tuition fees averaged 

$3,228 per domestic student, or 10% less than the 

average fees charged in 2018/19. The MinisLry 

announced the 10% domestic tuition fee reduction in 

January 2019 for the 2019/20 academic year. At the 

same time, it announced there would be no domestic 

tuition fee increases for the 2020/21 academic year. 

In April 2021, the Minislry extended the domestic 

tuition freeze to the 2021/22 academic year. 

For it1ternational students, Ministry policy gives 

public college boards full discretion to set tuition fees 

for programs as long as the year-over-year increases 

do not exceed 20% during the time period the inter­

national students are reasonably expected to complete 

the programs. In 2020/21, tuition fees averaged 

$14,306 per international student. This represented 

an 8% increase from the average fees charged to inter• 

national students in 2018/19. Appendix 7 lists the 

average public college tuition fees for domestic and 

international students from 2018/19 to 2020/21. 

2.2.6 Establishing and Updating Standards for 
Public College Programs 

The Ministry's Postsecondary Education Quality 

Assessment Branch (Branch) (Figures 6 and 7) is 

responsible for creating and updaLing standards for 

non-degree programs offered at public colleges. The 

standard for a program is applied to all colleges offer­

ing the same, or similar, non-degree level program 

in the same field of study. The standard sets out the 

desired learning outcomes, which are the minimum 

skills and knowledge a student is expected to have 

upon completing a specific program. 

Program standards were first developed in the 

1990s to provide more consistency to programming 

across the sector, and to provide public account• 

abil ity for the quality and relevance of college 

programs. The Branch's goal is to review and 

update individual program standards every five to 

10 years. Appendix 8 describes the processes for 

establishing and updaling these standards. Once a 

program standard has been updated, the Ministry 

communicates any changes to the public col-

leges, who are then required to modify their programs 

to comply with the revised standard and attest to 

compliance. 
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Figure 6: Key Governance and Reporting Structure of Public Colleges 
Source or data: Mlnls11y of Colleges and Universities 
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As of May 2021, there were 147 program 

standards across the six fields in which public 

colleges offer programs (these are applied 

arts, technology, business, health sciences, human 

services, and hospitality and tourism) . In health sci­

ences, for example, there are 13 standards including 

those for dental hygiene, massage therapy, and per­

sonal support worker programs. 

In conLTast, degree standards are outlined in the 

Ontario Qualifications Framework, which sets out 

the broad learning outcomes expected for a degree 

program. These broad standards are then used by 

the Postsecondary Education Quality Assurance 

Board and public colleges to develop the specific 

degree curriculum. 

2.2.7 Public College Program Development 
and Approval Processes 

Public colleges have program approval processes 

that they follow before submitting a new program to 

the Ministry for approval. The Ministry relies on the 

colleges to identify job market needs and offer pro­

grams to match those needs. Th.is information forms 

part of the application that colleges submit to the 

Ministry for funding approval. Offering a program 

without sufficient job market demand and enrolment 

interest would be costly to a college, both in terms of 

operating a program at a loss and its negative impact 

on performance metrics and indicators on which it 

is assessed. 
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Figure 7: Key Entitles Involved in Public College Governance and Reporting 
Source of duta: Ministry or Collcccs and Universities 
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24 Public Colleges and their 
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Ontario College Quality 
Assurance Service 

Provides oversight of postsecondary education institutions, Including public colleges, In areas 
such as developrnent and implementation of strategies, programs and operational policies 

Colleges Unlt(Mlnlstry) 

Provides oversight of public colleges In areas such as: 
• the approval process tor program funding; 
• governance and accountability mechanisms; and 
• key performance Indicators 

Responsible for monitoring the financial performance of postsecondary education institutions, 
Including public colleges 

Colleges Finance Unit (Ministry) 

Responsible for: 
• monitoring financial performance and reporting; and 
• monitoring financial health Indicators 

Capital Funding and Programs (Ministry) 

Responsible for: 
• allocating capital funding; and 
• reviewing spending In accordance with funding guidelines 

Responsible for: 
• reviewing new applications for, or renewals of, ministerial consent of degree programs; 
• developing or revising program standards; 
• drafting criteria, policies and procedures to determine the quality of programs: 
• researching higher education quality assurance standards; and 
• providing support to the Postsecondary Education Quality Assessment Board 

Established under the Post-secondary Education Choice and F.xcellence Act 2000. Advises and 
makes recommendations to the Minister on applications requiring ministerial consent that are 
submitted by public colleges requesting to offer a degree program. The chair is appointed by the 
Lieutenant Governor In Council and other members are appointed by the Minister. 

An association funded by the 24 public colleges to mal1e pol\cy recommendations to the 
government. It provides supports to the governance and operations of public colleges and 
promotes public college programs to potential students, Public colleges share informatiol1 and 
best practices through this association. 

Boards of governors of public colleges oversee the operations of public colleges and are 
accountable to the Ministry. 

College presidents are responsible for managing day-to-day college operat ions. They are 
accountable to both their board of governors and the Ministry under the Ontario Colleges of 
App/Jed Arts and Technology Act, 2002, and other Ministry policies. 

Established In 2005, this organization provides external quality assurance services such as 
validating program credentials and auditing public colleges against pre-established quality 
standards. Board n'lembershlp consists of Individuals who are both Internal and external to the 
Ontario college system. While the existence of the organization Is mandated by the provincial 
government under the Framework for Programs of Instruction Minister's Binding Polley Directive, 
it Is not a government agency. It Is funded by the 24 public colleges with no reporting or other 
relationship to the Ministry. 
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As part of the Framework for Programs of 

Instruction Minister's Binding Policy Directive 

(Appendix 4), a public college must have board of 

governor and program advisory committee approval 

for each program it develops. Colleges are also 

responsible for monitoring existing programs for 
profitability and making decisions on whether to 

pause programs that do not have enough demand 

to support their costs. This includes communicating 

with variot1s stakeholders that would be impacted by 

s uch decisions. 

Between 2016 and 2020, Ontario public col­

leges submitted a total of 651 applications for new 

programs. Ten applications have been withdrawn 

by colleges due to the applications not meeting Min­

istry requirements. 

All proposed non-degree college programs must 

be validated by an external organization, the Ontario 

College Quality Assurance Service (Quality Assurance 

Service). (Appendix 9 outlines the Mjnistry's 

program approval process; Section 2.3.2 describes 

the QuaUty Assurance Service). Both degree and 

non-degree programs seeking Ministry funding 

support require Ministry approval. All degree 

programs, regardless of funding, are referred to the 

Postsecondary Education Quality Assessment Board 

for quality review. Once the Board completes its 

review, it provides a recommendation to the Minister 

as to whether consent s hould be given to the proposed 

program. In December 2019, in response to sector 

feedback and a desire for more timely approvals, the 

Minisrry committed to a more streamlined funding 

approvaJ and degree program consent process. The 

Minisu·y's current goal is to refe.r degree program 

applications to the Postsecondary Education Quality 

Assessment Board for review within two to three 

days of receipt, and for the Ministry to conduct its 

funding approval review simultaneously. The goal is 

to issue degree program consents within six months 

of submission. 

2.3 Public Colleges' Oversight 
2.3.1 Boards of Governors 

The Act establishes public colleges as Crown agen• 

cies that are overseen by boards of governors (public 

college boards). lt has one regulation, 0. Reg. 34/03, 
which outlines several requirements for public college 

boards. These include the boards' size and compos­

ition, term limits for board members, processes for 
selecting and removing governors, and reporting 

requirements to the Minister. 

The regulation states that public college boards 

must consist of an even number between 12 and 

20 external members, four internal members (staff 

and student representatives) and the college presi­

dent. The Lieutenant Governor in Council (LGlC) 

appoints one-third of the externa l members; the 

remainder are appointed by the governors holding 

office at the time of the appointment. Within their 

by-laws, 22 colleges require 12 external m embers, a nd 

two colleges require 14 external members. 

The Governance and Accountability Framework 

Minister's Binding Policy Directive (Governance 

Directive) defines the minimum expectations for gov­

ernance and accountability of colleges and identifies 

the critical elements of the role of a college board of 

governors. The Mit1istry's Protocol for Board Nomina­

tions and Appointments (Appendix 4) supports the 

board of governors in meeting its obligations under 

the Act, and specifies that colleges are expected to 

observe the principles outlined in the protocol in 

appointing their non-LGIC-appointed external board 

members, and in submitting nominees for the LGIC 

appointments. The Conflict oflnterest Minister's 

Binding Policy Directive is intended to protect the 

integrity and ethical standards of college boards 

and, as importantly, protect the integrity of a board 

member who may face a conflict of in terest. 

Figure 6 shows the governance structure and rela­

tionships between the Ministry, boards of governors 

and Colleges Ontario; and Figure 7 describes the 

key entities. 
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Accountability Reporting 
A key governance function of public college boards is 

accountability reporting. The Ministry requires that 

public colleges produce a nd submit a strategic plan, 

business plan, audited financial statements and an 

annual report. These documents must also be made 

available to the public. 

Public colleges are also requi red by the Ministry's 

Business Plan Operating Procedure to submit their 

annual budgets in June, for the upcoming fiscal year 

ending March 31. The procedure also requires each 

budget to be in a surplus position. If a college expects 

to accumulate a deficit, it must develop a deficit 

recovery plan for Ministry review. As requi red by the 

Ministry's Annua l Report Operating Procedure, each 

annual report is to include items such as an update on 

the college's achievement of outcomes set out in its 

previous year's strategic a nd business plans as well as 

its audited financial statements. 

2.3.2 Quality Assurance Processes 

Public colleges must have processes in place intet'­

nally to ensure their programs meet quality assurance 

standards. As weU, there are two external organiza­

tions that assess the quality of programs offered by 

Ontario colleges. The Quality Assurance Service 

and the Postsecondary Education Quality Assess­

ment Board conduct i11depe11dent qual ity reviews of 

non-degree and degree programs, respectively (see 

Appendix 10). Each of these organizations engage 

expert panels to review the programs offered and 

assess them against internationally recognized stan­

dards. Based on its most recently conducted a udits, 

the Quality Assurance Service reported that all 24 

public colleges met or partially met a ll of its six aucl ii 
standards. As well, since 2008 the Postsecondary 

EducaLion Quality Assessment Board has not recom­

mended that the Minster deny consent for any public 

college degree programs due to qual ity concerns. The 

Ministry relies o n these e ntities to assess and ensure 

that public colleges offer quality programs. 

Public Colleges Oversight ~ 

In May 2019, the Quality Assurance Service updated 

its standards a nd audit template to add an assessment 

of policies and proced ures relating to public-private 

college partnersh ips (Section 2.4) . The audit 

process for these partnerships now includes a review 

of policies and procedures for program admission, the 

awardin,g of academic credentials, certifications and 

quality assurance. 

2.4 Publlc"Prlvate College 
Partnerships 
Partnerships between publicly assisted colleges and 

private career colleges for the delivery of public 

college programs have existed since at least 2005 

(Appendix 11 shows a summary of the key events 

related to these partnerships). 

As of J une 2021, 11 public colleges were partnered 

with 12 private career colleges, with a total of over 

24,000 international students emailed under these 

arrangements. Figure 8 lists these public-private 

college partnerships and the dates they were estab­

lished. The partnership agreements range from six to 

10 years in length and are generally between public 

colleges in smaller communities and private career 

colleges located almost exclusively in the Greater 

Toronto Area, where international students prefer 

to live. 

Under partnership agreements, public colleges 

provide the private career colleges (private partners) 

with the public college curriculum to be deliv-

ered. The private partners a re responsible for hlring 

instructors, providing faci lit ies and s tudent services 

and managing the day-to-day operations at the part• 

nership campus. 

Students who graduate from private partner col­

leges under these arrangements receive a public 

college credential. With this, in ternational students 

can apply for a Post-Graduation Work Permit from the 

federal government. ln contrast, international gradu­

ates from private career· colleges are not eligible to 

apply for a permit. While domestic students can study 
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Figure 8: Public-Private College Partnerships and Locations as of June 2021 
Source of data: Mlnlslfy or Colleges and Universities 
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l!.. 111 ~ .. - ~. ,.,-;j 2018/ 19 2019/20 2020/ 21 11u: :~ .. , 
Cambrian (Sudbury) Hanson College (Brampton/Toronto/ May 23, 2005 1,684 1,937 3,061 

Vancouver2) 

St. Lawrence (Kingston) Alpha International Academy Aug 8, 2008 1,435 1,897 2,227 
(Scarborough) 

Canadian College (Vancouver2) Jan 1, 2016 402 495 1,087 

Lambton (Sarnia) Cestar College (foronto) Jan 5, 2011 4,341 3,893 3,817 

Queen's College (Mississauga) May 25, 2016 1,475 1,286 1,631 

Canadore (North Bay) Stanford International College Jun 25, 2012 1,888 1,921 4,636 
(Misslssauga/ScarboroughjToronto) 

St. Clalr(Wlndsor) ACE Acumen (Mississauga/Toronto) Dec 12, 2013 . 1,191 1,102 2,613 

Northern (Timmins) Pures College (Scarborough) Mar 24, 2015 I 2,282 2,612 4,088 

Sault (Sault Ste. Marie) trlOS College (f oronto) Jan 15, 2020 n/a3 n/a3 429 

Loyalist (Belleville) Toronto Business College Jan 21, 2020 n/a3 n/a3 442 
(Mississauga) 

Georgian (Barrie) International Language Academy of Nov 30, 2020 
I 

n/a3 n/a3 I n/a3 

Canada (foronto) 

Mohawk (Hamilton) trlOS College (Mississauga) Jan 25, 2021 n/a3 n/a3 n/a3 

Niagara (Welland) Toronto School of Management Feb 11, 2021 n/a9 n/a3 n/a3 

(foronto) 

Total 14,698 15,143 24,031 

Partnerships were established after the Ministry Issued Uto Public Collega-Priva1e Partnerships Mlnlstc(s Binding Polley Dlrecllve In December 2019. 

1, Enrolment reporting for partnership campuses was standardized by the Ministry starting ror fall 2020/21. Pdor to that, some partnership enrolment numbers were 
reported on on od hoc basis. 

2. The Ministry does not restrict U1e location of where a pr1voto partner con operate, According to the Enlfepraneur1al AcUvllles Mlnlste(s Binding Polley Directive, 
colleges may enter Into en1reprcncunal acUviUes, such as partnerships, outside the province of Ontario (see SecUon 4.2,4). 

3. n/a • Not applicable because the partnership agreements wore not yet slcnod. 

at a private college partner, there was no domestic 

enrolment for programs at any of the partnership 

campuses at the time of our audit. The On tario model 

of these types of college partnerships was unique 

within Canada, at the time of our audit. 

ln December 2019, the Ministry issued the Public 

College-Private Partnerships Minister's Binding 

Policy Directive (Partnerships Directive) to outline 

the requirements for public-private college partner­

ships. The goals of the policy are to: 

• suppor t public colleges in being financia lly com­

petitive, and to invest that economic benefit into 

their home campuses and local communities; 

• strengthen Ontario's northern and small com­

munities by encouraging international students to 

study outside the Greater Toronto Area and poten­

tially remain there after their studies; and 

o protect and enhance Ontario's reputation as a 

post-secondary education leader and great place 

to live and work. 

The Partnerships Directive stipulates that 

the maximum international student enrolment 

at the private college campuses across Canada 

cannot exceed twice the amount of international 

student enrolment at the public college's home 

campus(es) (also known as the 2:1 enrolment ratio 
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requirement). Pre-existing public-private college 

partnersh ips that exceeded the 2: 1 ratio were allowed 

to choose the highest international enrolment at the 

private college campus from any semester in 2018 or 

2019 and establish a legacy enro)ment limi t at that 

level ; enrolment at rhe parmership campus is not to 

exceed the legacy number un til the 2:1 enrolment 

ratio requirement is met. This enrolment IJmit was 

established to incentivize public colleges to con tin tte 

recrui ting international students to the ir home cam­

puses and local communities. 

While the Partnerships Directive does not require 

the private partners to be registered private career 

colleges in Ontario, the existin g partnerships are all 

between public coJleges and private career colJeges. 

Subsequent to the completion of our audit work, 

the Minist ry has approved an additional public­

privare college partnership between Fanshawe 

College located in London, and Tnternational Lan­

guage. Academy of Canada located in Toronto. As a 
result, there are a total of 12 public colleges with 

partnerships as of November 2021. 

The objectives of this audit were to assess w hether t he 

Ministry of Colleges and Universities (Ministry) has 

cost-effective procedures and systems in place to: 

monitor public colleges' compliance with the 

Ontario Colleges of Applied Arts and Technology 
Act, 2002 and i ts regulation, as well as agreements 

and policies, to provide relevant career-oriented 

post-secondatycducation that meets the needs of 

the changing job market; a nd 

• measure and publicly report on the Minisn·y's 

and public colleges' effectiveness in achieving the 

desired education outcomes. 

In addition, this audit assessed whether select public 

colleges have procedures and systems in place to 

operate in a cost-effective man ner and that they fulfill 

their responsibilities as established by the Ministry. 

Pulllic Colleges Oversight --

Further, this audit assessed whether the audited 

fi nancial statements of the p ublic colleges are re l• 

evant, reliable, timely and are p repared in accordance 

with Canadian public sector accounting standards. 

In planning for Oltr work, we identified the audit 

criteria (Appendix 12) we would use to address 

our audit objective. These criteria were established 

based on a review of applicable legislation, policies 

and procedures, internal and external stud ies, and 

best practices, includ ing those related to board 

governance and the preparation of financial state- · 

ments. Sen ior management at the Ministry and the 

four public colleges w here we did detailed work 

(Loyalist, Sault, Seneca and St. Clair) reviewed and 

agreed with the suitability of our o bjectives and asso­

ciated criteria. 

We conducted ou r audit between January 

2021 and September 2021. We obtained written 

representation from the Ministry and the four public 

colleges that, effective November 19, 2021, they had 

provided us with all t!te Lo formation they were aware 

of that could significan tly affect the findings or t he 

conclusion of this report. 

In performing our aud it work, we interviewed 

senior management and appropriate staff a t the 

Ministry, and examined relaced data, fiJes and docu­

mentation from the three-to-five-year period ending 

August 31, 2021, and in some cases from over the 

10-year period ending on that date, provided by 

the Ministry. 

As well, we spoke with the presidents and board 

chairs from all 24 public colleges to obtain informa• 

tion relevant to ou r audit. We conducted detailed 

file reviews and in terviewed the board secretaries 

from four selected colleges: Loyalist, Sault, Seneca 

and Sc. Clair. We selected these colleges based on 

factors including the size of t he college by enrol­

ment, the number and percentage of international 

students, board governance practices, geographic 

location and other observations we made throughout 

o ur audit that prompted fu rther examination. We 

examined information and data avai lable at public 

colleges, and publicly available information, with 
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regard to the recruitment of international stu­

dents. Our review did not examine the operations of 

recruitment agencies. 

Our audit work was primarily conducted remotely 

due to the COVID-19 pandemic; however, we 

conducted on-site visits at three public colleges 

(Loyalist, Seneca and Humber) to observe their 

campus operations. 

We interviewed senior management and reviewed 

relevant information from the following stakeholders: 

• Colleges Ontario; 

• Postsecondary Education Qua lity Assessment 

Board; and 

• Colleges and Inslitu tes Canada. 

We also interviewed senior management from 

the Quality Assurance Service, and reviewed the 

documentation and processes the Quality Assurance 

Service uses to conduct audits of public colleges, as 

well as the audit reports produced. We also had 

discussions with representatives from the Ministry 

of Labour, Training and Skills Development regard­

ing labour market trends. From the post-secondary 

education sector, we interviewed various Ontario 

and Canada-wide advocacy and consultancy groups 

including BC Colleges and Higher Educat ion Strat­

egy Associates. We researched best practices in other 

Canadian provinces including Manitoba, Alberta and 

British Columbia, as we lJ as other countries such as 

Australia and we spoke to representatives from the 

Ministry of Advanced Education, Skills and 'Training 

in British Columbia. We also retained an external 

advisor to inform our review of board governance 

praclices. ln add ition, we reviewed the relevant audit 

repo1 ts issued by the Province's In ternal Audit Div­

ision to inform our aud it work. 

We conducted our work and reported on the 

resulrs of our examination in accordance with the 

applicable Canadian Standards on Assurance Engage­

ments-Direct Engagements issued by the Auditing 

and Assurance Standards Board of the Chartered 

Professional Accountants of Canada. This included 

obtaining a reasonable level of assurance. 

The Office of the Auditor General of Ontario 

applies the Canadian Standards of Quality Control 

and, as a result, maintains a comprehensive quality 

control system that includes documented policies 

and procedures with respect to compliance with rules 

of professional conduct, professional standards and 

applicable legal and regulatory requirements. 

We have complied with the independence and 

01·her ethical requirements of the Code of Professional 

Conduct of tl1e Chartered Professional Account-

ants of Ontario, which are fottnded on fundamental 

principles of integrity, objectivity, professional 

competence and due care, confidentiality and profes­

sional behaviour. 

4.1 Enrolment Trends of lnternatlonal 
Students 
Over the past decade, the public college sector has 

experienced a sign ificant upward trend in inter­

national student enrolments. Between 2012/ 13 

and 2020/21, the sector saw a 15% decline in domes­

tic enrolments (41,958 students), but a 342% growth 

in international enrolments (81,185 students). 

Several internal and external factors account for this 

significant upward trend: 

• Public colleges have focused on increasing 

their recruitment of international students as a 

source of revenue in response to both declining 

domestic enrolments and the freeze on domestic 

tuition fees. 

• Changes to the federal government's poli-

cies governing study and work permits. For 

example, after .June 2014, international students 

holding a s tudy permit could work up to 20 hours 

a week without applying for a separate work 

permit. Prior to this, students had to apply for 

a work permit, which required students to have 

studied for at least six of the previous 12 months 

in Canada prior to applying. 

• Additionally, the Post-Graduation Work Permit 

Program allows international students to stay 
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in Canada after graduation to seek employment 

(Appendix 13). This program, inn·oduced by 

t he federal government in 2005, has become 

less restrictive over time. For instance, it no 

longer limits students to finding employment 

outside three large Canadian cities (Mont-

real, Toronto, Vancouver) or requires that 

employment be in a field related to their area of 

study. As well, the application time was extended 

fro m 90 days to six months, providing graduates 

with more time to find employment. 

• Finally, Canada is considered one of the most 

desirable places in which to study for several 

reasons, including the quality of education and 

opportunity it provides to enhance one's English 

language skills. 
College presidents and board chairs, and also 

as highlighted in Canada's International Education 

Strategy, noted that there are multiple benefits asso­

ciated with international students. These benefits 

include helping local economies by obtaining trained 

potential employees that employers in certain fields 

demand; stimulating the local economy through 

student spending; increasing diversity within the 

region where students study; and helping local 

regions meet labour demands where the domestic 

demographic is shifting and would be unable to meet 

such demands. For non-university post-secondary 

students who obta ined their study permits between 

2010-2014, 30% became permanent residents within 

five years; this is an increase of 13% over the previous 

group of students who received their permits between 

2005-2009. 
However, this growth in international students is 

not without risks, which both the public college sector 

and the Ministry assume. These risks include a high 

reliance on a smalJ number of counrries for srudents 

and a high dependency on international students for 

the overall financial stability of public colleges and 

fol' a source of funds for capital investments in public 

college infrastructure. We also found that some public 

colleges have limited oversight of the process for 

recruiting international students. 

Public Colleges Oversight ..-

4.1.1 Migh Reliance on One Country for 
International Students Has Placed Public 
Colleges at Risk of Sudden Revenue Loss 

A high reliance on international student enrolments 

from one counu·y (in the. case of OntarJo public col­

leges, India) poses the risk of a sudden decrease in a 

significant revenue source if geopolitical factors and/ 

or other external factors cause the large inflttx of stu­

dents from that particular country to cease. 
Most recently, this occurred in August 2018 in the 

case of another country, when Saudi Arabia recal led 

over 15,000 students from Canada. This event did not 

significantly impact Ontario's public colleges since 

the total enrolment of studen ts from Saudi Arabia 

across all colleges was arnund 500. However, within 

the Ontario post-secondary education sector, the 

sudden withdrawal of students from Saudi Arabia has 

been cited as one factor contributing to Laurentian 

University's financial difficulties. Factors outside a 

post-secondary institution's control, such as geo­

politica I fact:orsJ can significantly affect educational 

institutions that rely highly on international student 

enrolments from a single country. 
Several of the public college presidents and 

board chairs with whom we met raised as a concern 

this high level of dependency on one country for 

international student enrolments, 'From 2016/17 to 

2020/21, between 48% and 62% of all international 

students studying at Ontario public colleges were 

from lndia (Figure 9 shows a breakdown of inter­

national students by country of origin) . These high 

percentages arc primarily due to the large population 

in lndia and that many people from that country see 

Ontario as a relatively attractive place to sl-udy, work 

and/or live. As well, in 2014, the federal government 

streamlined the study permit process for students 

from India, malting it easier for them to access edu­

cation in Ontario public colleges. Over the same 

period, the percentage of international students from 

China decreased from 15% in 2016/17 to only 6% in 

2020/21 due to a shift in these students' preference 

toward unlverslcy-level education as well as polit­

ical factors. 
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Figure 9: Percentage of International Students by Country Studying at Ontario Public Colleges, 2016/17- 2020/21 
Source or dota: Ministry of Colleges and Universities 

lndia1 48 fil 60 59 62 

China 15 10 8 7 6 

Vietnam 2 4 5 5 4 

South Korea 5 4 3 3 3 

Brazil 2 3 2 2 2 

Philippines <1 <1 1 2 2 

Nigeria 2 1 < 1 < 1 1 

Iran <1 < 1 < 1 1 1 

Ukraine 2 1 1 < 1 < 1 

Jamaica 1 < 1 <1 1 < 1 

Russian Federation 1 < 1 <1 < 1 < 1 

Mexico <1 < 1 <1 < 1 < 1 

Colombia <1 < 1 <1 < 1 <1 

Bangladesh < 1 < 1 <1 < 1 < 1 

Turkey <1 <1 <1 < 1 <1 

Taiwan <1 < 1 < 1 < 1 <1 

Saudi Arabia 1 < 1 < 1 < 1 <1 

Venezuela < 1 < l < 1 < 1 <1 

Japan < 1 < 1 < 1 < 1 <1 

United States < 1 <1 < 1 < 1 <1 

Pakistan <1 < 1 < 1 <1 < 1 

Not reported 5 3 1 2 

Other 8 7 6 7 7 

Total 100 100 100 100 100 

!, The large Increase In Uie percentage or lnternaUonal students from India Is due to several factors, such as: 
• English Is widely used In India, and many students already have sufficient En!lllsh fluency to be accepted Into and complete an Ontario collogo program, 
• India has the second largest total populaUon In the world; about 60% Is under tho ago of 30. 
• The middle class populaUon In India Is among the fastest growing In the wortd, 
• Enuy Into India's labour market Is Increasingly diHlcult for the growing number of young school graduates; meanwhile, the middle classes are Increasingly able 

to pay for foreign education and seek education and work abroad. 
2. Other countrtes had enrolments of under 1% In Ontario public colleges. Spoclflcally, 160 students from other countries enrolled In 2016/17, 161 enrolled In 

2017/18, 158 enrolled In 2018/19, 170 enrnlled In 2019/20 and 163 enrolled In 2020/21. 

Lambton, Loyalist, Northern, St. Clair and 

St. Lawrence drew more than 90% of their inter­

national students from India, incl ud Lng those 

studying at the public-private college partner-

ships in 2020/21. For one college (Lambton), we 

estimated that a reduction of 12%, or 686, of their 

Indian students would have placed them in a finan­

cial break-even position, if all other factors remained 

unchanged. Additionally, more than half of the 

international students emolled are from India at 15 of 

the 24 public colleges (Figure 10). 

Any changes co federal government policies, 

geopolitical factors or international s tudents' prefer­

ences are out of the public college sector's and the 

Ministry's control. The Government of Canada's Inter­

national Education Strategy for 2019-2024 identified 

that one of its three key objectives is for the post­

secondary education sector to diversify the countries 
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Figure 10: Percentage of International Students from 
India by Public College, 2020/21 
Source or data: Ministry or Colleges and Universities 

Northern 99 

Loyalist 97 

St. Lawrence 94 

St. Clair 92 

Lambton 91 

Cambrian 87 

Canadore 85 
Fleming 83 

Conestoga 81 
Georgian 71 
Confederation 69 

Sault 65 

Durham 58 
Niagara 52 
Sheridan 50 
Mohawk 49 
Centennial 47 
Fanshawe 42 
Humber 36 
Seneca 36 

Algonquin 32 
George Brown 17 

Boreal <1 

La Cite 0 

• lhe number of students from Indio as o percentage of total lntcrnotlonal 
students. The number or students Includes tl1ose registered under publlo­
prtvate college partnerships. 

that international students come from. Therefore, we 

would expect that the Ministry, on behalf of the col­

leges and sector as a whole, would also establish 

a comprehensive risk-m itigation plan or strategy 

to address the risks associated with a lack of such 

d iversification. We noted that 11 of the 24 public col­

leges have included in either their annual reports 

or business plan s a goal to d iversify the coun-

tries from which their international students are 

recruited. However, not all of these colleges have 

published an action plan or strategy for achieving 

Public Colleges Oversight 'IIIJWII 

and/ or measuring th is goal. One colJege (Durham) 

has published its ta rget of recruiting from 90 differen t 

countries as a measure for diversification. 

In November 2019, in response to a recommenda­

tion made by the Ontario Internal Audit Division, the 

Ministry indicated it would be conducting policy 

work with respect to a broader international student 

strategy. In August 2021, we inquired as to the status 

of the strategy. The Ministry had not yet prepared a 

formal strategy but informed us that the strategy was 

in the early phases of development and will include 

multiple objectives such as to ensure international 

students will study a nd stay in the province; to lever­

age government investments in post-secondary 

education; to address long-standing issues such as 

regional inequity and to supp or t the province's eco­

nomic recovery. 

RECOMMENDATION 1 

To mitigate the risks of public colleges relying 

highly on the tuition revenues from international 

students from one country and to assist the public 

college system in p roactively pla nning for related 

circumstances th at are not within their control, we 

recommend chat the Ministry of Colleges and Uni­

versities (Min istry): 

• develop a formal and comprehensive strategy 

for the diversification of international students 

for the public college sector; 

• require that public colleges establish risk 

mitigation plans, with clear action plans, 

timelines and measurable outcomes, that align 

with the Ministty's strategy; and 

• require public colleges to report annually on 

their status of achieving their goals and take 

corrective actions when necessary. 

lnternational students are an important part of 

Ontario's post-secondary sector, reflecting the 

high-quality education offered by our colleges 

and universities, and our international reputa­

tion as a safe, mult icultu ral and welcoming 

AGENDA PAGE   109



... 
environment. The Ministry will review these rec­

ommendations as part of its considerations in the 

development of an international post-secondary 

education strategy. 

4.1.2 Public Colleges Are Increasingly Reliant 
on Tuition Fees from International Students to 
Remain Financially Sustainable 

Our audit found that, based on the public college 

sector's current sources of revenue, the sector will 
remain financially sustainable overall if international 

student enrolment trends continue. (Figure 11 details 

the sector's revenue, expenditures and surplus 

from 2016/17 to 2020/21.) 

Specifically, the public college sector's 

$1.22 billion or 62% increase in its accumulated 

surplus from 2016/17 to 2019/20 was largely due 

to international student growth. As well, during 

the four years before the pandemic (2016/17-

2019/20), revenue from international tuition 

fees increased 152% (from $696 million to 

$1,754 million), while domestic tuit ion and core 

operating grants from the Ministry decreased slightly 

(by 3% and 2%, respectively). In 2019/20, domestic 

tuition fee revenue decreased due to the 10% tuition 

fee reduction and tuition freeze put in place by th e 

Ministry (as discussed in Section 2.2.5). This domes­

tic tuition fee reduction and tuition freeze were 

noted as concerns by many p ublic college presidents 

Figure 11: Public College Sector's Revenue, Expenditures and Surplus, 2016/17-2020/21 ($ million) 
Source or data: Ministry of Colleges and Universities 

Revenue 

Tuition fee 

International 696 952 1,405 1,754 152 1,681 

Domesuc 867 821 927 843 (3) 802 

Total tuition fee 1,563 1,773 2,332 2,597 66 2,483 

Core operating grant 1,152 1,157 1.146 1,134 (2) 838 

Other grants' 759 750 896 754 (1) 1,099 

Other revenue8 893 984 1,103 1,042 17 677 

Total 4,367 4,664 5,477 5,527 27 5,097 

Expenditures 

Salaries and benefits 2,355 2,390 2,733 2,868 22 2,766 

Operations4 874 952 1,068 1,087 24 978 

Other expenditures~ 949 1,002 1,133 1,239 31 1,163 

Total 4,178 4,344 4,934 5,194 24 4,907 

Excess of Revenue Over 189 320 543 333 76 190 
Expenditures 

Accumulated Surplus6 1,949 2,279 2,840 3,165 62 3,387 

J, Change Is calculated over a four-year perlod from 2016/17 to 2019/20. The calculatlon does not Include 2020/21 opcratlons as that nscal year was significantly 
Impacted by the COVID-19 pandernlt and not representative of regular operatlons for comparlson purposes, 

2. Includes performance-based grants, special purpose grants, capital grants, 0U1er government fl(anls and lederol government funding, 
3. Includes student ancillary Ices: opprentlceshlp classroom foos; revenue generated from campus residences. parking, bookstores, cafeterias, day caro centres, 

athletic centres, conference centres, and contractual and other loo-for,sorviccs: other sales of course products/services; donatlons: Investment Income; Ones and 
penalties; rental or racllltlos ond miscellaneous Income. 

4. Includes pension plans, profosslonal services, uVlltles and maintenance, 
5. Includes expendllures such as amortJzaUon and ancillary expenses. 
6, Accumulated surplus Is the net assets, which Include unresttlcted net assets, Internally rcstrlclcd not assets, Investment In capital assets, rcslrlcted conllibutlons 

and endowments. 
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and board chairs during our discussions, with some 

stating that they have created a reliance by public col­

leges on international student tuition fees for revenue 

to suppor t their operations. 

Growing their international student tuition 

revenue stream has been the primary means by 

which public colleges have increased their overall 

revenue. We noted that, in 2020/21, sector-wide 

revenue from international tu ition fees was 67. 7% 

of the total tuition fee revenue, up from 44.6% in 

2016/17; international students represented 30% of 

Public Colleges Oversight '..ulllll 

public colleges' total enrolment, while domestic stu­

dents represented 70%. Figure 12 shows that almost 

every college experienced a significant increase in the 

percentage of tuition revenue received from inter­

n ational tuition fees from 2016/17 to 2020/21. 

As well, Appendix 5 shows that international tuition 

fee revenue as a percentage of total college revenue 

increased from 8% (the lowest revenue source) in 
2011/12 to 33% (the highest revenue source) in 
2020/21. In pa.rticular, for four colleges (Canadore, 

Centennial, Northern a nd St. Clair), international 

Figure 12: International Students' Tuition Revenue as a Percentage ofTotal Tuition Revenue of Public Colleges* 
Propared by tho Office of !he Auditor General of Ontario 

Northern 49.3 77.1 81.8 89.7 92.0 

Canad ore 65.3 79.9 80.9 84.2 91.2 

Lambton 23.6 42.5 53.5 81.1 84.5 

St. Clair 18.3 38.3 68.2 79.3 84.4 

Centennial 73.6 79.2 82.4 83.7 81.5 

Conestoga 41.3 54.3 70.0 79.4 79.7 

Sault 12.7 21.7 45.4 70.3 78.7 

Cambrian 25.1 39.3 50.3 71.2 74.7 

Confederation 45.2 54.4 63.9 72.1 74.4 

Niagara 57.4 67.0 72.4 75.3 72.8 

Loyalist 22.5 38.3 50.3 64.7 71.7 

Fanshawe 47.2 58.8 64.4 70.1 69.4 

Seneca . 49.6 53.4 57.9 67.2 68.1 

St. Lawrence 32.4 50.0 55.7 63.9 67.6 

Sheridan 57.8 61.8 62.9 67.1 65.0 

Georgian 30.3 40.8 51.5 60.9 61.0 

George Brown 45.8 50.8 53.8 58.9 60.6 

Fleming 31.6 53.1 63.4 64.1 59.7 

Mohawk 40.6 50.8 53.5 59.4 58.2 

Humber 40.2 48.3 50.7 55.0 46.3 

Algonquin 26.2 33.2 38.6 46.3 43.5 

La Cite 16.2 17.3 23.4 36.4 42.9 

Durham 19.9 32.1 40.4 44.8 42.5 

Boreal 7.0 8.1 12.5 24.1 23.0 

Provincial Avg 44.7 54.0 60.5 67.5 67.7 

I II ghost In particular yoar Lowest In particular year 
• The percentages are calculated based on the total amount of tuition fees received from lntemaUonal students, Including public-private college partnership 

studcn\S, to U1e total amount or tuition lees received by each public college by nsc~I year, Prior to 2019/20, rhe rultlon fee reyenue earned from publlc,prlvate 
college partnership students may not be Included for certain colleges as the dola was not separately collected by the Ministry at that Ume. The percentages do 
not account tor ancillary revenue or other lees collected from students. 
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tuition fees represented over half of their total 

revenue in 2020/21, with the highest: (Canadore) 

at 60%. 
Colleges in northern areas and smaller communities 

saw the largest growth in international student tuition 

revenue compared to colleges in larger urban areas 

during t!tis period. For example, between 2016/17 
and 2020/21, Sault's tuition revenue from inter­

national sl-udents increased from 12.7% to 78.7%. 
Of the public colleges with out public-private 

college partnerships, Centennial is also highly reliant 

on international tuition fees and has had the higJ1est 

proportion (ra nging from 73.6% to 83. 7%) of its total 

tuition revenue coming from international tuition fees 

for the past five years. A key factor contributing to 

the l1igh percentage of international students at this 

college is its location in the Greater Toronto Area, a 

region where international students prefer to live 

and study, in a country tha t is considered one of the 

top destinations for studying abroad. Boreal has the 

lowest percentage (ranging from 7.0% to 24.1 %) of 

in ternational student tuition fees compared to total 

tuition revenue. I t is a French-language college, and 
there are challenges associated with providing 

French-language programs and services in pre­

dominantly English-speaking communities, including 

challenges in recruiting Francophone students inter­
nationally that want to study in Ontario. Simila rly, the 

only other French-language college, La Cite, had one 

of the lowest percentages of international student 

tuition fees r elative to total tui tion revenue, at 

42.9% in 2020/21. The main factor for current 

and futu re financial sustainability is growth in 

revenue, which has relied upon i.nternational students 

in recent years. 

Also shown in Figure 11, public colleges' largest 

expenses are salaries and benefits for academic 

faCLLlry, suppor t and administra tive staff. We found 

that the increase of staffing across the public college 

sector is in line with the growth in internat ional 

student enro lments. In particular, from 2016/17 to 

2019/20, full-time-equivalent staff increased from 

about 32,900 to 35,690. 

Public Colleges Have Relied on Surpluses Generated 
from International Students for Capita l Improvements 
Since at Least 2016 
Even though public colleges are non-profit Crown 

entities, accumulated surpluses are important for 

their futut:e fina ncial flexibility. For example, these 

surpluses can be used for capital expenditures 

(capital maintenance and new capital builds), w hich 

are m ainly funded by colleges' internal resources. 

Over the past five years, many public colleges have 

relied on international student revenues for their 

annual surpluses. 

For the four colleges we reviewed in-depth, over 

a five-year period from 2016/17 to 2020/21, the 

la rgest sources of funding for capital expenditures 

(during ) 4 of the 20 years we analyzed) were gene r­

ated tJu·ough t he colleges' operations and donations 

raised. Other funding sources included the Min­

istry, federal and provincial government grants, and 

add itional sources. 

Capital expenditures for a college primarily 

consist of site and building improvements and equip­

me nt purchases. In certain years where a college 

may undergo a plann ed expansion, such as the con­

struction of a new building or facility, the college 

would need to use a significant amount of its cash 

reserves. Figure 13 provides an example where a 
public college has relied on surpluses generated 

through the growth of international student enrol­

ments not only for financial sustainability, but a lso for 

capital improvements. 

Wide Va riation in Financial Health Exists between t ile 
Public Colleges Due to International Students 
While there is an overall collective surplus across all 

public colleges, we found a wide variation in finan­

cial heal th between public colleges. This variation is 

largely due to revenues from increased international 

student enrolments. Certain colleges becam e better 

fi nancially prepared for unexpected expenditures that 

could arise. 

Figul'e 14, which details each public college's 

annual sur plus (or deficit) since 2016/17, shows that 

for each year the re is a large variation across colleges 
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Figure 13: Example of a Pub lie College Relying on Surpluses Generated from International Students through a 
Public-Private College Partnership 
Prepared by tl1e Office or the Auditor General or Ontario 

Lambton College, with the support of a public-private college partnership, experienced a large growth In Its annual surplus, In 
part due to the growth of its International student enrolment at the private college that It had partnered with. 

From 2016/17 to 2017 /18, enrolment Increased about 3,300 students, to 5,834 students In total. During this time, the 
annual surplus Increased $12 million, to $23 million In total. From 2017 /18 to 2020/21, the college spent from $10 million to 
$41 million, annually, on capital additions, and the percentage that was funded by the Ministry ranged from 3% to 31%. 

The ability of public colleges to continue investing In Infrastructure Improvements will depend on the surpluses they generate, 
which are largely derived from International students and any public-private college partnership. This places further reliance on 
these sources not only for operational financial sustainability, but also tor future capita I Improvements. 

Figure 14: Annual Surplus (Deficit)1 for Each Public College, 2016/17-2020/21 ($ million) 
Source of data: Ministry or Colleges and Unlversllles 

Conestoga 6.17 19.34 39.24 32.16 

St. Clair 7.88 1~.31 40.24 31.08 

Sheridan 21.32 33.19 48.01 28.72 

Centennial 16.44 34.03 59.57 28.55 

Fanshawe 7.92 22.87 30.37 26.78 

Humber 23.29 32.52 32.13 25.50 

Seneca 16.95 18.12 22.89 21.26 

Northern 2.69 10.71 14.84 18.59 

Niagara 3.47 13.95 32.37 17.78 

Lambton 10.97 23.06 25.17 15.25 

George Brown 14,94 24.00 31.25 14.93 

Algonquin 5.58 13.51 14.96 14.74 

Cambrian 1.98 8.31 7.37 9.18 

St. Lawrence 6.39 11.61 13.24 7.80 

Sault 0.60 2.22 10.65 5.40 

Loyalist 2.42 3.11 9.15 6.86 

Mohawk 23.31 12.47 21.64 6.30 

Georgian 3.01 1.69 16.75 5.16 

Confederation 0.91 1.42 17.78 4.82 

La Cit~ 1.36 3.52 11.37 3.78 

Fleming 4.76 7.81 13.48 2.18 

Durham 6.95 7.30 17.43 2.01 

Bor~al 0.02 0.31 5.55 0.96 

Canadore (0.63) (1.37) 7.90 0.82 

Total 188.70 317.01 543.36 330.61 

1. Ann~al surplus (deficit) Is the total revenue minus total expenses ror tho llscal year. 

25.99 29.95 

23.20 39.21 

7.40 2.01 

12.11 0.89 

18.86 6.87 

2.21 11.69 

4.31 21.51 

15.90 21.08 

14.31 0.10 

4.28 8.00 

(0.01) 3.29 

9.16 2.89 

7.20 8.71 

1.41 7.12 

4,80 3.87 

4.44 5.63 

(17.01) 2.86 

2.15 2.33 

3.91 5.62 

2.42 4.83 

(2.58) (3.36) 

(4,94) (3.49) 

0.94 0.41 

1.45 7.97 

141.91 189.99 

2. Change Is calculated over n four-year pe~od from 2016/17 to 2019/20. lhc calculaUon does not Include 2020/21 operauons as that fiscal year was slgnllicanUy 
Impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic and not representaUve or regular operauons for comparison purposes. 

AGENDA PAGE   113



in how m uch their revenues exceeded their expenses; 

for example, in 2019/20, this variation ranged from 

$0.82 million (Canadore) to $32.16 million (Con­

estoga). This result is also reflected in t he change in 

colleges' surpluses each year, To review each college's 

financial health, factoring in their enrolment size, we 

compared a college's available net assets to its number 

of full-time-equivalent students enrolled each year in 

2015/16 and 2019/20 (Figure 15). The available net 

assets of a college represent its total assets minus total 

liabilities, and exclude any externally restricted funds 

that cannot be used for regu 1ar college operations or 

capital expenditures. This approximates the amount 

of reserves the college has available, whic.h we com­

pared to its annual full-time-equivalent enrolment 

to determine the strength of the college's reserves 

compared to its enrolment size. We found that half 

the colleges have two or more times the available 

net assets per full-time-equivalent student compared 

with the four colleges that have been pe1forming at 

the bottom of this measure over the five-year period 

(2015/ 16 to 2019/20). Accordingly, the colleges wit h 

more net assets avajJable per student have more cap-

. acity to re invest in their infrastructure and improve 

their campus. 

Five of Six Public Colleges with Partnerships with 
Private Colleges Could Have Incurred Operating 
Deficits Had Tiley Not Received International Student 
Tuition Partnership Revenue In 2019/20 

Smaller colleges, and particularly those in northern 

areas or small cities, h ave been experiencing declining 

domestic enrolments mainly due to both their regions' 

changing demographics. As Such, these colleges have 

become highly dependent financially on international 

students but increasingly face challenges in attract­

ing these students to their home campuses; this was 

raised as a concern by several of the smaller colleges' 

presidents and board chairs with whom we met. 

To add ress this situation, between 2005 and 2021, 
11 colleges en tered into public-private college part­

nerships with private career colleges located in the 

Greater Toronto Area. Because many international 

students prefer to study in the Toronto region, these 

Figure 15: Public Colleges' Available NetAssets1 per Full­

Time-Equivalent Enrolment,2 2015/16 and 2019/20 
Prepared by the omce of the Auditor General of Ontario 

Northern 2,678 26,840 24,162 

Lambton 5,864 17,207 11,343 
Humber 12,723 16.041 3,318 
Bor~al 9,109 13,271 4,162 
St. Clair 3,207 10,400 7,193 

Fanshawe 7.427 10,369 2,942 

Sault 4,422 10,346 5.924 
Centennial 5,179 10,283 5,104 

Niagara 4,501 10,095 5,594 
Sheridan 5,236 10,064 4,828 

George Brown 6,307 9,299 2,992 

Confederation 1,420 8,606 7,186 
Seneca 5,838 8,166 2,328 

La Cit~ 4,084 7,683 3,599 
Algonquin 4,755 6,507 1,752 
Conestoga 2,066 6,195 4,129 
Mohawk 2,405 6,091 3,686 
Cambrian 2.464 5,926 3,462 

St. Lawrence 1,881 5,767 3,886 
Fleming 1,091 4,555 3,464 
Loyalist (529) 4,047 4,576 
Durham 388 2.703 2,315 
Georgian 172 2,153 1,981 
Canadore (592) 1,598 2,190 

Average 3,837 8 ,926 5,089 

Top 12 of each year. 

1. Available net assets represent u,e colleges' total assots minus total 
llablllUes and excludes ar1y externally restricted funds that cannot be used 
ror regular college operations, such as externally resllictcd assets and 
endowment funds. lhls represents the reserves tho colleges have available 
to use on their operations, which are not subject to oinernal restncUons on 
how funcfs must be spenL 

2. Fllll-tlmo-oqulvalcnt enrolment Includes the total 11eadcounl or lull-Ume 
students plus part•tlmc students who study, at maxlmurn, two-U,lrds 
(66. 7%) of a full,Umc cmtrsc load. 

partnerships were established to provide the public 

non-GTA colleges with an additional source of 

revenue from t he increased international student 

enrolment at their private college partner's campus. 
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Six of these 11 colleges formed partnerships 

prior to December 2019. Our analysis found that, for 

2019/20 alone, five of these six public colleges could 

have been in a deficit position had they not received 

this partnership revenue, unless they reduced their 

operating costs in response to lower enrolments. Based 

on the colleges' estimate of incremental costs related to 

the partnerships, the estimated potential reduction in 

expenses may not be sufficient for all the colleges to 

present a surplus position annually (Figure 16). 

In addition, we noted that a cha nge to the federal 

Post-Graduation Work Permit poses a risk for 

pubHc colleges that have e ntered into partnership 

arrangements. International students are motiv-

ated to study at post-secondary institutions that 

provide access to these permits, such as public col­

leges. Currently, private career college graduates 

are not eligible to apply. lf the federal policy were 

changed to allow graduates of private career colleges 

Public Colleges Oversight ~ 

to obtain these permits, there would be little incen­

tive for those private career colleges to maintain 

their partnershjps with public colleges. In February 

2019, Immigration, Ref-t1gees and Citizenship Canada 

confirmed, in response to a request made under the 

Access to Information Act, that the National Associa­

tion of Private Career Colleges has been lobbying for 

many years to gain access to the work permit for their 

member institutions. Prior to issuing the Partnerships 

Directive, the Ministry consulted with Immigra-

tion, Refugees and Citizenship Canada to d iscuss the 

potential risks of a policy change. The Ministry also 

maintains periodic communication with the federal 

department on this .issue. Some of the concerns 

raised by Immigration, Refugees and Citizensh ip 

Canada are addressed in the Partnerships Directive; 

however, en forcemeqt of the Partnerships Directive 

to address these concerns has not occurred. This is 

further discussed in Section 4.2.1. 

Figure 16: Estimated Financial Impact on Public Colleges' Surpluses without Revenue Generated from Public-Private 
College Partnerships in 2019/ 20 ($ million) 
Prepared by the omco of the Auditor General or 0nta~o 

Cambrian Hanson College 9.18 12.78 (3.60) 

Canadore 
Stanford International 

0.82 16.63 (15.81) 
College 

Lambton 
Cestar College, Queen's 

15.25 17.20 (1.95) 
College 

Northern Pures College 18.59 22.38 (3.79) 

St. Clair ACE Acumen 31.08 8.81 22.27 

St. Lawrence 
Alpha International 

7.80 14.31 (6.51) 
Academy, Canadian College 

Total 82.72 92.11 (9.39) 

I. Six public colle~es have partn~rshlps wllh private colleges that operated for the entlrc 2019/20 fiscal year. lwo public colleges entered Into pDrtnershlps In January 
2020, so the paru1erslllp oporatlons do not rollcct a full year to assess Its llnanolal Impact on tho colleges. 

2. Surplus Is calculated based on college-reported oxcoss of revenue over Ol(pcnses for U1c year. 

3. Net revenue equals the total revenue received by public colleges minus the amount paid by public colleges to the associated private career college under their 
partnership agreement 

4. These estlmates keep all other factors of the college's operatlons equol and do not consider the expenditures the college may have chosen to delay If It did nol 
earn the extra funds generated by the pannorshlp. The estimates also do not consider other costs spent on publlc college staff or other resources to establish 
and manage the partnership. The public colleges estlmatcd that lncrementol costs related to the partnerships represent up lo 0.5% of lhelr annual expenses. 
This cstlmate of avoidable cxpe11ses would not bo sufficient for U1e colleges wllfl a projected dcflcll to be In a surplus poslUon without U10 publh>privato college 
partnership. 
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... 
As mentioned in Section 4.1.1, the Ministry has 

not yet prepared a formal strategy, including options 

to diversify revenue streams, for the sector. 

RECOMMENDATION 2 

As part of the comprehensive international student 

strategy discussed in Recommendation 1, we rec­

ommend the Mirrislry of Colleges and Universities 

work with public colleges to develop a long-term 

strategy for the sector, including options to divers­

ify revenue streams to reduce the sector's high 

reliance on international s tudents. 

MINISTRY RESPONSE 

Tn line with Recommendation 1, the Ministry 

will work with public colleges, as well as 

other key post-secondary education stake­

holders (for example, publicly assisted 

universities, students, etc.), as it considers the 

development of an international post-secondary 

education sn·ategy. 

4.1.3 Pub I le Colleges Conduct Limited Oversight 
over International Student Recruitment Agencies 

Public colleges typically use numerous recruitment 

agencies to attract international students to study at 

their institutions. It is each public college's respon­

sibility to oversee its recruitment of international 

sLudents. For the four public colleges we reviewed 

in-depth, we noted that the number of contracted 

recruitment agencies varied from about 40 to 400. 

Based on our review of the four colleges we 

reviewed in-depth, we found that while they have 

internal processes for their review of recruionent 

agencies, none of them have formal policies in place 

that outline specific criteria for the selection and 

removal of these recruitment agencies. Without a 

formal policy, it will be at the discretion of college 

staff or management to determine which agency to 

contract with or not. For example, we noted that one 

college requires two references to contract a recruit­

ment agency, while the other three colleges generally 

pe rform reference checks, but are not required to do 

so. According to Manitoba's International Education 

Act and best practices, education providers should 

obtain at least three references before they sign a con­

tract with these agencies. 

ln addition, our audit found misleading adver­

tisements posted on some of the recruitment 

agencies' websites, which .in t hemselves, can create 

a reputationalrisk for the public college sector as 

a whole and also highlights the need for further 

scrutiny of these agencies. For the four public col­

leges we reviewed in-depth, we reviewed a sample 

of 100 international recruitment agency websites 

(25 for each college). Most (93) of them presented 

accurate information; however, seven made mis­

leading claims. Examples of misleading claims were 

related to the visa approval process, such as ensur-

ing 100% success, providing "visa assurance," and 

guaranteeing positive scores on the International 

English Language Testing. Figure 17 provides more 

detailed examples of the misleading advertisements 

we identified. We found that the four colleges monitor 

agency advertising and/or approve marketing 

materials only when they relate to their college brand• 

ing. However, the instances ofmJsleading claims 

we found were related to general statements made 

about the application. process by the agencies. These 

misleading claims, while not specific to a college, still 

do not accurately reflect the application process to 

students and should be monitored by the colleges on a 

regular basis. 

The recruitment agencies are remunerated based 

on commissions paid by the public college. Since 

these commissions are calculated as a percentage of 

tuiti.on paid by international students, recruitment 

agencies are incentivized to enro.l as many stu­

dents as they can in the programs that chai-ge the 

highest tuition fees. We noted that commissions 

paid to recruiters at the four colleges varied, ranging 

from 15% to 32% of first-year tuition fees. These 

commission amounts are equivalent to about 

5% to 14% of colleges1 non-salary-related expendi­

tures, from $0.9 million to $15.9 million in 2020/21 

(Figure 18). Thfa is equivalent to $753 to $1,455 paid 
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Public Colleges Oversight 

Figure 17: Examples of Misleading Advertisements Posted on Certain International Recruitment Agencies' Websites 
Proparod by the Office of the Auditor General of Ontario 

Example 1: 

At the time of our audit, four International recruitment agencies were providing misleading Information regarding visitor visa 
approvals. For example, Lwo agencies publicly posted that they could provide "visa assurance" or that they could "ensure 100 
percent visa success." The other two agencies claimed to "ensure a high visa success rate." We noted that while the use of these 
agencies' services may help potential students navigate the visa application process, they cannot guarantee visa approval. 

Example 2: 

Another two agencies were misleading students on the International EngHsh Language Testing System process as they listed 
"guaranteed scores" as a benefit of using their test preparation services, which cannot be guaranteed. Another agency stated that 
students will receive their test results prior to the ''official announcement date," to which no agency should have access. 

Example 3: 

One of the agencies Identified In Example 1 also Implied that students would receive college admissions more easily with their 
services. This agency advertised that benefits such as "priority admission, relax(ed) entry criteria, faster Institute response [and] 
quick offer letter'' would be given to students using their services. 

to agencies to recrnit international students on a per 

student basis. However, this remuneration structure 

does not consider qualitative factors such as students' 

satisfaction of the recrujtment processes and whether 

they were provided with accurate and complete 

information at the time of recntitment. We noted 

that one college (Sault) included a clause in its con­

nact that "agencies cannot make claims about visas"; 

however, contracts we reviewed for the other three 

colleges did not .include this specific clause. 

The Framework for Programs oflnstruction Min­

ister's Binding Policy Directive states that boards of 

governors are responsible for ensuring that college 

advertising and marketing do not contain inaccur­

a te or deceptive claims with regard to programs 

offered. There is no similar requirement related to 

advertising of college admissions processes, such as 

visa and language testing. 

RECOMMENDATION 3 

So that international students who are recruited 

to attend public colleges in Ontario are provided 

with accurate information to make informed 

decisions, we recommend that tbe Minjstry of Col­

leges and Universities: 

• expand the Ministry's directive requirements to 

include the advertising of college admissions 

processes, such as visa and language testing; 

• confirm that public colleges have a formal 

policy for the selection an.d removal of inter­

national student recruitment agencies; 

• require public colleges to monitor the agencies' 

advertisements at a regular interval (between 

three and six months) to confirm they are 

factually ci;>rrect, and chat any errors or other 

misleading advertisements found are corrected 

in a tii;nely manner; and 

• collect data related to fees paid to recruitment 

agencies, and assess the reasonableness of the 

fees paid on a per student basis. 

■ MINISTRY RESPONSE 

The Minisu-y is supportive of creating the condi­

tions that make it easier for everyone to access a 

high-quality post-secondary education. 

The Framework for Programs of instruction 

Minister's Binding Policy Directive requires that all 
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1111111' 
Figure 18: Commission Paid by Public Colleges to International Recruitment Agencies*($ 000) 
Prepa1ed by the ornce of the Auditor General or Ontario 

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 

Algonquin 1,617 

Boreal 

Cambrtan 753 

Canadore 561 

Centennial 9,329 

Conestoga 4,175 

Confederation 473 

Durliam 802 
Fanshawe 6,215 

Fleming 1,420 

George Brown 4,292 

Georgian 2,060 

Humber 4,600 

La Cite 13 

Lambton 9,448 

Loyallst 435 
MohaWI( 2,890 

Niagara 3,782 

Northern 37 

Sault 1,394 

Seneca 6,726 

Sheridan 5,479 

St. Clair 152 

St. Lawrence 889 

Total 67,542 

Colleges selected lor detailed review for this audit. 

• Tile Ministry does not track U1ls Information. 

2,579 

1,814 

1,623 

12,469 

9,024 

1,138 

1,710 

8,120 

3,796 

5,714 

3,167 

6,100 

20 

19,131 

786 

3,200 

8,026 

47 

372 

9,656 

6,458 

3,358 

1,321 

109,629 

marketing relating to college programs, whether 

undertaken directly by the college or indirectly 

by persons or entities acting on the college's 

behalf, be accurate and transparent. The Minisb·y 

will consider potential revisions to the Directive to 

provide additional clarity regarding the marketing 

of college programs to international students. 

Public colleges have the authority to determine 

the policies they have in place regarding inter• 

national student recruitment agencies. 

3,598 4,041 1,931 

6 

1,732 2,368 1,180 

2,498 2,541 3,390 

14,651 17,139 9,742 

13,810 19,930 13,953 

1,372 1,766 837 

2,989 2,727 1,363 

10,695 12,520 8,518 

4,467 4,414 1,613 

6,640 6,834 4,901 

5,369 5,497 3,300 

7,000 7,800 5,500 

37 71 75 

13,303 10,329 14,692 

1,505 2,565 902 

3,421 4,364 2,268 

11,102 7,363 4,407 

112 906 266 

1,157 1,534 2,423 
14,177 18,287 15,863 

6,121 7,478 5,046 

11,650 15,085 11,601 

1,770 1,552 887 
139,176 157,111 114,664 

4.1.4 Domestic Students Generally Have 
Access to Public Colleges Despite International 
Student Growth 

At the four colleges we selected for detailed review, we 

found that qualified domestic students who applied to 

these colleges between 2015/16 and 2019/20 gener­

ally had access to the colleges to which they applied, 

despite increasing numbers of international students 

during that period. 
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Our analysis found that the number of domestic 

students applying each year has decreased for the four 

colleges. This declining trend in applications is con­

sistent with Ontario's demographic trends a nd high 

school graduates' preferences shifting toward univer­

siLy, rather than college, education. As shown in the 

application and acceptance data of domestic students 

in Appendix 14, from 2015/16 to 2019/20, all four 

colleges have seen a decrease in domestic applica­

tions. We also noted that Lhe domestic acceptance rate 

(which represents the number of students accepted as 

a percentage of applicants) has not declined signifi­

cantly over the same time period. 

In the Admissions Criteria Minister's Binding Policy 

Directive, preference must be provided to residents of 

Ontario when selecting applicants to accept into over­

subscribed programs. This represents any program 

where the number of applicants who meet the admis­

sions criteria exceed the number of spots available 

for acceptance. After all qualified residents of Ontario 

are accepted, then residents of other provinces and 

territories in Canada are considered, and then finally 

all other applicants. However, the Ministry does not 

monitor college information at the program capacity/ 

seats available level for oversubscribed programs. As 

such, it is unable to confirm that residents of Ontario 

are given admissions priority as per the Admissions 

Criteria Minister's Binding Policy Directive. 

So that domestic students continue to have access 

to study at public colleges and high-demand 

programs, we recommend that the Ministry of 

Colleges and Universities track applicant informa­

tion and confirm that Ontario residents are given 

priority to oversubscl'ibed programs. 

MINIS'J!RY RESPONSl --------
The Ministry will explore what processes will have 

to be put i.n place to ensUJ·e consistent tracking and 

analysis of acceptance rates. 

Public Colleges Oversight ~ 

4.2 Public-Private College 
Partnerships 
As discussed in Section 2.4, some public colleges have 

established parlnerships with pdvate career colleges 

(public-private college part.nersl1ips) for the delivery 

of public college programs. As shown in Appendix 11, 

in September 2017 the Ministry informed the public 

colleges with partnerships that they were to be wound 

down, as the partnerships were deemed to be not 

consistent with the Ministry's goals for the delivery 

of international post-secondary education. However, 

in December 2018, the then Minister determined that 

public-private college partnerships would be permit­

ted to continue within limits. We inquired on several 

occasions for documentation outlining the rationale 

for the reversal of the Ministry decision. Ministry staff 

were unable to provide any documentation outlining 

the factors thal led to the Minister's decision to allow 

the partnerships to continue. 

Under the existing partnership agreements, the 

public college obtains a portion of the tuition 

revenue- usua.lly between 20% and 30%--with its 

private college partner keeping the remainder. We 

noted that five of the private career colleges chat 

have entered into partnerships with public coll.eges 

earned almost 100% of their total revenue from 

these partnership arrangements. The net profit 

margins for these private partners ranges between 

18% and 53% based on their 2020 audited finan­

cial statements. 

Further, our audit found that some of these part­

nerships did not uphold enrolment requiremenls, a nd 

that their quality assurance and student support 

processes could be strengthened . These findings are 

further discussed below. 

4.2.1 The Ministry Has Not Taken Timely Action 
to Have the Pt1blic-Private College Partnerships 
Comply with the Ministry's International Student 
Enrolment Maximums 

The Public College-Private Partnerships Minister's 

Binding Policy Directive (Partnerships Directive) 
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states lhaL the private college partner campus(es) 

(pa1·tnership campus) can enrol a maximum of two 

international students for every international student 

at the public college's campus(es) (home campus). 

The six public colleges that already had partnerships 

established when the Pru·tnerships Directive came into 

effect in December 2019 were allowed to choose their 

highest partnership enrolment level in 2018 or 2019 

and establish a legacy enrolment limit at that level. 

Since five of these had higher enrolment than che 2: 1 

enrolment ratio requirement in a previous semester 

in 2018 or 2019, they chose a legacy enrolment limit 

at their highest international student enrolment levels 

from either of those years. 

If a college's legacy enrolment level exceeds the 

2:1 ratio, international student enrolment at the 

partnership campus cannot increase above the legacy 

nwnber until the home campus emolment increases 

and the 2 : 1 ratio is achieved. Public colleges that 

exceed the 2:1 ratio must submit an enrolment plan 

co the Ministry with a timeline that indicates when 

the 2:1 ratio will be achieved. However, the Ministry 

did not give a deadline for when these colleges had to 

submit lhese plans. 

We assessed t he partnership enrolment levels 

using fall 2020 enrolment data and found that 

international student enrolment ar four of the 

five partnership colleges increased beyond their 

legacy levels (as shown in Figure 19). We also 

found that, as of September 2021, two of the five 

colleges with legacy enrolment limits had not yet 

submitted an enrolment plan indicating when they 

would not exceed the required 2:1 enrolment ratio 

maximum. The Ministry i.ndicated that, due to 

COVID-19, colleges had to undertake signi ficant work 

to ensure program continuity and provide services. As 

a result, at the time of our audit, the Ministry had not 

yet established a deadline for receipt of these plans. 

We reviewed the three enrolment plans that were 

submitted fromLambLon, Northern and Can.adore 

(Figure 20). We noted that Lamb ton forecast its 

enrolment out co 2030 and indicated that over 

this period it will not be in compliance with the 

2: 1 enrolment ratio requirement. Northern plans 

to increase international student enrolment at lts 

partnership campus above its legacy level. Canadore 

projects ro decrease its emolment rntio to 2.4: 1 by 

winter 2022 but did not indicate when it expects 

Figure 19: International Student Enrolments at Public Colleges That Have Public-Private College Partnerships and 

Their Compliance with Enrolment Requirements 
Prepared by the orncc of tho Auditor General or Ontario 

Cambrian Hanson Canada 2,409 3,061 1,122 2.7:1 

Canadore 
Stanford International 2,446 4,636 527 8.8:1 
College 

L.ambton 
Cestar College, 7,377 5,448 614 8.9:1 
Queen's College 

Northern Pures College 2,612 4,088 477 8.6:1 

St. Clair ACE Acumen n/a2 2,613 3,858 0.7:1 

Alpha International 
St. Lawrence ,Academy, Canadian 2,187 3,314 1,060 3.1:1 

College 

Enrolment exc:9eded legacy lel/lll and 2:J raUo was not rnet 
1. Private pal'lJlershlp collages ore not supposed to Increase their lntemauonal student enrolrnont above the legacy number until their home oampus enrolment 

fnc,eases and a home-campus-to•partnorslllp-oampus raUo of 2: 1 or lower Is ~chleved. 
2. St. Clair College was not required to submit a plan because Its homo-ca111pus-to-partnershlp-campus ratio did not oxcoed tho 2:1 rauo. 

No 

Yes 

Yes 

Yes 

n/a2 

No 
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Figure 20: Summaries of Public Colleges' Plans Submitted to the Ministry Related to Meeting the Required 
2:1 Enrolment Ratio under the Public College-Private Partnerships Minister's Binding Policy Directive 
Prepared by the ornce or the Auditor Goner~! or Ontarto 

Plan 1: Northern College 

Northern submitted Its first enrolment plan to the Ministry In December 2019, and a revised plan in October 2020 to reflect the 
Impact of COVID-19 on Its enrolment projections. The college projects international student enrolment growth every year at Its home 
campus, from 910 International students In 2020 to 2,500 by 2025. The college estimates it will comply with the 2: 1 enrolment 
ratio requirement In 2023. 

In Its October 2020 plan, Northern Indicated that Its partnership campus enrolment was about 4,100 In fall 2020. This represents 
an Increase of 1,488 students above its legacy enrolment level Of 2,612. This growth does not comply with the Partnerships 
Directive, which stales that partnership campuses are not to Increase their international student enrolment above the legacy 
amount until the 2:1 enrolment ratio requirement is met. With this Increase In partnership campus enrolment, Northern's enrolment 
ratio Increased as per Figure 19, 

To comply with the 2:1 enrolment ratio requirement, Northern plans to reduce Intake a1 its partnership campus In May and 
S.eptember 2021, and January 2022. This action would decrease enrolment at its partnership campus by approximately 500 
students each year from 2021 to 2023. until Northern compiles with the legacy enrolment threshold and the 2:1 enrolment ratio 
requirement. 

Plan 2: Lambton College 

Lambton applied for ministerial approval to renew its two existing partnerships In July 2020 and also submitted Its enrolment plan 
to the Minister In September 2020. The enrolment plan forecasts enrolment out to 2030 and indicates that the college will not 
comply with the 2:1 enrolment ratio requirement during this time, nor does It provide an indication as to when the requirement will 
be met. The college projects that it will have a 3: 1 enrolment ratio In 2031. 

Ministry staff sought direction from the Minister on whether to recommend approval of tl1e renewal applications given that 
the enrolment plan does not specify when the college will comply with the 2:1 enrolment requirement, and therefore does not 
comply with the Partnerships Directive. Rather than requesting a new enrolment plan from the college that Includes a timeline for 
compliance with the enrolment ratio, the Minister accepted Lambton's enrolment plan ancl allowed the approval process For renewal 
to proceed. 

Plan 3: Canadore College 

Canad ore submitted Its enrolment plan to the Ministry in January 2021. Canadore estimated that its enrolment ratio would 
decrease from 6:1 In winter 2021 to 2.4:1 by winter 2022 due to the college closing Intake at the partnership campus earlier 
than previous years, to limit enrolment. The college also had plans to Introduce special programs at the home campus to Increase 
international enrolment. 

The enrolment plan did not specify when the college would comply with the 2: 1 enrolment requirement, and therefore does not 
comply with the Partnerships Directive, but the college Indicated that a three-year detailed enrolment forecast would be provided 
at a later time. The enrolment forecast had not been received by the Ministry, nor had 1he Ministry requested a new enrolment plan 
from Canadore, at the time of our audit. 

to achieve the 2:1 requirement. As such, none of 

the three colleges' plans complies w ith the Partner­

sh.ips Directive. 

The December 2019 Partnerships Directive also 

states that the Ministry will: 

• assess the colleges' compliance with the enrolment 

requirements on an annual basis, starting in fa ll 
2020, using fall 2020 enrolment numbers; 

• evaluate the colleges' progress on meeting their 

t imelines as part of a policy review in fa ll 2021; 

and 
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--
• consider compliance measures to ensure the 

poUcy's requirements are met and update the Dir­

ective as needed. 

In August 2020, the Ministry communicated to 

the colleges that international enrnlmems would 

be assessed on a case-by-case basis in fall 2020. The 

Ministry acknowledged the impact of COVID-19 on 

college partnerships, but confirmed chat the partner­

ship enrolment ratio requirement would remain in 

effect. However, we found that as of May 2021, the 

Ministry had not completed an assessment of the col­

leges' fal l 2020 enrolments or whether the colleges 

complied with the 2:1 enrolment ratio requirement 

in accordance with the Partnerships Directive. As of 

September 2021, the Minisu-y has not yet dec.ided 

to conduct a formal assessment of the enrolment 

requirements for falJ 2021. As well, it had not 

developed a plan to conduct the policy review as 

required by the Partnerships Directive. 

We also found that in August 2020, the Ministry 

received Cabinet approval to implement financial 

penalties for non-compliance with either the enrol­

ment ratio requirement for new partnershJps or the 

legacy enrolment levels for pre-existing partner­

ships. Subsequently, the Ministry drafted a revision 

to the Parb1erships Directive to include compliance 

measures. At the time of our audit, the Minister had 

not yet given approval to issue a revised Partner­

ships Directive. As a result, there are currently no 

penalties in place for non-compliance with the Part­

nersh ips Directive. 

RECOMMENDATION 5 

To comply with the Public College-Private 

Partnerships Minister's Binding Policy Dfrec-

tive, we recommend that the Ministry of Colleges 

and Universities: 

• set a timeline for public colleges to submit their 

international enrolment plans and establish a 

reasonable and timely date to comply with the 

2 :1 international enrolment ratio requirement; 

and 

• .implement penalties or other measures for 

non-compliance with the Directive. 

The Ministry acknowledges the delay in enforcing 

the requirement to submit enrolment plans and in 

implementing compliance measures. As part of its 

planned review of the Directive, the Ministry will 

establish a timeline for colleges to submit enrol­

ment plans and implement compliance measures 

tl1rough the release of a revised Directive. 

RECOMMENDATION 6 

Given the public college-private partnerships 

started as early as 2005 and the number of 

partnerships has been growing, we recom­

mend the Ministry of Colleges and Universities 

review the financial model for these partner­

ship arrangements. 

MINISTRY RESPONSE 

The Ministry will consider including financial 

aspects of public college-private partnerships in 

its planned review of the Directive, taking into 

account that partnership agreements are nego­

tiated by colleges and their partners, and the 

Ministry is not party to them. 

4.2.2 Most Public-Private College Partnerships 
and Their Programs Have Not Yet Been Subject 
to an Independent Quality Assurance Audit 

Quality Assurance Audits Not Conducted for Public­
Private College Partnerships in a Timely Manner 
The quality assu rance audit process for public 

colleges, including those that have a public-private 

college partnership, is conducted by the Quality 

Assurance Service on a five-year cycle. The College 

Quality Assurance Audit Process Standards were 

updated in May 2019 to include the assessment 

of quality assurance mechanisms at partnership 
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campuses. Prior to the standards update, there were 

no requirements to specifically assess programs 

offered by public-private college partnerships. 

However, one college (Cambrian) had a partnersh ip 

program included as part of its audit in early 2019 

prior co the update. 

We found that the five-year cycle is too long as ic 

means that some public colleges with partnerships 

will not be aud ited against the new standards until 

2026. Eleven partnerships existed at the time of our 

audit; six of them were established between 2005 and 

2015. Depending on the last date at which the public 

colleges were audited, we found that the five-year 

cycle means that some public colleges with partner­

ships will not be audited against the new standards 

until 2026. Because these parmerships are becom­

ing more popular and privace career colleges are nor 

required to follow the same quality assurance frame­

work as public colleges for their own programs, it 
is important for a third party-such as the Quality 

Assurance Service-to confirm, on a more frequent 

basis, that these priva te partners are also meeting 

the same quality standards expected at the public 

colleges. 

As of September 2021, we noted that Lhe QualiLy 

Assurance Service pel'formed quality assurance audits 

at only two colleges that have a public-private college 

partnership: Lambton's audit was completed in April 

2021; and St. Clails audit was completed in Septem­

ber 2021. 

Bot h colleges met aJI six, high level audit stan­

dards. For Lambton, there were certain requirements 

under each standard that were only partially met. For 

example, the audit panel was unable to confirm 

that Lambton had appropriate academic policies or 

procedures governing the way it established arrange­

ments with irs external pa rtners in several areas. As 

such, it recommended that Lambton develop poli• 

cies and procedures to oversee its private partner in 

areas including program admissions, certification and 

quality assurance. ln discussion with Lambton, we 

were advised that the same policies and procedures 

developed by the public college apply to its private 

partners. However, as a partnership program was not 

Public Colleges Oversight ~ 

selected as part of the quality assurance audit, certain 

information was not requested by the audit panel 

for consideration. A follow-up is expected to he per­

formed 18 months after the April 2021 audit. The 

college indicated to our Office chal it plans to provide 

evidence to confirm compliance w ith this audit 

requirement at that time. Under the existing five-year 

cycle, the Quality Assurance Service w ill not audiL this 

partnership again until 2026. All qua lity assurance 

audits for the remaining nine public colleges with 

partnership anangements will be completed by 2026. 

No Requirement Tliat a Program Offered by a Private 
Partner Must Be Selected for a Quality Assurance Audit 

As pa1t of the Quality Assurance Service's audit 

process, they select a sample of four to eight programs 

that are offered by the public college. The public 

college must complete a self-assessment, called the 

self-study report, for these selected programs. In most 

audits, only selected programs are used by the public 

college to demonstrate that t hey comply with the 

six audit standards of the College Quality Assmance 

Audit Process; a few colleges provide evidence from 

other programs. Also, the audit paneJ has the oppor­

tuni ty to interview s tudents and staff associated with 

these selected programs as pare of the process. 

We found that the Quality Assurnnce Service's 

process of selecting programs foT review is performed 

randomly. As we.II, there is no requirement that a 

program offered by a public-private college partner• 

ship should be selected as part of Lhe sample. If a 

program caught by a public-private college partner­

ship is not selected, it is not included within the scope 

of the audit panel and the panel would not assess 

it against the six audit standards. This also means 

thal the audit panel will not have the opportunity to 

interview the students, graduates, and faculty at the 

parmershlp campus because it is not standard practice 

to interview personnel from programs not selected 

as part of the sample. For Lambton's audit in April 

2021, none of the programs offered at its public-pri­

vate college part nerships were selected for audit. For 

St. Clair's most recent audiL, one program offered at 

its public-private college partnership was selected. 
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... 
Quality Assurance Service Does Not Directly Obtain 
Certain Audit Information from Private Partners 
We found that when the Quality Assurance Service 

conducts audits at public colleges that have private 

partners, it obtains information and supporting docu­

ments through the public colleges instead of directly 

fro m the private partners, as it does not have the 

authority to do so. Currently, although audit panels 

can interview the management and support staff of a 

private partne1~ they do not do so as it is not an estab­

lished audit requirement. Without the requirement to 

interview the private partners to obtain information, 

the audit panels cannot assess these partners' quality 

assurance processes independently and efficiently. 

RECOMMENDATION 7 

To independently confi rm that private partners 

are delivering a quality of education consistent 

with that provided by the public colleges, we 
recommend that the Ministry of Colleges and 

Universities confirm with public colleges that they 

require the Ontario College Quali ty Assurance 

Service to: 

• conduct quality assurance reviews of partner­

ship arrangements at public colleges that focus 

solely on the new requirement in the College 

Quality Assurance Audit Process Standards 

established in May 2019 every two to three 

years, in addition to the full quality assurance 

review that is cond ucted on a five-year cycle; 

· • include a requirement that at least one 

program offered by the public-private college 

partnership is selected for audit as part of the 

quality assurance audi t process; and 

• interview the private partners' management 

and request audit-related information di recdy 

from private colleges as part of its quality 

assurance audit processes. 

The Ministry agrees that confirming that private 

partners are delivering quality education by includ­

ing partnership programs in the Ontario College 

Quality Assurance Service's audits is important 

The Ministry will encourage the Ontario College 

Quality Assurance Service to expedite its audit 

timelines and processes with respect to colleges 

with partnerships. 

4.2.3 Monitoring of Student Supports Provided 
by Pa,t ners Differs between Public Colleges 

Student supports and services can include mental 

health support, wireless internet access, tutoring 

services, academic suppor t and s tudent activities. 

We found that the supports provided to students 

attending partnership campuses, and the processes 

that public colleges follow to confirm that these stu­

dents receive an appropriate range of supports, could 

be strengthened through regular monitor ing of what 

services are actually being offered. 

The Partnerships Directive stares that "stu­

dents enrolled in programs offered through public 

college-private partnerships are enti tled to all the 

rights and privileges afforded to other students of 

the college. As partnership students are students 

of the college, colleges will be held accountable for 

ensuring access to an appropriate range of student 

supports, either on the partnership campus, in the 

community, or through the college's main campus." 

Three of the four public colleges we reviewed 

in-depth have a partnership arrangement. We noted 

that for each of the three colleges, their private part­

ners are expected to provide most of the student 

services, as per their agreements. However, we found 

that the extent to which the three public colleges 

monitor compliance varies, as shown in Figure 21. 

RECOMMENDATION 8 

To help ensure students have access to an appro­

priate ra nge of services (such as mental health 

support, wireless internet access, tu toring ser­

vices, academic support a nd student activities) 

at private career colleges, as required by their 

public-private college partnership agreements 

and the Ministry of Colleges and Universities' 
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Figure 21: Examples of Public Colleges' Varied Monitoring of Student Services and Supports Provided by 

Public-Private College Partnerships 
Prepared by the Office of the Auditor General of Ontario 

One college (Loyalist) entered Into Its public-private partnership agreement In 2020, and for the first year Its partner operated 
out of a temporary campus. Due to the challenges associated with the COVID-19 pandemic coinciding with the opening of the 
partnership, Loyalist focused on ensuring students had COVID-19-related supports (Including entering the country and proper 
quarantine facility). As programs were held remotely and the temporary campus would not be used In the next year, less focus 
was spent on the campus and the agreed-upon supports that would have been provided traditionally. 

Another college (Sault) entered Its partnership agreement with trlOS In January 2020 and has provided students with a 
handbook that outlines all available services at the partnership campus and how to access these services. Prior to the first 
Intake of students, Sault compared the services offered by trlOS to the services already offered at Its home campus to ensure 
an appropriate range of services Is offered at Its partnership campus. Sault conducted a site visit to observe the delivery of 
services by trlOS at the Inception of the partnership. Due to the pandemic, Sault has switched to monthly virtual meetings 
that Include discussion of the delivery of student services. 

The third college (St. Clair) entered Into a partnership agreement In December 2013. It has provided students with a 
handbook that outlines all available services at the partnership campus, and has also annually compared the services 
It provides to those provided by the private campus. During COVID-19, St. Clalr reviewed the services provided at both 
campuses and made recommendations to Improve the services being offered by the partnership campus. 

Public College-Private Partnersh ips Minister's 

Binding Policy Directive, we recommend that 

public colleges: 

• monitor student services offered at their 

private partners' campuses and compare them 

to the services offered by the public colleges 

annually;and 

• address any shortcomings identified in 

these reviews. 

RESPONSE FROM PUBLIC CO~LEQES 

The public colleges with public-private college 

parLnerships strongly support this recommendation. 

We have worked collaboratively to develop a 

cohesive Quality Assurance Framework, aligned 

with the Ontario College Quality Assurance 

Service standards, to ensure consistency between 

the public/private partners for both academic and 

service excellence. This includes all student servi­

ces mentioned and the requirement to address any 

potential shortcomings on an annual basis. Public 

colleges have taken the position that the oversight 

of quality assurance rests with the public colleges. 

4.2.4 Two Partnerships That Operate Outside of 
Ontario Conflict with Ontario's Objectives and 
Avoid Certain Legislative Requirements of Other 
Provinces 

As shown in Figure 8, two public colleges, Cambrian 

and St. Lawrence, have partnerships with private 

career colleges that have locations in Vancouver, 

British Columbia. They were established prior to the 

Ministry's Par tnerships Directive. Between the two 

partnersh ips, 2,385 students were enrolled at the 

Vancouver campuses in the winter 2021 semester. 

These scudents l ive and study in Vancouver, and upon 

graduation are l ikely to continue to reside in Vancou­

ver and therefore less likely to contribute to the job 

market in Ontario. We found that this cross-jurisdic­

tional parmersilip arrangement is complicated and 

docs not align with one of the principles of the Part­

nerships Directive, which is to protect and enhance 

Ontario's reputation in post-secondary education and 

as a place to live and work. 

British Columbia's legislative framework requires 

private colleges operating Ln the province, as well 

as out-of-province institutions operating in British 
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Columbia, to be certified under its Private Training 
Act. In the absence of a partnership arrangement, this 

would mean that the Ontario public colleges would 

have to be certified as private institutions in British 

Columbia. However, the rwo Ontario public colleges 

with partnerships have not done so. Instead they rely 

on the private career college partners in British Col­

umbia to be certified, as iL is the private partner that 

is delivering most of the educational activities. The 

B.C. Ministry of Advanced Education and Skills Train­

ing indicated to our Office that, under its legislative 

framework, when the private partner presents a new 

program that has been developed by the Ontario 

public college for approval, the Min.ist.ry does not have 

the authority to take the partnership arrangement 

into consideration when deciding to approve or deny 

the program, even if concerns exists. 

As well, British Columbia requires the private 

career college delivering the education to grant 

the credential. Therefore, the students study-

ing at partnerships in British Columbia receive 

two credentials-one from the private partner in 

British Columbia, and one from the public college 

in Ontario. In contrast, for partnerships localed 

within Ontario, the students graduating from a 

public-private college partnership obtain only one 

credential, from the public college in Ontario. The 

dual-credential outcome (one from the Ontario 

public college and another from the private partner in 

British Columbia) is not an outcome that is promoted 

by the Partnerships Directive in Ontario. 

Additionally, there is a Jack of transparency 

for students who are studying at these Vancouver 

campuses. Because Ontario public colleges cannot 

operate in British Columbia without being certi-

fied as private institutions in British Columbia, Lhe 

private partner cannot advertise its Vancouver loca­

tion or programs as a "partner" of the Ontario public 

college. However, the same private partners are able 

to advertise that their students earn an Ontario public 

college credential upon graduation while studying 

in Vancouver. The accountabilities of Ontario public 

colleges and their pr.ivate partners in Vancouver are 

often unclear and can lead to confusion for both stu­

dents and the public. 
We noted that staff from the Minisn-y of Advanced 

Ed ucation and SkiJls Training in British Columbia and 

Immigration, Refugees and Citizenship Canada have 

raised the same concerns about this cross-jurisdic­

tional partnership arrangement to Ontario's Ministry 

of Colleges and Universities since 2017; both parties 

recommended that the cross-jurisdictional partner­

ships should not continue at least until Ontario is able 

to consult with al I provinces on the framework for the 

partnerships. However, the Min.istry in Ontario has 

still not fully addressed these concerns at the time of 

our audit. 

RECOMMENDATION 9 

To increase transparency to students and maintain 

the principles of the Public College-Private Part­

nerships Minister's Binding Policy Directive, we 

recommend that the Ministry of Colleges and 

Universities revisit the existing British Columbia 

cross-jurisdictional partnership arrangement and 

determine whether it should allow Ontario public 

colleges to continue to operate with parmerships 

in B1i tish Columbia, and, if the decision is to allow 

them to operate, create a formal agreement with 

British Columbia and update the Partnerships Dir­

ective to address concerns. 

MINIS'l1RY RESPONSE 

The Ministry acknowledges the cross-jurisdictional 

challenges associated with public college-private 

provider partnerships. The Ministry will consider 

consulting with its counterparts in other prov­

inces and with the federal government as part of 

its planned review of the DirecUve and to inform. 

decision-making about partnerships in other 

provinces. 
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4.3 Performance Measurement and 
Reporting 
The Ministry entered into Srrategic Mandate 

Agreements with each of the 24 public colleges 

for 2020-2025. During the development of the Stra­

tegic Mandate Agreements, the Mtnist:ry consulLed 

various stakeholders, including holding one-on-one 

discussions with public colleges, to explain the new 

process and receive feedback on the metrics and tar­
get-setting p rocess. Some of this feedback has guided 

adjustments to the target-setting process and was 

incorporated imo the agreements s igned in Septem­

ber 2020. 

These agreements and meu·ics focus on perform­

ance-based outcomes. They do not address long-term 

planning and risk mitigation with respect ro the 

sector, such as co.lieges' h igh reliance on international 

student enrolment. 

As discussed in Section 2.2.4, the Minisn-y aims 

to allocate up to 60% of the operating funding it 

p rovides to each public college based on the college 

meeting 10 performa nce metric targets. 

We reviewed the Ministry's processes for setting 

and measuring Lhe performance-based metrics used 

for funding decisions and found instances where: 

• performance targets are set lower Lhan a public 

college's previous year's actual performance 

(Sectio n 4.3.1); 

• one metric is not w ilhin public colleges' control 

(Section 4 .3.2); 

• one metric could disincen tivize public colleges 

from offering programs chat are needed to meel 

employment needs (Section 4.3.3); and 

• two metrics encourage continued dependence on 

international student enrolment, despite the risks 

associated with such dependence (Sectio n 4 .3.4). 

Public Colleges Oversight ~ 

4.3.1 Ministry Performance-Basecl Targets Used 
to Allocate Ministry Funding to Public Colleges 
Do Not All Provide Incentive for College Sector 
Improvement 

The way coUeges' performance-based targets arc 

established in the 2020-2025 Strategic Mandate 

Agreements can result in undesired consequences. 

Colleges that exceed thefr own perfonnance target on 

a metric in one year could still have a lower target set 

on that metric for the following year. Prom our review 

of the four selected public colleges, we noted that 18 

of the 20 metrics ( = 4 colleges x 5 Strategic Mandate 

Agreement metrics each) were met in 2020/21. 

Of these 18 metrics, eight have a lower target set 

for 2021/22 compared to those of the prior year. 

Figure 22 provides a comparison between 

the target and actual performance on the five 

metrics reported by each of the four public col-

leges in 2020/21. Our analysis found that each 

of the colleges met at least fou r of the five 

metrics for 2020/2] . Where the college met the 

2020/21 ta rget, we expected that the target for the 

following year (2021/22) would be at least the same 

or higher. However, we found that for three (Loyal­

ist, Sau It and St. Clair) of L he four colleges, their 

2021/22 ta rgets were set lower than their previous 

yea.r's targets, despite exceed ing performance in the 

previous year. For example, Sault's graduation ra.te 

for 2020/21 was 64.6%, ouLperforming its target of 

61.5%. However, the target set by the Minisu·y for the 

following year, 2021/22, was only 60.5%, which is 

1% lower than the 2020/21 target and 4% lower than 

the actual performance in 2020/21. 

Dur ing the development of the metrics and 

target-setting meLhodology, the Minist1-y originally 

proposed to set a requirement that targets can be set 

no lower than the lowest of the college's historical 

performances over any of the past three years. This 

requirement would have prevented the tat'gers from 

being set lower than prior years' actual performances 

to make targets more easily achievable. After consult­

ing with colleges an d universities, the Ministry did 
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Figure 22; Allowable Performance Targets and Actual Performance Metrics Reported by Select Public Colleges 
Prepared by the Office or the Auditor General of Ontario -r1,1 I'°·' ..., 11 r.• ~,. I lll f:" lllli.~I 

I IWJfVJ I FM.Jil 

: mtmn' 

~ m!mlE l "l'ta:9 h ll!'l l ■ l'IH 

IM1il "'":~ r !.J: !llllll lr:: I ri\_!llit" 2020/21 2020/21 202:1./22 llfjl'a,l l\llfrM.11.-:.1 . 

Graduate employment rate In a related 74.8 74.3 74.0 ✓ I X 
field (%) 

Institutional strength and focus(%) 45.8 44.4 42,6 ✓ X .... 
~ Graduation rate (%) 65.6 67.6 66.3 n/a3 

~ 
X 

.9 
Community and local impact of student 13.9 12,9 13.1 ✓ ✓ 

enrolment (%) 

Economic lmpact4 ($ million) 72.9 61.5 66.1 ✓ ✓ 

Graduate employment rate in a related 72.3 71.6 71.5 ✓ X 

field (%) 

Institutional strength and focus (%) I 37.4 33.7 25,1 ✓ X 

-"S Graduation rate (%) 64.6 61.5 60.5 ✓ X 
ro 

(./) 

Community and local Impact of student 6.6 5.6 5.5 ✓ X 

enrolment (%) 

Economic lmpactll (%) 70.5 70.2 70.4 ✓ ✓ 

Graduate employment rate In a related 75.1 72.4 74.9 ✓ ✓ 
field (%) 

Institutional strength and focus (%) 20,1 18.2 19.3 ✓ ✓ 
ro 
u 

Graduation rate (%) (IJ 67.4 64.9 66.2 ✓ ✓ 
C 
(IJ 

(./) 
Community and local impact of student 4.6 3.7 4,0 ✓ ✓ 

enrolment(%) 

Economic lmpact6 (#) 25 I 13 14 ✓ ✓ 

Graduate employment rate In a related 59.2 64.8 61.7 X n/a3 

field (%) 

Institutional strength and focus (%) 30,5 28.7 27.9 ✓ X 

I 

·= -(C 

u Graduation rate (%) I 72.5 67.7 67.5 ✓ I X 

til Community and local Impact of student 5.9 4.5 4.9 ✓ ✓ 

enrolment (%) 

Economic lmpact7 ($ mllllon) 110.2 19.0 38.4 ✓ ✓ 

1. Public colleges selected as part or our audit to conduct detailed reviews. 
2. Those performance metrlcs and torgots were set under tire 2020-2025 Strategic Mandate Agreomonts between the Ministry and respective public colleges 

at the time of our audit. Refer 10 Appendix 6 for the definition or ooch perforrnailce metric. 

3. Nol applicable - no expectation for 2021/22 target to Increase If 2020/21 target was not met. 
4. Economic Impact motric for Loyalist Is de1lned as the total spending Impact of lhc college, which Includes operational, construction and student spending. 
5. Economic Impact metric for Sault ls denned as tho percentage of clients served that gained employment through Employment Services in Sault Ste. Marlo and 

Blind River. 
6. Economic Impact metrlc for Senec~ Is denned as the number or ventures that are developed and/or launched on an annual basis through partnership with 

Seneca Innovation, 
7. Economic Impact mettle for St, Clair Is defined as the economic Impact of lntemallonal students based on their average expenditure to tho regional economy 

(Wi~dsor, Essex and Chatham-Kent), 
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not move forward with this proposed requfrement 

in response to concerns raised about year-over-year 

volatility for the metric and the desire to mitigate 

the impact of th is volatiJity on performance-based 

funding. This has created the opportunity for 

lower targets. 

RECOMMENDATION 10 

To foster and support continuous improvement 

of public college performance under future Stra­

tegic Mandate Agreements, we recommend that 

the Ministry of Colleges and Universities work 

with public colleges to reassess their performance 

target-setting formula so that targets are not set 

lower th.an the prior year's target and/or actual 

performance achieved. 

MINISTRY RESPONSE 

The Ministry agrees that it is important to foster 

and support continuous improvement of public 

college performance through the Strategic 

Mandate Agreements. 

The target-setting methodology has been 

designed with this goal in mind and was 

developed in consultation with the co11ege and 

university sector. As such, the target-setting meth­

odology includes a 'continuous improvement 

factor' in the calculation and is aligned with insti­

tutional pe1:formance history, taking into account 

the differentiated performance strengths of the 

college system, as well as year-over-year perform­

ance fluctuations. 

1n developing the next round of Strategic 

Mandate Agreements, the ministry will evaluate 

the outcomes from the current Strategic Mandate 

Agreements process to assess the effectiveness of 

the model. 

RESPON.S!FROMTHE.POIR SEtBCJBJ 
PUB~IC C8LllEGES 

It is entirely appropriate that, on occasion, metric 

targets may be lowered. As the Auditor General's 

Public Colleges Oversight ,._ 

report correctly points out, many of the established 

Strategic Mandate Agreement metrics are beyond 

the control of the college. All metrics, whether in 
the control of the institutions or not, are intrin­
sically tied to dynamic, external events that 

can impact performance in positive and nega-

tive ways. Therefore, public colleges should be 

permitted to work with the Ministry of Colleges 

and Universities to reassess their performance 

target-setting formu la, resulting, in some cases, in 

a lowering of targets, to set up reasonable condi­

tions for success. 

4.3.2 Performance on Graduate Employment 
Rate Metric Is Not 100% within the Control of 
Public Colleges 

One of the performance metrics by which public col­

leges are evaluated is the gi-aduate employment rate 

in a related field (Appendix 6). This is defined as the 

percentage of graduates employed full-time in a field 

folly or partially related to their program six months 

after graduation, compared to the total number of 

iraduates employed full-time. 

While this new metric will provide useful infor­

mation on how success fol graduates are in find ing 

employment re_lated to their stud ies and can gauge 

whether program offerings by a college align with 

market needs retrospectively, performance on this 

metric is not 100% within the control of public 

colleges and colleges will be penalized if their per­

formance on this metric does not meet set targets in 

the future. For example, employment rate, whether 

in a graduate's field or not, is largely dependent on 

the overaU economy-this was noted as a concern by 

several of the 24 public colleges in our discussions. 

In 2020/21, one of the four colleges we 

examined in-depth did not achieve its target 

on this metric, in part due to the impact of 

COVID-19, although the college met all other targets 

that year (Figure 22). The Ministry estimated that 

the total impact to the colleges that missed their 

2020/21 targets would be about $880,000. Any 

future downturn in the economy during the term of 
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the Strategic Mandate Agreements, which would be 

out of the college's total control, could put a portion 

of the college's funding at risk. If a college misses its 

future targets, Lhe unallocated funding will be reallo­

cated to other colleges on a metric-by-metric basis. 

4.3.3 Metric Tied to Graduate Earnings Could 
Disincentivize Public Colleges from Offering 
Programs for Lower Paying Jobs That Are 
Required to Meet Employer Needs 

We found that having a metric by which public col­

leges are evaluated, and thus funded, tha t is tied to 

graduate earnings could disincentivize colleges from 

offering programs that have a lower graduate earn­

ings potential, even if such graduates from these 

programs are n eeded within the economy. 

Gradua te employment earnings is defined as 

the media n e mploymen t earnings of gradua tes (both 

domestic a nd international, including those at private 

partnership colleges in Ontario) Lwo years after 

graduation (Appendix 6). Some post-graduation 

jobs, such as personal support workers and early 

childhood educators, may not be high-paying but are 

necessary to meet workforce needs. 

Public colleges have a mandate to provide pose-sec­

ondary education th at meets the needs of employers 

and the changing work environment. Thus, it is 

important that performance metrics incentivize 

colleges to meet employer needs even though grndu­

ate earnings might be less for some occupations 

than others. 

4.3.4 Two Metrics Encourage Continued 
Dependence on International Student Enrolment 

We also found that two metrics have the effect of 

encouraging colleges' continued dependence on inter­

national student enrolment: community/ local impact 

of student enrolment, and revenue atlracted from 

private sector sources (see Appendix 6). 

Community/ local impact of student enrolment 

is defined as the total number of students enrolled 

(full- and part-time; domestic and international) 

divJded by the population of 15- to 64-year-old 

individuals in the same region as the college as per 

the 2016 census. The 2016 census data will be used 

for the entire five-year Strategic Mandate Agree­

ment period and so only the numet·ator-student 

enrolment- will change over time. A portion of a col­

lege's operating grant is based on domestic students 

only, and domestic enrolment above the highest level 

of the range will result in no additional funding to a 

college. Thus, while an increase in domestic enrol­

ment wilJ contribute to improved performance on th is 

metric, it will not result in any additional Ministry 

funding. However, an increase in international enrol­

ment will have the greatest impact on a public college 

achieving its target for thfa metric, in te rms of the 

public college receivin g the full funding allowed for 

by this metric and maximizing its overall revenue. 

The revenue a ttracted from pl'ivate secto1· 

sources metric takes into consideration a public 

college's revenue from both private sector and not­

for-profit sources. Public-private college pa1tnerships 

represen t one source of private revenue for col­

leges. Public colleges located in small communities 

may have less ability to attract private sector dona­

tions or fu nding from their local partners compared 

to public colleges located in larger commun-

ities. Therefore, entering into a public-private college 

partnership is one strategy these public colleges may 

use to achieve better pe1formance on this metric. 

RECOMMENDATION 11 

To align the performance~based metrics estab­

lished for public colleges under the Strategic 

Mandate Agreements with the mandate of public 

colleges, we recommend that the Ministry of Col­

leges and Universities reassess future performance 

meu·ics and modify them so that the metrics: 

• are within the control of p ublic colleges; 

• incentivize colleges to meet workforce needs 

even though graduate earnLngs might be less 

for some sectors; and 

• do not further increase dependency on inter­

national enrolments without a longer-term 

AGENDA PAGE   130



strategy in place to address the risks of this 

approach for financial sustainability. 

MINtsllrtY RISPOIUI 
The 2020-25 Strategic Mandate Agreements 

between the Ministry and each public coUege 

and university have been designed to increase 

accountability through transpare ncy and 

improved performance outcomes; reduce red 

tape; incentivize colleges to red irect resources 

and invest in initiatives that result in positive 

outcomes, encourage alignment of postsecond• 

ary education with labouJ market outcomes· and 
' 

incentivize differentiation and specialization to 

support increased efficiencies. 

The 10 performance metrics selected align 

with government priorities for the public college 

sector, and were selected in consultation with the 

sector, from sources that allow for improvements 

in data quality. Metrics were also selected with the 

goaJ of recognizing the individual strengths and 

mandate of Ontario's colleges. 

ln developing the next round of Strategic 

Mandate Agreements, the Ministry will assess 

and confirm performance cnetrics aligned with 

government priorities and shared goals for the 

posl'secondary education sector. 

4.3.5 Ministry No Longer Col lecting and 
Reporting Student Satisfaction 

In addition to the performance metrics specified in 

the St-rategic Mandate Agreements (Section 2.2.4 

Public Colleges Oversight ~ 

and Appendix 6), the Ministry established five key 

outcome performance indicators (performance indi­

cators): graduate employment rate, graduation rate, 

graduate satisfaction rate, employer satisfaction rate, 

and student satisfaction rate. 'Iwo of the five per­

formance indicators (graduate employment rate and 

graduation rate) are captured in Ministry funding 

allocation decisions under the Strategic Mandate 

Agreements. The Ministry publishes the performance 

indicator results annua lly for each college overall, but 

they are not separated into results for both domestic 

and international students. For example, Figure 23 

provides the graduation rates of domestic and inter­

national students, which is not publicly reported 

but tracked internally by the Ministry. The domestic 

student graduation rate has been from 16-20% lower 

than that of international students over the past 

five years. 

Beginning in the 2019/20 academic year, the Min­

istry stopped collecting information on the student 

satisfaction rate. The Ministry indicated to our Office 

that it stopped collecting this information in order 

to prioritize the coJJection of data on labour market 

outcomes for graduates. Although many colleges 

have continued to individually collect and publish 

this infOJmation, our view is that the Minist1y should 

also collect and report this data, along w ith the other 

performance information, on its website to easily 

allow prospective students and the public to compare 

results across all colleges. 

The public college sector's results for each per­

forman.ce indicator has remained relatively consistent 

betWcen 2015 and 2019. Figui-e 24 shows the results 

Figure 23: Graduation Rates of Domestic and International Students of Public Colleges, 2016/17-2020/21 
Source of data: Ministry of Colleges and Universities 

Total Graduation Rate 
(%) 

2016/17 66.6 82.2 68.7 

2017/18 66.8 83.7 69.5 

2018/19 67.2 84.1 70.2 

2019/20 66.4 85.4 70.9 

2020/21 65.9 85.9 72.1 
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Figure 24: Key Performance Indicator Results for Public Colleges, 2015/16-2019/20 
Source or data: Mlrilstry of Collegos ond Universities 

Performance Indicators (%) 

Graduation rate2 66.7 66.6 66.8 67.2 66.4 

Graduate employment rate' 83.6 83.0 85.7 86.2 85.5 

Graduate satisfaction rate4 80.3 78.8 79.5 79.9 78.9 

Employer satisfaction rate5 91.5 91.2 92.5 89.6 91.1 

Student satisfaction rate6 76.8 76.5 73.4 75.7 n/a6 

1. 2019 graduauon year Is U1e most current Information available. This data Is reported In 2020 as It Includes surveys and employment data collected slK months 
after g,aduaUon. 

2. DeOned as the number of domestic students who graduated within approilmotcly 200% of their program's regular duration, shown ijS a percentage of program 
entrants. f'or example, slllclonts enrolled In one-year programs have a two-year window to complete their program to be Included In the graduation rate. For a lour­
year degree, 175% of Ule program's regular duration (or seven years) Is used as the graduaUon window. lile graduation rate !n Ontario Is comparable to the overall 
average across Canada according to statistics Canada. 

3. Denned as the number of g1aduates who are working, shown os a porcontage of program (!raduates In tlio labour force, 
4. Donned as the number of graduates who reported that they are either "very saUsned" or "satlsned" with the usefulness of their college educalfon In ~chlovlng their 

gools ofter graduation, shown as a percentage of all graduatlls who answered the question, 
5. Defined ns the number of surveyed employers who responded lhal U1ey are either ·very satisfied'' or ·satisfied' with thelf employees' college preparation for the 

work being done, shown as a porcentago of all employers who answered the question. 
6. Denned as the number of students who said they were elUier "very sntlsJicd" or 'saUsfled" Wltll the overall quality of their learning experience, shown as a 

percentage of students who answered llle question. TI1e Ministry of Colleges and Universities stopped collectlng this lnformaUon as of 2020, thus data for 2019 
graduates Is not ovallablc. The Ministry explained Ulls decision os prtorlUzlng the collection of data on the labour mnrkol outcomes of graduates. Many publlc 
colleges have subsequently Implemented their own student snUsfactlon surveys. 

for the college sector overall between 2015 and 

2019. Appendix 15 shows the results for each public 

college between 2017 and 2019. 

I RECOMMENDATION 12 

So that prospective students and the public are 

better informed about t he perfo rmance of public 

colleges, we recommend that the Ministry of Col­

leges and Universities: 

• reinstate the collection and reporting of 

student satisfaction by individual colleges; 

• publicly report the performance indicators for 

both domestic and international students; and 

• work with public colleges to identify barriers 

faced by domestic students and any opportun­

ities to increase the domestic graduation rate. 

The Ministry wiJI consider the recommendation to 

reinstate the student satisfaction key performance 

indicator in collaboration with public colleges. 

The Ministry, in collaboration with public col­

leges, will also consider the recommendation to 

publicly report key performance indicator data 

for both domestic and international students and 

the recommendation to consider opportunities 

to increase the graduation rate for domes-

tic students. 

4.4 Provincial COVID-19 and Capital 
Funding for Public Colleges 
As discussed in Section 2.2.2, the Ministry provides 

public colleges with various types of funding, includ­

ing COVID-19-related support fund ing (in 2020 

and 2021) and capital funding. The COVID-19 

funding provided in 7021 to colleges was based on 

projected revenue declines as a resul t of the pan­

demic, but two colleges that received funding saw 

an increase in their revenue. In addition, a dispro­

portionate level of the capital funding the Ministry 

allocated to public colleges between 2016/17 

and 2020/21 was directed to facilities not in the 

highest need of repa ir. 
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4.4.1 COVID-19 Funding Was Provided to 
Public Colleges Based on Projected Revenue 
Decreases Due to the Pandemic, but Two 
Colleges Tl1at Received Funding Saw an Increase 
in Revenue and Annual Surplus 

Based on our discussions with the public colleges' 

presidents and board chairs, we learned that colleges 

faced program delivery challenges throughout the 

pandemic but continued to deliver programs, with 

most delivered on line if possible. To help the colleges 

manage additional, unforeseen costs, the Ministry 

provided public colleges with two rounds of support 

funding, totalling $75.6 million. 

• In March 2020, the Ministry allocated $13.2 
million th rough the COVJD Emergency Fund 

to all 24 public colleges based on 2019/ 20 full­

time enrolment. Each college received between 

$324,856 and $990,459. 

• In March 2021, the Ministry provided an addi­

tional $62.4 million through the Support Fund 

Publ ic Colleges Oversight '.allll 

for Postsecondary Inst itutions (Support Fund) 

to 12 public colleges, to be spent between 

July 1, 2020 and June 30, 2021. 

The $62.4 million provided in March 2021 was 

allocated to 12 of the 24 public colleges based on 

the projected COVID-19 impact to the college, which 

included the expected decline in tu it ion revenue, 

ancillary fees and services (Figure 25). The public 

colleges made these projections in November 2020. 

Using this information, the Ministry allocated 

funding by applying a standard methodology across 

all colleges. 

The Ministry provided the support funding in 

March 2021,just prior to receiving the colleges' audited 

financial results fo r the year ending March 31, 2021. 

However, by the time the Ministry allocated the 

funding, the operating environment and challen-

ges that colleges were facing due to the pandemic 

had shifted . For example, the federal government 

announced in February 2021 that international 

Figure 25: Public Colleges' Surpluses (Deficits) and COVID-19 Support Funding 
Source of datn: Ministry of Colleges and Universities 

Centennial 8.39 0.89 

Algonquin 8.35 2.89 

Durham 7.07 (3.49) 

Georgian 7.05 2.33 

Niagara 6.83 0.10 

St. Lawrence2 6.41 7.12 

Fleming 5.99 (3.36) 

Canaclore2 5.53 7.97 

Loyalist' 3.53 5.63 

Sault2 1.55 3.87 

Northern2 0.87 21.08 

Bor~al 0.83 0.41 

Total 62.40 45.44 

Tho entire amount or fundln(! these four public colleges received was not Included In the surplus/deficit for l~e Oscal year ending March 31, 2021, because 
these oollcgcs chose to defer a portion or U1e funding to the next fiscal year. 
1. The allocation of support funding was determined using financial lnformaUon submitted by the public colleges In November 2020. Using this Information, the 

Ministry assessed lire financial Impact of COVID-19 for each college by applying a standard methodology across all colleges. 

2. The surplus of these public colleges exceeded the amount of COVID-19 5upport funding received. 
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students could complete their studies online and 

qualify for the Post-Graduation Work Permit 

Program, which encouraged international students 

to continue their studies where previously, they cou ld 

not enter Canada due to border restrictions. Students 

were allowed ro comp.le(e their entire program from 

abroad a nd still be eligible to obtain a Post-Gradua­

tion Work Permit unril December 311 2021. Thus, the 

colleges that initially estimated a significant 

decline in international student tuition revenue for 

2020/21-and therefore a large, negative impact to 

their budgets-would have recovered somewhat by 
March 2021. 

The Support Fund was intended to assist with 

COVID-19 impacts and activities undertaken 

belween July 1, 2020 and June 30, 2021. Colleges 

were able to use these funds for eligible expenses 

during this period. Seven colleges used the full 

amount of funding in the fiscal year granted. Five 

colleges (Canadore, Georgian, Niagara, Northern 

and St. Lawrence) received a total of $26. 7 million 

but did not use the full amount within the fiscal year 

ending March 31, 2021 and have deferred a portion 

of the funding for expenses incurred in the next fiscal 

year, np to June 30, 2021. The amount deferred by 

the five colleges totalled $14.7 million, ranging from 

$0.3 million for Northern to $4.5 million for Cana­

dore. Two colleges (Canadore and Northern) that had 
projected a decline in revenue as a result of the pan­

demic actually saw an increase to their revenue and 

their annual surplus, compared to the prior year. 

In J une 2021, the Ministry indicated to us that it 

planned to assess whether recoveries are appropriate 

after financial reports from the public colleges are 

submitted on October 29, 2021. 

RECOMMENDATION 13 

To confirm that the funding from the 

COVID-19 Emergency Fund and Support Fund 

was allocated co colleges most impacted by the 

pandemic, we recommend that the Ministry of 

Colleges and Universities (Ministty): 

• complete its assessment of whether the public 

colleges that received this funding met the eli­

gibility criteria using the most recent audited 

financial sta tements and other updated infor­

mation obtained from public colleges; and 

• recover any excess of COVID-19 support 

funding based on the results of the Min­

istry's assessment. 

MIINISTIW ESPONSE 

Consistent with the n ·ansfer Payment Agreement 

for the Support Fund for Postsecondary Instit u­

tions, the Ministry will evaluate program spending 

as of the planned reporting date for participat-

ing institutions (October 29, 2021) in order to 

determine w hat program underspending exists, if 

any, and undertake recoveries as appropriate. 

4.4.2 Ministry's Allocation of Capital Funding 
to Public Colleges Does Not Consider Level of 
Deferred Maintenance and State of Repair 

Public colleges' campuses, buildings and other facUi­

t ies require periodic repairs and maintenance to 

keep the infrastr ucture in good, working condition. 

Deferred maintenance represents the backlog of 

repairs and m aintenance required to upkeep exist­

ing infrastructure assets, According to the Ministry's 

capital funding guidelines, public colleges are respon­

sible for ensuring their facilities are in good repair, 

safe and accessible for persons with disabililies, and 

in compliance with all governmen t codes. Public col­
leges should regularly assess the condjtion of their 

buildings and facilit ies and prioritize maintenance 

requirements based on their needs and avail-

able funds. 

The Ministry provides various forms of 

funding, such as the Facilities Renewal Program, to 

assist the public colleges with the maintenance and 

upkeep of t heir facilities. The allocation of funding 

under this program is based on the public colleges' 

domestic enrolment levels and does n ot take into 

consideration the deferred maintenance and state of 
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repair needs of individual colleges. As such, limited 

fu nding is not prioritized and may be directed to 

facilities that are not in the highest need of repair. 

A public college may engage a third parcy to assess 

the condition of its facilities and use this information 

to budget for future capital maintenance as part of its 

annual budgeting cycle. However, we fou nd that prior 

to 2020 the Ministry did not regularly collect this 

detailed information on each college building. 

In 2013, the Ministry commissioned an assessment 

to determine the system-wide condition of college 

facilities. The resulting 2015 assessment report found 

that two public colleges were in excellent condition 

and four were in good condition. Seventeen colleges 

were assessed as being in fair condition, and one was 

assessed as poor. The report estimated tha t the total 

cost of addressing deferred maintenance over the five­

year period between 2015 and 2020 could amount to 

$1.42 billion. 

Between 2016/17 and 2020/21, the Ministry 

allocated $157. 7 million of funding Llu·ough the 

Facilities Renewal Program. Since the Facilities 

Renewal funding is calculated based on domes-

tk enrolment only, wi thout considering the status 

of the buildings' repair needs, we found a wide 

range in the percentage of funding that colleges 

received relative to Lheir defe rred maintenance 

needs. Over the five-year period, this funding pro­

vided between 4% and 56% of a college's deferred 

maintenance cost requirements. For example, in the 

2015 assessment report, Confederation was assessed 

as having deferred mainlenance needs that would 

cost $94.7 million but received a total of $4 million 

in funding in the following five years, or 4% of its 

defen:ed maintenance needs. That same year, Bonfal 

was assessed as having deferred maintenance needs 

that would cost $5. 7 million and received $3.2 mill ion 

in funding, covering 56% of its deferred maintenance 

cost requirement. 

1n January 2021, public coJJeges (through Col­

leges O.ntario) entered into a Memorandum of 

Public Colleges Oversight ~ 

Understand ing whh t:he Ministry, as well as with the 

Ministry oflnfrastructure, to share facility assess­

ments obtained from the colleges on a building level 

so the ministries could track the faciJities' conditions 

and deferred maintenance n eeds in more detail. At 

the time of om audit, the Ministry indicated that it 

pla ns to re-evaluate how funding is allocated, but it 

has not yet established a fu nding formula based on 

the information recently gathered. As of 2020/21, the 

Ministry determined from the infonnation provided 

by Colleges Ontario that deferred maintenance costs 

and renewal needs over the next three years could 

total $1.02 billion. Figure 26 provides a breakdown 

of each public colJege's estimated costs related to 

its deferred maintenance and renewal needs and 

the status of its facilities' condition as evaluated in 

2020. As shown, no public college is in a poor condi­

tion or requires significant or immediate repairs to 

its facilities. 

RECOMMENDATION 14 

To better allocate capital funding to public 

colleges based on defeITed maintenance 

needs, we recommend that the Minfatry of Col­

leges and Universities: 

• conclude its re-evaluation of the way it 

allocates funding to colleges for deferred main­

tenance; and 

• allocate funding based on a method that con­

siders colleges' facilities condition and colleges' 

management of their deferred maintenance 

work from self-generated funds. 

The Ministry is cw:rently collecting new facilities' 

condition data from colleges and will review 

and assess the data for potential future changes 

to the Facilities Renewal Program allocation 

methodology. 
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Figure 26: Public Colleges' Deferred Maintenance and Renewal Needs for 2020-2022 
Source or data: Ministry or Colleges ond Universities 

Sheridan 130.83 19 

Durham 97.01 23 

Fleming 75.70 21 

St Lawrence 63.99 21 

Seneca 62.47 10 

Humber 60.36 7 
Mohawk 54.82 11 

Fanshawe 53,97 7 
Canad ore 52.84 30 

Algonquin 45.78 7 

Georgian 40.53 8 

George Brown 37.68 7 

Niagara 34.47 9 

St Clair 33.66 6 

Conestoga 29.76 5 

Centennial 27.25 6 

Loyalist 25.19 14 

Cambrian 22.32 8 

Confederation 20.83 8 

Lambton 17.85 10 

Northern 13.35 5 

La Cite 5.74 2 

Sault 5.15 3 

Bon~al 4.12 4 

Overall 1,015.67 10 

Fair 

Fair 

Fair 

Fair 

Good 

Good 

Fair 

Good 

Fair 

Good 

Good 

Good 

Good 

Good 

Excellent 

Good 

Fair 

Good 

Good 

Good 

Excellent 

Excellent 

Excellent 

Excellent 

1. Dererred maintenance and renewal needs represents the total estimated bncklog of repairs ond maintenance or the asset, plus the renewal costs tequlred ror 
2020-2022. This three-year period ror renewal needs Is part or tho framework used by the Ministry of Infrastructure to analyre raclllty condition data. It may not 
reOect the long.term renewal needs for colleges, sucl1 as estimated costs over a 10-year ported, Which could lrnpact Its facility ratlng. Tlle colleges use experts to 
peilodlcally estimate U1ls amount based on the condition of their buildings 0nd raclllllcs. Tim amount Is determined for each Infrastructure asset, which Is then 
aggregated for an overall college assessmenl 

2. Faclllty Condition Index Is the percentage or deferred maintenance and renewal needs out or the total replacement value or the asset. The higher tho percentage, 
U1e poorer the condltlon. ll1e Facility C-OndlUon Index generally defines the ratings as follows: 
• 0% to 5% (Excellent): Umlted detcrtoraUon; 

6% to 10% {Good): Normal dctcrtoraUon, no maintenance Is anticipated Within the r1ext five years; 
l1 % to 30% (Fair): Normal deterioration and minor distress, maintenance will be required within the next flvo years to 111alntaln runcUonaUty; 
31% to 60% (Poor): Significant deterioration and distress, maintenance and some repair required wlU1ln the next year; and 

• 61%• (11eplacemenl): Significant deterioration and major distress, possible dama{le to support structure, must be dealt with Without delay. 
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4.5 Public Colleges' Programs and 
Job Market Needs 
4.5.1 Graduates are Prepared for the Job 
Marl{et 

1\.vo education outcomes show that the college educa­

tion that graduates received prepared them well for 

the job market. Specifically, we noted that: 

• from 2016/17 to 2019/20 (the most recent 

data available), depending on the college 

attended, 59.2% to 88.5% of graduates of an 

Ontario public college fou nd full-ti.me employment 

in a related field six months after graduation; and 

• from 2015 to 2019, 89.6% to 92.5% of employers 

that were surveyed by a third-party research 

company were "very satisfied" or "satisfied" with 

their employees' college preparation for their role. 

4.5.2 Public Colleges Offer Programs That Align 
with Job Marl{et Needs 

We also found that most public colleges offer pro­

grams that align with Ontario's projected job market 

needs, satisfying one of the objectives of public 

colleges: to meet Lhe needs of employers. Colleges 

receive guidance from program advisory com­

mittees to confirm that theLr courses are relevant 

and will train students for the workforce to meet 

employer needs. 

We reviewed the top five occupations in which 

graduates of each of the 24 public colleges find 

employment. We compared this to Ontario's labour 

market information that projects Jabour market needs 

for the years 2021 to 2025 and rates occupational 

outlool<s as either above average, average or below 

average. Based on this information and our review, we 

found that of the top five occupations where gradu­

ates found employment, students from 21 of the 

public colleges were employed in an occupation with 

an above average job outlook, while students from the 

remaining three colleges found employment in occu­

pations that had average job outlooks. 

Overnll, we found that the public college sector is 

providing the programs needed by OntarJo employers 

Public Colleges Oversight ~ 

Lo .fill expected job openings, especially in in-demand 

areas such as nursing, which has an above average 

job outlook. Some of the programs delivered by public 

colleges, however, are also provided by private career 

colleges. As discussed in our audit on Private Career 

Colleges Oversight in o ur Office's 2021 Annual Report, 

the Ministry does 1101 have a strategy to balance the 

supply of post-secondary education programs offered 

by both public colleges and private career colleges. 

However, we fo und that many standards for non­

degree public college programs are either outdated 

or non-existenl, and the Ministry's degree and non­

degree program approval process has significant 

delays, as discussed below. 

4.5.3 Many Ministry Standards for Public 
College Non-Degree Programs Are Either 
Outdated or Non-Existent 

For any program.offered by a public college, its learn­

ing outcomes and employabil ity skills and general 

education requirements must meet the minimum 

requirements of the related program standard 

developed by the Ministry, if one exists for that 

field of study. The learning outcomes included in 

the program standard outlines the skiJls and lmow­

ledge a graduate must obtain and demonstrate 

upon completion oftht! program, As described in 

Section 2.2.6, these program standards are intended 

to guide consistency across different colleges offering 

similar programs, and the qual ity and relevance of 

colleg·e programs. 

Our audit found that, as of May 2021, 36 or 24% of 

tbe 147 non-degree program standards bad not 

been updated with.in the Ministry's intended five- to 
10-year time frame. Thirty-one of the 36 program 

standards were updated belween 11 and 14 years 

ago. The remaining five programs were last updated 

over 18 years ago, and 3,456 students were enrolled 

in these non-degree programs in 2019/20 across all 

24 public colleges. For example, the Standards for the 

Manufacttu-ing Engineering Technician and Manufac­

Luring Engineering Technology programs were last 

updated in 1997. 
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Figure 27: Top 10 Non-Degree Programs Offered That Do Not Have Program Standards, Fall 2019/20 
Source of dota: Ministry of Colleges ond Unlverslllcs 

1 project Management* 17 2,385 
2 Global Business Management* 5 913 
3 Veterinary Technician• 7 779 
4 Mental Health Worl1er 5 637 
5 Personal Financial Services* 11 628 

6 Welding Techniques 17 591 
7 Recreation Therapy* 5 574 

8 Information Systems Security* 12 502 
9 Business Management• 13 487 
10 Animal Care* 7 368 

' Tho Ministry has ldeoUfled lh~e programs as ones proposed for developing a program standard In the future. 

The public colleges are required Lo ensure the 

non-degree program being delivered is relevant to 

the current industry and technical requirements. The 

responsibility lies within the individual colleges­

specifically, their program advisory committees-to 

guide the implementation of any required updates. 

Besides the 36 non.degree program standards that 

were outdated, we identified other non-degree pro­

grams with no existing sLandards. Figure 27 shows 

the top 10 non-degree programs that do not have 

program standards; these programs have significant 

enrolments annually and are offered by several differ­

ent public colleges. 

Ministry staff recognized and indicated to our 

Office that the risks associated with outdated, or non­

existent, program standards include: 

• outda ted minimum sl<llls and learning require­

ments tha t· are not in line with current 

industry requirements; 

• inconsistencies between different colleges offering 

the same program; and 

• a mismatch between the program and designa­

tions or certifications from professional bodies if 

updates from such bodies are not incorporated 

into the program standard . 

The impact· of having outdated or non-existent 

Ministry non-degree program standards was 

ill ttstrated in April 2021, when the Veterinary Tech­

nician program at one of the public colleges did 

not meet the accreditation standards established 

by the Ontario Association of Veterinary Techni­

cians. While other factors existed, the absence of 

a college program standard contributed to the col­

lege's fai lure to meet the Association's standards. As 

a result, the Association temporarily withdrew the 

program's accreditation, preventing graduates from 

writing the national competency exam. The Veterin­

ary Technician program is one of the top programs 

we identified in Figure 27 that does not have existing 

program standards. Additionally, programs such as 

Project Mam1gement, Welding Techniques and Infor­

mation Systems Security have high enrolment,levels 

and are offered across multiple colleges, and could 

benefit from having an established and consistent set 

of standard ized learning outcomes so that students 

graduating from different c~lleges can be assured that 

they are receiving the same education. 

Based on our discussion with Ministry 

staff, program standards were not developed and/ 

or updated in a timely fashion mainly because of 

decreased budget allocations to this function in 

the Ministry. ln particular, the Minist1-y"was able 

to hire only three facilitators per year to review 

and update program standards between 2018 and 
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2021, compared to as many as seven per year in prior 

years. The Postsecondary Education Quality Assess­

ment Branch also indicated le would like to develop 

non-degree program standards for some of the pro­

grams we identified, but again, it has not been able 

to, due to limited resources. 

RECOMMENDATION 15 

To maintain consistent, high-quality and relevant 

non-degree programs as offered by public col­

leges, and to help students acbjeve Ontario's 

desired learning outcomes, we recommend that 

the Ministry of Colleges and Universities: 

• update non-degree program standards chat 

have not been revised within the intended 

five- to 10-year time frame for updating stan­

dards; and 

• develop program standards for all applicable 

non-degree programs. 

MINIS11RY RESPONSE 

The Ministry is committed to developing new 

program standards and updating program 

standards for college non-degree programs that 

are five to 10 years old in a timely manner. The 

Minisn·y will consider the recommendation 

to develop other program standards for non­

degree programs. 

4.5.4 Delay in Degree and Non-Degree Program 
Approvals Hinders Colleges' Ability to Respond 
Quicldy to Market Needs 

As described in Section 2.2.7, once a college has 

developed a new non-degree program and it has been 

approved by the college's board of governors, it is 

submitted to the Quality Assurance Service for valida­

tion. Once val idated, it is submitted to the Ministry for 

review and approval if the college is seeking funding 

approval. Degree programs are submitted directly 

to the Ministry, which in turn refers them to the 

Postsecondary Education Quality Assessment Board 

for quality review. We found that delays in program 

Public Colleges Oversight ~ 

approvals by the Ministry, for both non-degree and 

degree programs, have hindered public colleges' 

ability to respond quickly to offer programs that meet 

employer needs and accept student enrolments. Many 

factors have contributed to these delays including 

additional follow-up required from institutions, staff 

turnover within the Ministry and delays in receiving 

final approval from the Minister's office. Ministerial­

level approval is required for all degree programs 

across all provinces, and only required for diploma 

programs in Alberta, Saskatchewan and Nova Scotia. 

On average, the 24 public colleges submit 

between 100 and 200 degree and non-degree 

prngram approval applications annually. At the 

time of our audit, approximately 70 programs 

were at various stages of the review process within 
the Ministry. 

Non-Degree Programs 
The Ministry's process for approving non-degree 

programs includes various types of reviews and 

approvals, including a tuition review and/or policy 

review (Appendix 9). Internally, Lhe Ministry has 

a target of approving a non-degree program three 

months from its submission date. 

Since April 2020, the Ministry has tracked pro­

grams through the approvals process. In December 

2020, additional elements were added to improve 

tracking, such as adding in the starting and com­

pletion dates of each of the approval stages. The 

tracking process allows for more accountability to 

understand the stage(s) of approval that create a 

delay in the process. 

We reviewed the Ministry data to assess the 

timeliness of approvals granted for non-degree pro­

grams submitted by the public colleges beLween 

April 2020 and March 2021 (see summarized resul ts 

in Figure 28). By July 31, 2021, the Ministry had 

approved 45 non-degree programs. Overall, the 

timeliness of the approval process improved over th is 

period: programs submitted between April and June 

2020 took on average 251 days to receive approval; 

programs submitted in January and March 2021 took 

an average of 155 days. However, the Ministry's 
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Figure 28: Number of Days Taken to Approve Non-Degree Public College Programs1 Submitted Aprll 20202-

March 2021 
Source of data: Ministry of Colleges and Universities 

Review and analysis of 
non-degree program 

Staff review and analyze the program 
submission and evaluation, as Well as 
conduct a tuition review and policy review 
where requlred4 

44 99 

Approval of non-degree program Manager and Director approve program 

Assistant Deputy Minister approves program 7 11 

Deputy Minister approves program 10 10 
Minister approves program 29 68 

Total # Days from Submission to Fina I Approval Date 90 188 

Target not met 
1. When coll9ges submit non•dogreo programs ror flllldlng. the Mlnlslly conducts up to two different reviews, nepenrllnll on the n~lllre or tho program. A tuition review 

Is completed for all programs sooklng Ministry funding, whilo a stICamlined polity review Is Mmpleted only for programs that meet spocmc cr1totla (dctollcd In 
Appendix 9). 

2. our review of programs startod from Aprll 2020 because more extensive .ind detailed data for submlsslon/ppproval dates and the progress or submlued programs 
has beon tracked since then. Ministerial approval was not required for non-degree program appro\lllls prior lo 2019. This summery only Includes programs 
$Ubmltled In the specified lime frame and U1at were approved by the Minister prior to July 31, 2021, 

3. Number of days Includes: weekends and sl.lltutory holidays. 
4. Steps In Uils stage also Include rovlowlng submissions ror completoness and consistency with Ministry policies; followlng up with collages for clarll lcatlon and/or 

more lnformauon; consulUng with other ministries or Ministry dll/islons; and dra!Ung materials required for rnlnlsterlnl review and approval. 

internal target of a 90-day, or three-month, timeline 

from submission co approval has not been met since 

the overaJI average was 188 days (six months) . Of 

this time, program approval reviews have remained 

within t he Minister's Office, the fina l step in the 

approval process, for an average of 68 days, just ove r 

two rnonths. 

In addition, when we reviewed the data avail­

ab.le for 62 non-degree programs submitted 

between March 2019 and March 2020, we fo und 

that the programs were approved after a lesser 

time of approximately 110 days on average. The 

program approval process was timelier for most 

of 2019 and the more significant delays sta rted in 

December 2019. Over the three-month period from 

December 2019 to Februar y 2020, 16 non-degree 

programs were submitted for approvals and on 

average took 226 days, over seven months, to receive 

those approvals. 

During our meetings with the 24 public colleges' 

presidents and board chairs, 16 expressed concerns 

that delayed program approvals have resulted in an 

inability to market programs, recruit students and 

launch programs in the desired semester to respond 

to market needs. As well, many expressed concerns 

that they were not not ified of the s tatus of Lheir 

program applications on a timely basis. 

Example 1 in Figure 29 describes two instances 

where these delays negalively impacted student 

enrolment at a public college. 

Degree Programs 
Degree program approvals require ministerial consent 

in addition to the different types of reviews illustrated 

in Appendix 9. As mentioned in Section 2.2.7, the 

Ministry has, since December 2019,. committed to 

a more streamlined process to approve and provide 

consent for degree programs-its goal is to issue 

degree consents within six months of submission to 

the Ministry. 
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Figure 29: Examples of the Impact of a Delayed Program Approval Process 
Prepared by the Office of tile Auditor General of Ontario 

Example 1: 

In November 2020, one co llege submitted two media programs for approval as part of its Internal review process to mainta in 
the quality and relevancy of its existing programs. Its first submission was a Journalism program that received pre.approval to 
advertise the program In February 2021, and Onal approval 137 days after the Initial submission by the college, In April 2021. 
The college expected to receive 40 student applications and 10 confirmations by June 30. However, because of the delay in the 
approval process, the college was required to delay its opening for appllcatlons and had received only 14 applications and four 
confirmations as of June 25, 2021, meaning ll had lost opportunities to maximize Its enrolment capacity. Similarly, the college's 
second submission was a broadcasting program that received pre.approval to advertise the program In February 2021, and final 
approval In April 2021, 154 days "fter the Initial submission. This program typically receives approximately 100 appllcations and 
35 confirmations by June 30. However, the college had received only 67 applications and 23 confirmations as of June 25, 2021. 
The same college developed a new two-year Electromechanical Engineering Technlcian-Mechatronics College Diploma program In 
partnership with a local employer. In December 2029, it submitted the program to the Ministry for approval. The program received 
pre-approval to advertise the program in February 2021, and final approval 129 days after the Initial submission, in late April 2021. 
This meant the college was not able to initiate final enrolment In the program In March and April 2021, which Is typically when 
students commit to fall enrolment. If approvals were received In the 90-day time frame of the Ministry's tlmellne, the college would 
have met Its recruiting and enrolment window. 

Example 2: 

On March 6, 2020, another college submitted an Honours Bac~elor of food Studies program to the Ministry for approval. The 
program was referred to the Postsecondary Education Quality Assessment Board (Board) by March 10, 2020, which was within 
two business days of the original submission date and In line With the streamlined procedures In effect since December 2019. The 
Board completed its review In July 2020. In November 2020, the Ministry communicated the Minister's Intent to grant consent to 
the college to advertise and offer the program, but the college did not receive final ministerial consent untll December 2020. n,e 
college submitted the program for funding approval In May 2020, two months after It submitted the program for consent approval. 
Since this was a high-demand program, the tuition fee could not be approved prior to the release of the new Tuition Fee Framework 
related to the academic year. The college was asked to resubmit a new proposed tuition fee once the Tuition Fee Framework was 
published. The college resubmitted the proposed tuition fee in May 2021 and received Ministry approval In July 2021. For degree 
programs such as this one, the Ideal recruitment cycle for colleges Is In October/November since this Is when the Ontano College 
Application Service and marketing starts for students to begln their studies the following September for the fall semester. Since this 
college did not obtain ministerial consent until December 2020 or tuition approval until May 2021, the Ideal promotion cycle was 
missed. The college was targeting a September 2021 start date, but the delay negatively affected Its ability to market the program 
on time. 

We found that for degree programs submitted 

beLween December 2019 and March 2021, 15 were 

approved by the Ministry for consent and/or funding 

review. The Postsecondary Education Quality Assess­

ment Board took four and a half months to complete 

its review, while the Ministry took e ight months to 

finalize its approval. This timeline has not met the six­

month target established by the Ministry. 

For another college that submitted a degree 

program for ministeriaJ consent in recent years, the 

delay has negatively impacted its ability to promote 

and attract students (see Example 2 in Figure 29) . 

RECOMMENDATION 16 

To enable timely approval processes for both 

degree and non-degree programs so that colleges 

can respond quickly to employer needs, while 

ensuring program quality and needs are met, 

we recommend that the Ministry of Colleges 

and Universities: 

• create specific documented guidance and a 

checklist that should be used by each Ministry 

program reviewer when reviewing a 
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program approval application submitted by a 

public college; 

• provide status updates on the approval process 

to public coUeges (every two to three months) 

so that colleges can understand the timing and 

probability of program approvals; 

• track and identify reasons for delays in the 

degree and non-degree program approval 

processes; and 

• take corrective actions in a timely manner. 

MINIS11R¥ RESPONSE 

The Minjst:J:y appreciates the Auditor General's 

recommendation supporting the timely approval 

of both degree and non-degree programs for 

publicly assisted colleges. The Ministry agrees that 

the current timeJines for publicly assisted colleges 

to receive Min istry funding approvals for degree 

and non-degree programs are challenging and 

hinder institutional planning and student access to 

post-secondary education. 

The Mirustiy has been working over the past 

year to in1prove communication with instit11tions 

on this issue and to decrease the time that it 

takes for insti tutions to receive Ministry funding 

approvals. The Ministry has already taken correct­

ive action regarding guidance documents for staff 

working on reviews and enhanced tracking. The 

Ministry commits to continuing to work on this 

issue to improve the process and timelines as 

a whole. 

4.6 Public College Board Governance 
The boards of governors of public colleges (public 

college boards) are expected to provide effective 

governance and rigorous oversigh t of their colleges' 

financial and operational performance in achieving the 

colleges' strategic d.irections and legislated mandate. 

The Governance and Accountability Framework Min­

ister's Binding Policy Directive (Governance Directive) 

requires public college boards to govern effectively 

and be accountable to the citizens of Ontario for 

the successful achievement of the colleges' man­

dates in view of the financial support provided by 

the province. 

Our review of the Minister's binding policy dir­

ectives and requiremems for public college, boards 

(Appendix 4), and the governance practices at the 

four selected colleges, found several opportunities 

for public college boards to further strengthen their 

governance practices in order to enhance oversight of 

public colleges and better align with leading govern­

ance practices for p_ublic sector boards. 

4.6.1 Orientation and Ongoing Training 
for Public College Board Members Can 
Be Enhanced 

At the four colleges we reviewed in-depth, orien ta• 

tion sessions are provided at the beginning of the 

academic year for new members. 'I\vo of the colleges 

(Loyalist and Seneca) also assign peer mentors to new 

members, which is a leading practice. The Colleges 

Centre of Board Excellence (CCBE), a joint initia-

tive of Colleges Ontario a nd the College Employer 

Council, also offers orientation training for new gov­

ernors and publishes a Manual for Effective College 

Governance to assist governors in fu lfiUing their roles. 

The Ministry's Protocol for Board Nomjnations and 

Appointments (Protocol) states that public college 

boards are to ensure new board members participate 

in Colleges Ontario's orientation sessions. These 

sessions provide inform ation on the post-secondary 

education sector and relationship w ith the Ministry, 

as weU as key elements of good governance. However, 

we found that not all public college boards encourage 

new external members (LGIC and board-appointed) 

to attend CCBE training, and attendance of external 

members from the four colleges we reviewed varied. 

For one college (Seneca), only one external member 

had attended this orientation since 2014. 

The Protocol also notes public college boards 

are responsible for providing ongoing development 

activities for board members. Our review of the four 

colleges found t hat little ongoln g governance train­

ing was provided, with three of the four colleges 
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indicating thar L11ey rely on Lhe CCBE's Board Excel­

lence Certificate program for those members who 

wjsh to attend. Governors can earn certificates at two 

levels: Good Governance and Advanced Good Govern­

ance. While the tnining is not mandatory, the various 

governance modules included in these certificates 

cover a variety of governance topics, such as enhan­

cing the performance of governors and integrated 

rlsk management, and are a valuable opportunity for 

public college board members to share practices. 1\vo 

colleges' board chairs (Loyalist and St. Clair) had 

completed both a Good Governance and Advanced 

Good Governance certificate as of September 1, 2021. 

Our review also found that none of the four col­

leges provide enhanced training fo!' new chairs when 

appointed to the position, which is important given 

the greater responsibilities and skillsets required 

of the role. In some cases, the incoming chair had 

served as vice chair prior to taking on the role, and for 

some, the past chair continues to serve an extra year 

to provide assistance a nd mentorship if required. In 

2020, CCJ3E introduced a new course on the role of 

the chair. While not all public colleges participated 

in the course, the four colleges we reviewed had all 

enrolled the chair and/or vice chair of their board. 

Leading governance practices recommend that 

a formal orientation program be provided to all 

new board members, to ensure they are able to fully 

contribute as quickly as possible after joining the 

board. Regardless of a new member's prior board 

experience, it is important to provide an orienta­

tion to the college's unique context within the 

post-secondary education sector and its specific gov­

ernance practices and activities. A comprehensive 

orientation program should include meetin.gs with 

the board chair, president and other key organiza­

tional personnel, a tour of campus facilities, as well 

as an olientation to the college's fi nancial state­

ments and key risks. Ongoing governance training 

and development throughout a board member's 

tenure is also a recognized good practice. Even 

experienced board members benefit from continu­

ally upgrading key governance competencies, such 

as financial literacy, risk oversight, conflict of irtterest 

Public Colleges Oversight "lilll!II 

and ethics, crisis ma nagement and other emerging 

governance areas (for example, the board's role in 

cybersecurity). As well, whenever a new chair is 

appointed, leading practices recommend enhanced 

training be provided with respect to the increased 

requirements chat come with the role, no matter how 

long a member has served on the board. Along with 

increased board leadership and meeting facilitation 

responsibilities, the chair is often delegated key over­

sight responsibilities/approvals with respect to the 

president, including ensuring succession planning is 

in place, negotiating and signing employment agree­

ments when hiring a new president, ta1dng a lead role 

in conducting the president's performance evalua­

tion, and approving the president's expenses a nd any 

deviations from policy and procedures. 

RECOMMENDATION 17 

To strengthen the or-ientation processes for 

new public college board governors we rec­

ommend, where applicable, the boards of 

Loyalist, Sault, Seneca and St. Clair: 

• require, as per the Ministry's Protocol for Board 

Nominations and Appointments, that external 

governors attend the College Centre of Board 

Excellence's (CCBE's) orientation sessions; and 

• encourage the ongoing development of 

external governors by setting a minimum 

participation rate for external governors to 

attend CCBE courses over a specified period 

of time, with the aim of achievirtg the CCBE's 

Good Governance and Advanced Good Govern­

ance certificates. 

RESPONSE PROM Jf1ME FOUR Sl~SCIJ1ED 
PUB~lC CILLEGES 

Loyalist, Sault, Seneca and St. Clair agree 

that the College Centre for Board Excellence 

program is an excellent professional development 

prngram, particularly for those board members 

new to a governance board. It is an advantage 

that we have, as a college system, for governors 

seeking professional development and for those 
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111111' 
whose experience is not specific to governance 

boards. However, we do have members of our 

boards who hold designations from the institute 

for Corporate Directors and others with signifi­

cant governance experience, in addition to those 

whose professional experience includes leader­

ship of large complex organizations such as 

hospitals, school boards, large corporations and 

municipalities. These individuals have profes­

sional experience and credentials that are well 

suited to our boards and we recruit them for that 

experience. All members of college boards serve in 

a volunteer capacity. 

Generally, we support an orientation session 

for our board members, and all responding col­

leges engage in board orientation programs. In 

addition, the four colleges reviewed have programs 

for incoming chairs specific to their institutions 

that exceed an introductory course in the role of 

the chair. 

4.6.2 Conflict of Interest Processes Need 
Improvement 

At the four colleges reviewed, we found that although 

all of them had conflict of interest policies, none 

required board members to complete an annual 

Conflict of Interest Declaration Form. One college 

required governors to sign an annual code of conduct 

form, and another required an annual attestation 

indicating governors had read and understood the 

college's conflict of interest policy. Our review of 

meeting minutes found that these four colleges' 

boards complied with the Conflict of Interest Min­

ister's Binding Policy Directive's requirement to call 

for conflicts of interest at the beginning of every 

board meeting, however, some meeting minutes did 

not docwnent the resolution of identified conflicts, 

or whether the member with the conflict of interest 

recused themselves from the meeting when the item 

arose. Care must be taken to ensure that minutes fully 

document the due diligence of the board and indicate 

when a member with a conflict of interest recuses 

themselves from the discussion and when they return 

to the board meeting. 

Leading governance practices for managing con­

flicts of interest recommend that all members sign 

conflict of interest declarntion forms annually, and 

that they recuse themselves from the boaJdroom dis­

cussion/voting when conflicts of interest arise. The 

best examples of such declaration forms require 

members to list a ll of their professional and commun­

ity involvements, as well as identify any personal or 

potential conflicts that may exist. Once signed and 

dated by the board member, the chair reviews the 

completed form and discusses any mitigating actions 

that will be taken with the member, which is recorded 

on the form. If any changes occur during the yea1·, the 

member must update the form within the year. 

RECOMMENDATION 18 

To strengthen its oversight of boards of 

governors' conflict of interest policies and pro­

cesses, including ensuring greater alignment w ith 

leading governance practices, we recommend that 

the Ministry of Colleges and Universities: 

• update its directives to require public college 

board governors to complete annual Conflict of 

Interest Declaration Forms that are reviewed 

by board chah's; and 

• confirm on an annual basis that the updated 

directive is adhered to by the public colleges. 

The Mlnistry will review its Conflict of Interest 

Minister's Binding Policy Directive to determine 

where changes may be required related to govern­

ance practices. 

RECOMMENDATION 19 

To strengthen their board of governors' conflict of 

interest policies and processes, including ensur­

ing greater alignment with leading governance 
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practices, we recommend that the boards of 

governors of Loyalist, Sault, Seneca and St. Clair 

colleges have their board members complete 

an annual Conflict oflnterest Declaration 

Form, whkh is then reviewed by the board chair. 

RESPONSE FROM'rHE •ow-11 s•L!C1'ED 
PUILII COLLEGES 

Loyalist, Sault, Seneca and St. Clair agree with 

the recommendation. 

4.6.3 Some Public Colleges Did Not Conduct 
Board EvalLtations nor Document President's 
Performance Evaluations 

During the two-year period (2019/20 and 2020/21) 

reviewed, we found that only two of the four colleges 

(Seneca and St. Clair) conducted board eva lua-

tions in compliance with the Governance Directive. 

Although the two colleges that did conduct board 

evaluations included some good practices such as 

assessing committee effectiveness, chair effectiveness, 

and satisfaction with corporate secretary support to 

the board, we found that the evaluation's impact on 

board functioning could be improved, as tangible 

changes were not evident as a result of the evaluation. 

We noted none of the colleges conducted peer assess­

ments ofindividual directors' overall governance 

contribution, however one college (Seneca) included 

peer assessments in evaluating the directors' comm it­

tee roles. 

Our review of the four colleges found that all 

conducted an annual performance evaluation of 

their president, with some having a more thorough 

approach than others. We also noted instances where 

the chair and/or board committee communicated the 

president's performance review results and feedback 

verbally, and that the feedback that was discussed 

was not always fully documerlted in writing. All 

presidents received their maximum bonus payment 

awards (9% to 21% of base salary) dming the period 

we reviewed. 

Evaluating board effectiveness in fulfil ling its 

governance functions is a key requirement of good 

Public Colleges Oversight '.all 

governance. The Governance Directive requires 

that the responsibilities of each public college board 

include at a minimum: 

• assessing regularly the effectiveness of the board 

with respect to governance; 

• assessing regula rly the attainment by che presi­

dent of corporate goals and outcomes; and 

• evaluaring the president's performance, 

Colleges Ontario's Manual for Effective College 

Governance provides guidance on both the board's 

role in overseeing the president, and on evalua ting 

board performance and effectiveness, including 

conducting indjvidual director assessments. 

Leading practices for board evaluations include 

evaluating t he operation and performance of 

rhe board as a whole in fulfi ll ing its governance 

functions, as well as the effectiveness of board com­

mittees, the performance of the chair and committee 

chairs, and the performance of individual board 

members through peer assessments. The evaluation 

process should be tailored to a college's particular 

needs, and change over time depending on those 

needs. Board evaluation results should be shared with 

all members and result in tangible improvements to 

board functioning. 

As noted above, all of the four colleges we 

J:eviewed conducted an annual performance evalua­

tion of their president, but there were areas for 

improvement. Leading practices fol' president pe1form­

ance evaluations recommend a forma l, documented 

process based upon meaningful criteria and the 

achievement of goals/objectives approved by the 

board at the beginning of a performance review 

cycle. All board members should have t he opportun­

ity to provide input on the president's performance 

and be informed of the results of the review. Another 

leading practice is to conduct an independent 360-

degree assessment to provide the board with valuable 

insight into the president's performance. Feedback 

to the president should document strengths and 

progress achieved, as well as opportunities for future 

growth and development. Documentation should also 

clearly demonstra1·e the link between performance 

and the level of performance pay/bonus awarded. 
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RECOMMENDATION 20 

To improve board performance in fulfi lling gov­

ernance functions and to align with leading 

governance practices, we recommend that the 

boards of public colleges: 

• conduct board evaluations on an annual 

basis, and mal<e tangible improvements to their 

board's practices as a result of the evaluation 

process; and 

• conduct comprehensive, documented 

annual performance evaluations of the 

president, based on meaningful criteria and 

performance measures that identify leadership 

competency strengths, achievement of strategic 

objectives, and opportunities for improvement. 

RESPONSE FRQM THE FOUR SEL!C1'ED 
PUBLIC COUEGES 

Loyalist, Sault, Seneca and St. Clair agree that 

annual evalua tions should be conducted by 

boards of governors and that b0ards should act 

on any improvements identified by the evalua­

tion process. 

We also agree that "comprehensive, documented 

annual performance evaluations" of presidents are 

appropriate at each college. The boards of all four 

colleges are already undertaking such annual 

performance evaluations of the presidents. 

4.6.4 Lack of Staggered Terms in Ministerial 
Appointments to Public College Boards Does 
Not Follow Best Practices 

As outlined in 0. Reg 34/03 under the Ontario 
Colleges of Applied Arts and Technology Act, 2002, 
the Lieuten ant Governor in Council (LGIC) is to 

appoint one-third of a public college board's externa l 

members (these appointed members are referred to 

as LGIC appointees). External board members are 

appointed for three-year terms, up to a maximum 

of serving six years consecutively. Board member 

terms are to begin on September 1 in the year of their 

appointment and terminate on August 31 in the year 

in which the term ends. 

Delays in the LGIC appointment process can 

result in not all LGIC appointees startLng on Sep­

tember 1 as required, which can negatively impact 

the functioning of a board as it would not have a full 

complement of members for decision-making. At the 

time of our review, 10 public college boards had a 

full complement ofLGlC appointments in place, with 

the 14 other colleges lacking between one and three 

LGlC appointees. 

Public college boards may provide suggested nom­

inees for LGIC appointments. The Ministry's Protocol 

for Board Nominations and Appointments indicates 

that "for each vacancy to be filled by a LGIC appointee 

(including reappointments), colleges are expected 

to put forward up to 3 nominees." However, our 

review found that no public college board submit-

ted more than one name per vacancy, and that it 

was common practice for boards to submit names of 

board-appointed members who were already serving 

on the board, rather than new cand idates. While LGIC 

appointments are ministerial prerogative, we found 

that over the six-year period we reviewed, almost aU 

LGIC appointments were selected from the college­

suggested nominees until 2019/20. More recently, in 

2020/21, about a thiJd of LGIC appointments were 

ministerial selections n ot submitted by the publ ic 

college boards. 

Our review also found that most of the colleges 

(18) d id not have staggered terms for LGIC appoint• 

ments, which means that many LGIC appointments 

could become vacant at the same time. The Ministry's 

Protocol for Board Nominations and Appointments 

advises that appointment terms fo r external members 

should be staggered in order to maintain continllity 

and experience for the board overall. As also noted 

in our 2016 Auditor General's report on the prov­

incial p ublic appointment process, "it is considered 

besl practice (in Ontario and other judsd ictions) 

that, where possible, terms of appointments do not 

all end in the same year." Following this best practice 

is important as it ensures an orderly tr ansition of 

appointees so that not all members leave the board 

simultaneously, which would undermine board con­

tinuity and effective functioning. 
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To support public college boards to operate 

with a full complement of board members, and 

provide for an orderly transition of appoin-

tees, we recommend that the Ministry of Colleges 

and Universities: 

• stagger the terms of the Lieutenant Governor 

in Council appointments; and 

• appoint members on a timely basis to comply 

with the September 1 start date under the 

regulation 0. Reg 34/03 of the Ontario Colleges 

of.Applied Arts and Technology Act; 2002. 

MINISl'RY RESPONSE 

The MinistJ.y will work with. colleges to support 

activities that ensure board continuity. The Mil}­

istry is also committed to supporting a timely 

appointment process. 

4. 7 Financial Statements and Annual 
Reports of Public Colleges 
Generally, we found that public colleges' financial 

statements are prepared in accordance with Canadian 

public sector accounting standards; however, the 

timeliness of the reporting of these financial state­

ments to the Ministry and the public, as welJ as the 

disclosure of the financial statements and annual 

reports, require improvements to comply with the 

Minisa·y's operating procedures requirements and to 

better serve the needs of decision-makers and finan­

dal statement users. 

4. 7.1 Some Public Colleges Not Meeting 
Ministry Requirements on Financial Statements 
and Annual Reports 

The Audited Financial Statements Operating Proced­

ure requires public colleges to submit their audited 

financial statements to the Ministry annually by June 

15. Our review of the audit report date of all 24 public 

colleges' financial statements for the past five years 

Public Colleges Oversight ~ 

(2016/17-2020/21) found that Fanshawe and St. Clair 

have consistently rep,ortcd about two weeks late each 

year. We requested the reasons for these delays from 

the Ministry, but the Ministty could not provide docu­

mentation from these colleges. In 2021, the Ministry 

followed up with the two colleges to remind them 

that they were overdue in their submissions; the col­

leges subsequently submitted their statements. The 

Ministry indica ted to us its understanding that delays 

are typically related to wJ1en the public college board 

meets to approve the financial statements. Both col­

leges confirmed this to be the case, as their board 

meetings are typically scheduled for the fourth week 

of the month. 

In addit ion, not all the public colleges have met 

the Ministry's accountability reporting requirements 

for annual reports. The Annual Report Operating 

Procedure states that public colleges are required to 

submit tl1eir annual report, including a copy of their 

audited financial statements, by July 31 and to ensure 

that the report is made publicly available by posting it 

on theiJ: website. We found that 21 of the 24 colleges' 

annual reports for 2020/21 were publicly available on 

their websites as of July 31, 2021; the annual reports 

for Canadore, George Brown and Sault were not. As 

of the beginning of October 2021, of the three, only 

George Brown had published its report online. The 

colleges reasons for the delays included added work­

loads in response to COVJ0-19, and IT challenges. 

As well, for the four colleges reviewed in-depth, we 

found that Loyalist and St. Clair did n ot include 

their full audited financial statements in their 

annual reports, as required by the Ministry's operat­

ing procedures. While these two college's audited 

financial statements were publicly available on thei_r 

websites, they included only summarized financial 

statements in their annual reports. 

I RECOMMENDATION 22 

To provide transparency to the public and to comply 

with all accountability reporting requirements 

and operating procedures, we recommend that: 
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• Fanshawe and St. Clair submit their audited 

financial statements to the Ministry of Colleges 

and Universities by the required deadline; 

• Canad ore, George Brown and Sault make their 

annual reports publicly available on their web­

s1tes on a timely basis; and 

• Loyalist and St. Clair include complete audited 

financial statements in their annual reports on 

their operational performance. 

RESPONSE FROM PUBLIC COLLEGES 

Fanshawe and St. Clair acknowledge and accept 

that the audited financial statements were not sub­

mitred by the deadline based on the timing of the 

board meetings, and agree to submjt their audited 

financial statements by the required deadline 

beginning fiscal 2021/22. 
Canadore, George Brown and Sault agree 

to make their annual reports publicly available 

in a timely fashion such that they adhere to the 

required deadline. 

Loyalist and St. Clair agree to include com­

plete audited financial statements in their annual 

reports. 

RECOMMENDATION 23 

To provide effective oversight of public colleges 

and their compliance with the accountabiJjty 

reporting requirements, we recommend that the 

Ministry of Colleges and Universities maintain 

documentation regarding delays from public col• 

leges that are consistently submitting their audited 

financial statements late, and take corrective 

action to address the causes for the delays. 

MINISTRY RESPONSE 

The Ministry will augment its current process 

around college submission of financial statements 

and budgets to provide for structured Minis try 

responses to delays and require the submission 

and maintenance of documentation from institu­

tions .regard ing delays and their causes. 

4. 7.2 Three-Quarters of Colleges' Financial 
Statements Did Not Include Management's 
Statement of Responsibility 

We found that the 2020/21 audited financial state­

ments of 18 of the 24 public colleges did not include 

a signed statement of management's responsibility, 

as required under Canadian public sector accounting 

standards. This s tatement acknowledges that college 

management is responsible for preparing the college's 

financial statements in accordance with the college's 

accounting framework. Consequently, the absence of 

a signed statement of management's responsibility 

raises questions as to who is accountable for the prep­

aration of the financial statements for a particular 

college jn a given fiscal year. 

In addition, of the 18, Fanshawe's financial state­

ments did not include board signatures signifying 

their approval of the financial statements. The col­

lege's board of governors' approval of the audited 

fi nancial statements was documented in the meeting 

minutes, but this approval is not publicly disclosed 

on the statements. This lack of formal acknowledge­

ment of t he financial statements by the board may 

dilute the perceived reliability of the statements to 

readers, as it is unclear whether or not the financial 

statements were indeed reviewed and approved by 

the board. 

RECOMMENDATION 24 

To improve the reliability and usefulness of 

public colleges' financial statements, we recom­

mend that: 

• the 18 public colleges (Algonquin, Boreal, 

Cambrian, Canadore, Conestoga, Confedera­

tion, Fanshawe, Fleming, La Cite, Lambton, 

Loyalist, Mohawk, Niagara, Northern, Sault, 

Seneca, Sheridan, and St. Clair) append a 

signed statement of management responsibility 

dated on or before the date of the audit opinion 

to their audited financia l statements published 

on their websites; and 

• Fanshawe include board signatures in its 

published audited financial statements. 
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RISPQN8E FROM PUBLIC CGLLEIIS 
The public colleges believe that they have, to 

date, complied with public sector accounting 

requirements in terms of how their audited finan­

cial statements are presented. However, they agree 

that the proposed recommendation wil l improve 

the reliability of their financial statements and so 

will append a signed statement of management 

responsibility to their published audited financial 

statements beginning fiscal 2021/22. 

Fanshawe also agrees to include board signa­

tures on its published audited financial statements 

beginning the same fiscal year. 

4. 7.3 Six Public Colleges Did Not Provide 
Sufficient Disclosures ofTheir Contractual 
Arrangements with Private Career Colleges 

We found that all six public colleges (Cambrian, Cana­

dore, Lambton, Northern, St. Clair, and St. Lawrence) 

with long-standing public-private college partner­

ships established prior to the Partnerships Directive 

did not provide sufficient disclosures in the notes to 

their 2020/21 financial statements. None of the six 

colleges disclosed the amount of revenue earned, or 

fees paid , related to the partnerships in their financial 

statements. Given the significance of tlt is revenue 

stream, we would expect the amount earned to be 

presented as a separate line item in the statement 

of operations, or at a minimum, be disclosed in the 

notes to the financial statements. As such, users of 

the public colleges' financial statements are not fully 

aware of the existence and extent of this international 

student revenue stream. 

Further, Cambrian, Northern, St. Lawrence 

presented revenues and expenses related to these 

pa rtnership arrangemen ts in their statement of 

operations on a net basis (that is, in a single line 

item). Canadian public sector accounting standards 

require revenues and expenses to be presented sep­

arately, on a gross basis. Separate disclosure allows 

users to assess and distinguish the total magnih~de of 

revenues earned and expenses incurred by a public 

college from various sources. For example, the tuition 

Public Colleges Oversight 'WIIIIII 

fees earned from international students studying at 

a public-private college partnership campus should 

be presented separately fro m those earned from 

international students studying at the public col­

lege's home campus; they should also be presented 

separately from the fees pa id to private career college 

partners. An example of how this could be displayed 

is shown in Figure 30. 

RECOMMENDATION 25 

To improve the quality of financial information 

received from public colleges, we recommend 

that the Ministry of Colleges and Universities 

require public colleges to repor~ the gross revenue 

earned and expenses incurred from their public­

private college partnerships in their statement 

of operations, and include a description of the 

partnership revenue stream in the notes to their 

financial statements. 

MIN1$TRY RESPONSE 

The Ministry will provjde fu rther direction to 

colleges around the documentation of public­

private college partnership revenue streams in 

their financial statements. 

RECOMMENDATION 26 

To improve the reliability and usefulness of public 

colleges' financial statements, we recommend that 

any public college that has or enters into a part­

nership with a private career college: 

• report the gross revenue earned and expenses 

incurred (instead of revenue· on a net basis) 

from their public-private college partnerships 

in their statement of operations; and 

• include the partnership revenue stream as 

a separate revenue line item either in the 

statement of operations or within a separate 

schedule in the financial statements, in 

addition to a description of the revenue stream 

in the notes to their financial statements. 
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Figure 30: Sample Financial Statement Disclosure to Include Public-Private College Partnerships($ 000) 
Prepared by the Office of the Auditor General of Ontario 

Revenue 

Grant 

Domestic tuition 

International tuition 

Publlo-private college 
partnerships 

Other 

Total 

Expenses 

Salaries, benefits and 
postemployment benefits 

Professional services 

Public-private college 
partnerships 

Other 

Total 

Excess of Revenue Over 
Expend ltures 

Cambrian 

38,197 31,968 

13,021 8,264 

21,339 8,020 

17,161 77,636 

10,169 15,926 

99,887 141,814 

62,547 41,407 

9,084 18,616 

48,370 

19,541 25,452 

91,172 133,845 

8,715 7,969 

31,630 23,591 58,940 56,917 

9,548 3,187 24,670 19,398 

11,074 8,328 68,021 20,823 

41,029 28,552 65,135 19,689 

11,138 6,023 21,189 9,874 

104,419 69,681 237,955 126,701 

51,066 33,291 83,030 80,607 

5,694 3,683 21,642 12,537 

19,836 46,866 

19,827 11,626 47,209 26,433 

96,423 48,600 198,747 119,577 

7,996 21,081 39,208 7,124 

• These three colleges present their revenue and expenses from public-private college partnerships on a net basis. No expenses associated with lllesc parl/lershlps 
are separately disclosed, as either the Information was not provided to the Mlnlslly, or the contractual terms have the private partner collect tho gross tulUon fees 
from students and remit a portion to the public college. 

Example or addlUonal nnanclal statement disclosure of publlc-prt1•atc college operaUons. 

RESPONSE FROM PUBLIC COLLEGES 

For the first recommended action, Cambrian and 

St. Lawrence believe that we properly present 

our contractual revenues from our pa rtnersl1ip 

a rrangements in accordance with Canadian Public 

Sector Accow1ting Standards. 

We acknowledge the students are determined 

to be students of the public colleges by virtue 

of the Ministry's directives related to private 

parmership arrangemen ts, and we have certain 

responsibilities to the students who are enrolled 

in private partner programs as outlined in the 

Ministry's directive. However, we conclude that we 

are acting as an agent in the provision of academic 

delivery to international students enrolled in pro­

grams delivered by our colleges' private partners 

because our contractual agreements transfer a 

significant amount of risks and rewards to our 

private partners for the following reasons: 

• · Our private par tners are in control of the 

necessary goods and services required to 

satisfy the obligation to the students by provid­

ing academic delivery of course content. 

• The private partners are the beneficiar ies of 

the tuition fees as they a.re able to retain any 

surplus beyond the costs required to satisfy the 

perfor mance obligations. 

• We have no credit r isk from the payments and 

no control or authority over how the tuition 

fees are used by the private partner to meet 

their contractual obligations as outlin ed in the 

partnership agreements. 

Accordingly, we conclude that revenues are 

to be reported net in the public colleges' finan­

cial statem ents, equivalent to the amount of 
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commission fees generated Jn accordance with the 

licensing agreements. 

Similarly, Northern believes that presenting 

gross revenue for the partnership arrangement is 

not appropriate as the college is acting as a flow 

through, and it would be misleading to present the 

gross amounts of revenue as it will not be earned 

by the college. 

The remaining colleges with public-private 

college partnerships agree with the recommenda­

tion to continue to report the gross revenue and 

expenses in the statement of operations. 

For the second recommended action, the public 

colleges (Loyalist, Northern, Sault, St. Clair and 

St. Lawrence) disagree with the recommendation 

to include separate disclosure of the revenue stream 

in the financial statements because of concerns 

relating to confidentiality terms in agreements 

between colleges and their private partners. The 

partnership revenue stream is fully disclosed to the 

Ministry of Colleges and Universities. 

AUDITOR GENERAL RESPONSE 

For the colleges' (Cambrian, Northern and 

St. Lawrence) response to our first recommended 

action, we continue to believe that public colleges 

that have entered into partnerships with private 

career colleges should record the gross tuition fees 

from students enrolled in their programs delivered 

by private partners. Key factors that support our 

accounting assessment include, but are not limited 

to, the following requirements under the Min­

istry of Colleges and Universities' Binding Policy 

Directive on Public College-Private Partnerships 

(Partnerships Directive): 

• Students enrolled in programs delivered 

by private partners are students of the 

public college. 

• .{>ublic colleges are responsible for ensuring 

that private partners' locations operate with 

similar student protections and standards of 

services, accountability and quality assurance 

as college home campuses. 

Public Colleges Oversight ._ 

• Public colleges are responsible for managing 

risks associated with the termination of part­

nership agreements or the failure of a partner 

to deliver services to students by providing 

appropriate accommodations for students 

who are affected in these circumstances, such 

as student financial compensation and/or 

guarantees that students be able to complete 

their programs. 

These factors mean that public colleges 

are ultimately responsible for the provision 

of their academic programs to all of t·heir stu­

dents, including those enrolled at their programs 

delivered by private partners. 

Under the Partnerships Directive, public col­

leges caru1ot □·ans fer the significant r isks and 

responsibilities associated with the fulfilment of 

their academic programs to their private career 

college partners. In addition, public colleges retain 

the sole ability and discretion to admit students 

into their programs and, upon completion of these 

programs, award Ontario academic credentials 

(e.g., an Ontario college diploma or certificate). 

We will engage the Ministry and the Office 

of t he Provincial Controller Division to correct 

this accounting treatment in the Province's 

consolidated financial statements commencing 

April 1, 2021. 

For the second recommended action, the separ• 

ate disclosure of the partnership revenue stream 

provides transparency to the users of the financial 

statements and the public. We acknowledge that 

this information is provided to the Ministry as part 

of the colleges' reporting under the Partnerships 

Directive. However, existence of these partnership 

agreements and the significance of the associated 

revenue to the overall results of colleges' oper­

ations is not evident to a reader of the colleges' 

financial statements. 
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... 
Source or data: Ministry of Colleges and Universities 
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Public Colleges Oversight ~ 

Source of data: Ministry of Colleees and Universities 

Seneca 32,356 33,457 33,494 34,435 6 36,940 
Humber 30,867 32,040 31,752 32,114 4 30,443 
George Brown 32,848 33,745 34,368 33,707 3 28,864 
Algonquin 24,035 24,942 25,921 26,517 10 25,083 
Sheridan 24,652 25,908 26,295 26,729 8 24,482 
Conestoga 17,313 17,518 20,736 22,591 30 23,075 
Fanshawe 18,201 19,523 20,914 21,972 21 21,136 
Centennial 18,591 20,851 22,946 23,102 24 20,059 
Mohawk 19,131 19,441 19,630 19,000 (1) 17,043 
Durham 13,765 14,165 15,100 16,458 20 15,201 
Georgian 14,663 15,477 16,046 16,242 11 15,163 
St. Clair 10,709 11,242 13,539 12,189 14 14,338 
St. Lawrence 8,514 10,111 10,205 10,116 19 10,418 
Niagara 10,805 11,585 12,466 12,064 12 10,145 
Lambton 4,026 5,349 6,669 5,961 48 8,897 
Cambrian 6,386 7,105 6,941 7,197 13 8,049 
Canadore 4,205 5,020 5,379 5,473 30 8,009 
Fleming 7,698 7,960 8,792 8,567 11 6,700 
Northern 1,641 1,691 1,883 1,929 18 5,835 
La Cite 5,620 5,529 5,585 5,995 7 5,481 
Loyalist 4,510 4,425 4,750 4,669 4 4,629 
Confederation 3,786 3,669 3,682 3,661 (3) 3,159 
Sault 2,659 2,544 2,630 3,046 15 2,899 
Boreal 2,860 2,662 2,639 2,737 (4) 2,302 

Total 319,841 335,959 352,362 356,471 11 348,350 

1. Enrolment data Is tho total or rull-Umo and part-time swdcnts, and Includes those studying at publlo-prlvate college partnerships, 

2. Change Is calculated ovor a rour-year period from 2016/17 to 2019/20. TI1e calculation does not Include 2020/21 opcr~tlon~ as that fiscal year was slgnlllcanUy 
Impacted by the COVID,19 pandemic and noi representative or regular operations for comparison purposes. 
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... 
Prepared by the Office or the Auditor General of Onl!lrlo 

Ancillary revenue 

Apprenticeship program 

Credentials Framework 

Degree program 

Non-degree program 

Ontario College 
Advanced Diploma 

Ontario College Certificate 

Ontario College Diploma 

Ontario College Graduate 
Certificate 

Ontario Quallflcatlons Framework 

Revenues that are generated through the provision of non-academic actlvitres 
(e.g., convocation fees, athletic fees, residence fees, etc.). 

Typically requires between two and five years to complete. Apprentices learn a sl<llled trade 
on the Job, under the supervision of an experienced tradesperson. Classroom training Is 
delivered by Training Delivery Agents (who can be either college or non-college employees). 

Contained Within the Frameworl< for Programs of Instruction Binding Policy Directive. 
Outlines the complexity of knowledge and vocational outcomes; essential employability 
skills and general education; duration for completion; admission requirements and name 
required for each public college credential. 

Requires four years of study to complete. Students receive a broad education, with 
specialized knowledge In at least one discipline. 

Requires one to three years of study to complete. Students receive a defined range of 
education In their area of study to obtain a certificate, diploma, advanced diploma or 
graduate certificate upon graduation. 

Requires three years of study to complete. Graduates can work In a range of technical or 
management functions. 

Requires one year of study to complete. Graduates can work In a limited range of activities. 

Requires two years of study to complete. Graduates can work In a range of technical or 
administrative functions. 

Requires a degree, Ontario college diploma or advanced diploma for admission. Students 
learn knowledge or skills that are deeper than those gained through previous credentials. 

Outlines the learning expectations for graduates who hold each type of credential offered 
by Ontario postsecondary Institutions. Particularly for degree programs, this framework 
establishes the broad standards for degree programs that are not outlined within the 
Credentials Framework. 
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Preparcrj by the Office of lhe Auditor General of Ontario 

Governance and Accountability 

Governance and Accountablllty Framework 
Sets minimum expectations regarding the mandate, role and 
resporislbllitles of boards of governors, Including: 

• setting a vision, strategic directions and overall goals: 
• hiring a president and evaluating his/her performance; 

• approving the annual business plan, budget and annual report; 
and 

• assessing board effectiveness and ensuring corrective actions 
are taken. 

Stipulates that nomination procedures and appointments are to 
follow the Protocol ror Board Nominations and Appointments (a 
supporting document). 

Programs 

Public Colleges Oversight ,._ 

Strategic Plan 
Sets minimum requirements for colleges' strategic plans and 
requires they be made available on colleges' websites. 

Business Plan 
Sets minimum requirements for annual business plans (e.g., 
statement of operational outcomes, goals and objectives, 
annual budget) and deficit recovery plans. 

Annual Report 
Sets minimum requirements for annual reports (e.g., extent to 
which a college achieved outcomes Identified In Its strategic 
plan, financial performance. a summary of complaints 
regarding the advertising and marketing of college programs). 

Audited Flnanclal Statements 
Sets minimum requirements for audited financial statements 
(e.g., prepared using accrual basis of accounting). 

Graduate and Employer Key Performance Indicator Surveys 
Sets requirements to administer the graduate and employer 
surveys used to collect, and publish, key performance Indicator 
data. 

Admissions Criteria n/ a' 
Procedures and eligibility requirements colleges are to follow when 
establishing specific program requirements for all public college 
programs, Including: 

• giving residents of Ontario priority In admissions to 
oversubscribed programs4; and 

• having a publicly available central admissions publication that 
contains admissions criteria and selection procedures on a 
program-by-program basis. 

Funding Approval of Programs of Instruction 
Criteria a program must meet before the college submits a 
request for funding (I.e., has board approval, Is consistent with 
the Minlste~s Binding Polley Directive on Framework for Programs 
or Instruction, compiles with legislation, and meets an Identified 
economic or societal need). 

Funding Approval of Programs of Instruction 

• Summarizes tt1e type of Information a college Is required to 
complete when requesting an approval for funding from the 
Ministry. 

• Provides Information on the Ministry's responsibilities and 
approval process. 

Program Suspension and Cancellation 
Procedures colleges are to follow to Inform the Ministry of 
changes to their offerings of programs of instructlon. 

Funding of Part-Time Activity n/a3 

Establishes eligibility criteria to allow specified part-time courses to 
be funded through the general-purpose operating grant. 
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Programs (continued) 

Framework for Programs of Instruction n/a3 

Outlines a series of requirements that must be upheld for a college 
to offer programs and Instructional courses. Includes the Ontario 
CredenUals Framework in an appendix that defines the differences 
between the various credentials offered at Ontario public corleges. 

Public colleges must have the following procedures In place for 
program development: 

• The board of governors must approve all programs of Instruction 
to ensure the program aligns with the college's mandate, 
strategic direction and local economic and social needs. 

• Each program, or cluster of related programs, must have a program 
advisory committee that Includes people external to the college Who 
have expertise In the particular area of study. These committees 
provide advice on the programs developed and offered; members 
are drawn from the local community and provide Input on 
program relevancy and local employment needs. 

Rnance and Administration 

Banking, Investments and Borrowing 
Establishes college banking, Investment and borrowing 
requirements. 

Conflict of Interest 
Defines conflicts of interest, outlines procedures boards are to 
follow to determine If a conflict exists and provides steps to be 
followed. 

Entrepreneurial Activities 
Sets out guidelines for entrepreneurial actiVlties and establishes the 
conditions under which the activities may ocour. 

Proceeds from Sale or Encumbrance of College Property 
Outlines· the requirement for ministerial approval for the use of 
proceeds from the sale, encumbrance, or lease of college property 
acquired with provincial support. 

Tuition and Ancillary Fees 
Requires colleges to: 

• ensure tuition and ancillary fees are board-approved and 
publicly available; 

• use revenue from tuition fee Increases for student-aid purposes; 
• ensure financial aid Is available to students with financial needs; 

and 
• report enrolment and fee Information to the Ministry. 

Public College-Private Partnerships 
Permits public colleges to enter Into contractual arrangements 
that allow third parties to deliver college programs, and outlines 
requirements for public colleges. Colleges remain responsible for 
the quallly of programs delivered. 

Banking, Investments and Borrowing 
Specmc details on restrictions and conditions on college 
banking, Investments and borrowing requirements. 

n/ a3 

n/a3 

n/a3 

Tuition and Ancillary Fees Reporting 
Details how colleges are to Implement policies regarding 
tuition, ancillary fees, tuition fee refunds, accountability and 
reporting. 

Enrolment Reporting and Audit Procedure 
Sets out the requirements for preparing and reporting 
enrolment data to the Ministry, and for conducting an audit of 
the data. 

n/ a3 

1. Mlnlsuy expectaUons for college compllanco with t11e Ontorfo Colleges of Appl/co Arts and rechnolof!t Act, 2002 and o. Reg. 34/03. 
2. Specific requirements and proco<lures lo comply With u,c /\ct, Regulation end Binding Polley Dlrectlves. 

3. The Mlnlslly did not establish addlllonol procedures for these Binding Polley Dlreclllres bco.,uso the dlreotlves already provide specinc details for public colleges to 
follow. 

4. During our audit, wo were unable to obtain lnformaUon on this as II Is not trockcd by UIe Ministry. 
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Prepared by the Office of the Auditor General of Ontario 

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2DZ8/21 
$million % $ million % $million % $ million % $ million % $ million % $million % $ mi11ion % $ million % $ million % 

~ 

Domestic 711 20 757 21 811 21 825 21 847 21 867 20 821 18 927 17 843 15 , 802 16 
Tuition Fees 

International 273 8 318 9 1 365 10 450 11 534 13 696 16 952 20 1,405 26 1,754 32 1,681 33 
Tuition Fees1 

Core 1,026 29 1,060 29 1,077 28 1,094 28 1,134 27 1,152 26 I 1,174 25 1,162 21 1,147 21 1,118 22 
Operating and 
Performance- I 

I 
I 

based Grants2 

Other Grants3 630 18 784 21 786 21 780 20 769 19 759 18 734 16 880 16 741 13 819 16 

Other 883 25 752 20 768 20 781 20 825 20 893 20 983 21 1,103 20 1,042 19 677 13 

Total 3,523 100 3,671 100 3,807 100 3,930 100 4,109 1005 4,367 1005 4,664 100 5,477 100 5,527 100 5,097 100 

1. Prior to 2019/ 20, revenue from international student tuition fees co0uted under pubfic-private conege partnership agreemems were not separately reported by lhe public colleges to Ille Ministty and could ei'ther be indurled 
with "International tuition iees" or"Other." Starting m 2019/ 20, this information has been reported separately to the ldinistty, which we have induded With "International tuition fees.• 

2. Core ope1ating and pelformance-based grants consist of the fo!owing funding: 
Enrolment - the core operaling grant is calculated based on domestic enrolment levels in eligible programs, full- or part-wne registration and type of program. 

• Performance-based - prior to 2020/ 21, this represented 1.2% of the funding proYided and was allocated to colleges based on performance across three key indicators: graduate satisfaction, employer satisfaction and 
graduate employment rate: This portion of funding will increase to up to 60% tly 2024/ 25 as measured across 10 melri~ (discussed in Section 2.2.4), with an equal decrease to the enrolment funding. 

3. Other grants include special purpose. grants lhatare provided to Sllppost initiatives such as disabifity support. rural and northern communities and Indigenous education programs. They also include other funding from me 
federal and provincial government;, as well as COVl[}-19 funding for 2019/ 20 and 2020/ 21. 

4. Other revenue includes ancillary revenue, donations, investment income and other miscellaneous income. 

5. Total percentage has been rounded to 100. 
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Prepared by the ornce or the Auditor General or Ontatlo 

Graduate employment 
rate In a related field 

lnstltJ:,ltlonal strength/ 
focus 

Graduation rate 

Community/ local 
Impact of student 
enrolment 

Economic Impact 
(Institution-specific) 

Graduate employment 
earnings 

Experiential !earning 

Revenue attracted from 
private sector sources 

Apprenticeship-related 
(institution specific) 

Skills and competencies 
of students 

Percentage of graduates employed full-time In a field related, or parUally 
related, to their program six months after graduation, compared with the 
total number of graduates employed full-time. 

Percentage of enrolment In a college's defined program area(s) of 
strength compared with total enrolment. 

Percentage of full-time students (domestic and International) who entered 
a program of Instruction In a particular enrolment reporting period and 
graduated within a specific period. 

The college's enrolment percentage of the 15-64 age group In the 
population of the city (cltles)/town(s) in which the college Is located as 
per the 2016 Census. 

Colleges choose whether to use a numeric, percentage or monetary 
metric to demonstrate the economic Impact of the college, within 
Ministry-established criteria and principles. 

Median employment earnings of college graduates (both domestic and 
International, Including those from partnership colleges With campuses In 
Ontario) In a given calendar year, two years after graduation. 

Percentage of graduates In programs who participated In at least one 
course with required experiential learning cornponent(s}. 

Total revenue attracted from private sector and not-for-profi t sources. 

Colleges choose whether to use a numeric or percentage metric. The 
metric should be associated with apprenUceshlps and align with Ministry­
established principles. 

Based on the colleges' participation In a survey. 

Note: the calculation or the pcrformanoo,bascd mctrtcs In relation 10 Mlnlst,y rundlng to public colleges Is as rollows: 

2020/21 

2020/21 

2020/21 

2020/21 

2020/21 

2021/22 

2021/22 

2021/22 

2022/23 

2022/23 

For each or the performance-based metJics, the Ministry establishes a target at the begJnnlM or U1e year. If the collejle meets lhe target, It receives the rull amount 
or rundlng allocated to UIaI metrlc. Ir a target Is missed, rundlna Is decreased proporllonal to the level that tho actual perfom1ance missed the tar!let. 
Targets are set based on an average of the past three years, plus a continuous Improvement factor. To mltlgate aealnst year-to-year volatlllty In hlsto~cal 
pcrrormanoe, a band or tolerance Is assigned to motJics. The band of tolerance Is an allowable range around a target where a college will be considered successful 
ror the purposes of earning 100% or tho rundln{! allocation ror that motile. 
To encourage public collegos to locus on their Individual strengths, colleges assign lndlVldual wolghUngs lo each metric for their funding to be based on. The 
lndlvldual weigllUngs for the motrtcs wHI be phased in over a throo-yonr period, wllh a minimum weighting or 10% and maidmurn of 35% in 2020/21, to a steady• 
state minimum weighting of 5% and maximum of 25% by 2022/23 to t~e end or tho Strategic Mandate Agreement period. For example. a college could decide 
that It has a stronger graduation mto, Uius It may assign a h1gl1er proportion or funding to that metJic co1npared with an area where It has wea~er performance. 

• Two previous Strategic Mandate Agreements have been In place and ran lrom 2014 to 2017 and 2017 to 2020, tespectlvely. Under the new agreements, 
enrolment-related (undlrrg under the core operating grant will be based on a corridor approach, whlch means a range will be established within which domestic 
enrolment must rell lrJ order to receive funding. This corridor approach allows tor belier college budgellnl( as It prevents potenUal changes In rundlng ror small 
lluctuaUons In enrolment levels. As well, the agr'eements lrllroduce a new approach ror perfonnance-based funding. Up to 60% or college operating funding (not 
capital ru11dlnli) provided lo colleges by 2024/25 Is to be ll11ked to outcomes on the above 10 performance-based metrics. 

AGENDA PAGE   158



Public Colleges Oversight ~ 

Source of data: Ministry of Colleges and Universities 

l"..lU't: •aL!l 
TT l'lliL'H nlJ l'..(11'..llr,_.I -- - -

1:i, .. 111 .... , ,,,,,¥'1' Domestic lntelnatlonel2 Domestic l11ternet1ona11 Domestic lnternatlonal2 

Algonquin 3,641 12,876 3,291 14,821 3,257 14,887 

Boreal 3,022 12,138 2,721 11,956 2,732 11,956 

Cambrian 4,096 13,347 3 ,573 13,785 3 ,603 13,761 

Canadore 3,294 12,219 2,953 12,634 2,963 12,874 

Centennial 3,427 14,444 3,089 14,610 3,103 15,182 

Conestoga 3 ,604 12,022 3,413 12,521 3 ,388 12,507 

Confederation 3 ,355 13,494 2,966 13 ,841 3,031 14,238 

Durham 3,296 13,345 3,006 13 ,452 3,008 13,475 

Fanshawe 3 ,565 13,972 3,251 14,347 3,247 14,723 

Fleming 3,758 14,623 3,443 14,500 3 ,314 14,495 

George Brown 3,726 13,725 3,320 14,607 3,247 14,628 

Georgian 3,860 12,167 3,465 13,569 3,449 13,979 

Humber 3,862 13,939 3,462 14,611 3,470 15,226 

La Cite 3,164 12,382 2,881 13 ,052 2,882 13,145 

Lambton 3,665 11,691 3 ,185 11,668 3,218 11,603 

Loyalist 3,230 13,000 2,884 13,466 2,891 14,044 

Mohawk 3,166 13,089 2,883 13,506 2,877 14,180 

Niagara 3,347 13,372 3,075 13,847 3,063 13,960 

Northern 3,673 12,477 3 ,169 12,992 3,168 13,544 

Sault 3,789 14,933 3,513 15,604 3,338 15,500 

Seneca 3,911 13,835 3,572 13,937 3 ,571 14,260 

Sheridan 4,253 15,350 3,981 15,824 3 ,979 16.472 

St. Clair 3 ,622 11,457 3,255 12,800 3,289 12,905 

St. Lawrence 3,804 8.709 3,387 8 ,287 3,394 14,679 

Average 3,589 13,265 3,239 13,807 3,228 14,306 

1. To pay their tuition rees, eligible domosUc students studying at public colleges may recclvo grants and loans from the Ontario Student Assistance Program (OSAP). 
International students are not ollgiblc for OSAP. In 2019/20, about 106,000 students, representing about 40% of the total number of domestlc students enrolled 
at Ontarlo public colleges, received about $441 million In pro\/inclal OSAP assistance. (Federal grants and loans are also administered through OSAP.) 

2. The Tuition and Ancillary Fees Blndlrig Polley Directive gives college boards full dlscreUon to sol International student fees. The only rcslricUon Is that the year-over­
yearlncrease for returning International students cannot exceed 20% during the Ume period students could reasonably be expected to complete their studies. 
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1. Consultatlon 
The Ministry's Postsecondary Education Quality Assessment Branch (Branch) consults with stakeholders annually to 
determine which standards to develop or update during the next review cycle. This Includes discussions with other ministries 
and public colleges. 

The Branch hires facilitators to lead consultations with public colleges and Industry stakeholders on how a standard should 
be updated or developed. 

2. Planning 
The Branch plans which standards will be reviewed during the next cycle based on criteria such as student enrolment In 
a program across the sector, the a~e of an existing standard, Industry or regulatory change and programs Identified as 
priorities by the colleges. 

3. Validation 
The Branch obtains validation of a program standard through the Ontario College Quality Assurance Service's Credential 
Validation Service. 

4. Attestation 
When a program standard has been updated, the Ministry communicates the changes to colleges, who are then required to 
modify their programs to comply with the standard and attest to its compliance. 

5. Publlcatlon 
The Branch publishes the new or updated program standard on the Ministry website. 
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Source of data: Mlolsuy of Colleges and UnlverslUes 

[ 
l 

New program developed by public college 

Program approved by college's board of governors 

Credential validation by the Ontario 
College Quality Assurance Servlce2 

_ i 
j 

Program Is submitted to the Ministry for Minister's consent and/or funding approval' 

1 
• Polley review, If required• 
• Tuition review5 by the Postsecondary Finance 

and Information Management Branch 

1 
Referral to the Postsecondary 
Education Quality Assessment 
Board for Quality review' and 

recommendation to the Minister 

Public Colleges Oversight ~ 

J 

l ! 
Review by Postsecondary Accountablllty Branch Manager and Director ~ 

__ I L~ 
J __ 

_ i __ 
Review by Assistant Deputy Mlnlsterl 

I 
l J Degree programs 

Review by Deputy Mlnlster6 

Review/Approval by Minister! 

I l Non-degree programs 

l 
I 

I. TI1ls fk>wchart descrtbes the overall process for program approvals. Non•dogroo programs only rcqulro Ministry approvijl If the colleges arc seeking funding npprovnl 
and OSAP ellglblllty. Degree programs are required to be submitted lo the Mlnlsuy for Mlnls\e(s consent approval. 

2. Non-degree pro(lrams must be validated by the credential volldation sorvloe provided by 1110 Ontario College Quality Assurance Service (Quality Assurance Service) 
{seo Appendix 10) to connrm tho program moots tho relevant program standards or aligns with similar programs; a lotter of valldaUon from lhe Quality Assurance 
Sorvlce Is Included within tho college's appllcotlon to t11e Ministry for approval. 

3. TI1e Postsecondary Education Quality Assessment Boord (Quality Assessment Board) quality assures degree programs, Including valldatlng their credentials, and 
makes a recomrnondotion to the Minister; as required by the Post-secondary £ducatJon Choice ond Fxce/lence Acl, 2000, wrttten rnlnlstertal consent Is required to 
offer a degroe,granllng program. 

4. A policy review Is required If the non-degree pro~ram Is: a) In a profession where the government Is a major employer (e.g., nursing); b) In a profession that Is 
regulated (e.g., paralegal); or c) a high-funding program (e.g., aviation). A ·policy review Is required for all degree programs and occurs simultaneously with UIe quality 
review conducted by the Quality Assessment Board. 

5. A Wltlon review Is requJred ror all proc,rams to approve u,e domestic WIU011 fees that I1ubllc colleges propose to charge. 
6. Prior to 2D19. mlnlste~al approval was nol required for college non-de(lree program funding approvals. 
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Ontario College Quality 
Assurance Service 
Established in 2005, the Ontatio College Qua lity 

Assurance Service (Quality Assurance Service) con­

ducts tvJo quality assurance seJ:Vices: a credential 

validation service, and a college quality assurance 

audit process. 

Through its credential validation service, the 

Quality Assurance Service determines whether pro­

posed non-degree college programs comply with the 

Credentials Framework outlined in the Framework tor 

Programs oflnsa-uccion Bindfog Policy Directive. 

Through its college quality assurance audit 

process, which follows a five-year cycle, the Quality 

Assurance Service evaluates the effectiveness of 

each college's quality assurance mechanisms to 

ensure their quality, relevancy and currency. The 

audit reviews, for example, each college's poli-

cies, practices, committees, guides and by-laws. The 

Qualicy Assurance Service conducts tJle audits on 

a random sample of programs delivered by each 

college. The sample size depends upon the size of the 

public college and ranges between four to eight pro­

grams. The selected programs must be representative 

of the college's panicular program mix. The goal is to 

determine whether the college's established processes 

are sufficient to meet six quality assurance s tandards 

established by the Quality Assurance Ser vice. The 

audit process does not provide an accreditation for 

the public colleges but serves as an equiva lent qualily 

assura nce process. 

A three-person audit panel conducts each 

audil. The panel members are experts with back­

grounds in post-secondary education who have 

been screened through an application process 

and trained on the audit process. The panel con­

ducts t he audit by reviewing a self-study report 

provided by the college, requesting further docu­

mentation, interviewing members from the college 

community across aU levels, and conducting a 

two-day site visit. The panel drafts a preliminary audit 

report and shares it with the college for feedback and 

comment. Once finalized, the audit report is approved 

by the management board for the Quality Assur-

ance Service and provided to the college. The report 

includes an assessment of how the audited college 

performed against the standards and makes recom­

mendations for improvement. 

The Qua lity Assurance Service publishes an execu­

tive summary of each audit report on its website. Each 

college must submit an 18-rnonth follow-up report to 

the Quality Assurance Service, outlining any changes 

they have implemented to address recommendations 

or gaps identified in the audit report. 

Postsecondary Education Quality 
Assessment Board 
Under the Post-secondary Education Choice and Excel­
lence Act~ 2000, the Postsecondary Education Quality 

Assessment Board (Quality Assessment Board) was 

established to make recommendations to the Minis­

ter on degree programs in Ontario. This includes a 

review to assess the educacional quality of new degree 

programs submitted by Ontario public colleges, and 

a subsequent review every five to seven years for 

ren ewal 

The Quality Assessment Board reviews the appli­

cation against quality standards under the Ontario 

Qualifications Framework, uses expert panels to 

perform site visits and, for renewals, conducts an 

assessment of s tudem work completed in the degree 

program to ensure that degree-level learning o ut­

comes are being acbieved. 

Once the review is completed, the Quality 

Assessment Board provides a recommendation to 

the Minister on whether to grant consenl for the 

degree program. 
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Aug2016 

Mar2017 

Sep2017 

Sep 2017 to 
Dec 2018 

Jun 2018 

Dec 2018 

Dec2019 

May2020 

The Ministry of Colleges and Universities (Ministry) retains a consultant to analyze lhe risks and benefits of public­
private college partnership arrangements to Individual colleges and the sector as a Whole. 

The consultant submits a report that recommends all pre-existing partnerships be wound down because they pose 
risks that are dltflcult to manage (e.g., the partnerships exist because of a federal policy that requires students lo 
graduate from a publlo oollege to obtain a Post-Graduation Work Permit, which is desired by many international 
students, making It advantageous for private career colleges to partner with public colleges). Six public colleges 
have partnetship arrangements at this time. Refer to Figure 8 for a list of the partnership atrangements. 

The Ministry Informs public colleges with partnerships that they are to be wound down over time, with the final 
Intake of new students In September 2018. 

Lobbyists representing four (out of eight) private career colleges that have a partnership with a public college register 
to engage In lobbying activities. These lobbylng activities focus on the partnerships between public colleges and 
private career colleges. 

A separate lobbyist also registers on behalf of Career Colleges of Ontario between July 2018 and September 2019; 
their lobbying activities focus on a range of topics, Including partnership arrangements. Career Colleges of Ontario Is 
an advocacy organization that represents rnore than 260 private career colleges In Ontario. 

According to records from the Ontario l obbyists Registry, u,e lobbyists con tact the Office of the Minister of Colleges 
and Universities, as well as the Office of the Premier and Cabinet Office. 

The provincia l government changes following an election. 

The Minister determines that pre-existing public-private college partnerships will be permitted to continue within 
limits, and that It WIii develop a policy and operational framework to establish rules for public-private college 
partnerships. 

The Ministry issues the Public College-Private Partnerships Minister's Binding Polley Directive (Partnerships Directive) 
to outline the requirements for public-private college partnerst1tps, In part to address the risks Identified In the March 
2017 consultant report. 

The Partnerships Directive requires public colleges to obtain approval from the Minister to enter Into or renew a 
partnership agreement Certain lnforn,atlon must be provided to the Ministry, including: the appropriateness of 
housing and supports available to students; evidence or a Job market and student demand for programs offered at 
tl1e partnership campus; a quality assurance policy and plan for ongoing review; and a risk-mitigation or contingency 
plan to address the risk of the partnership agreement being terminated or the private partner falling to deliver 
agreed-upon services. 

Prior to May 2020, ministerial approval was not required. Of the 11 colleges with a partnership arrangement, five 
had agreements In place prior to th is date (Canadore, Loyalist, Northern, Sault and St. Clair). Since then, three 
colleges (Georgian, Mohawk and Niagara) have established new partnerships and three colleges (Cambrian, 
Lambton and St. Lawrence) have received approvals to renew their partnerships. 

As agreements are renewed, public colleges will be required to submit the aforementioned Information to renew their 
partnerships. 

AGENDA PAGE   163



Mar2021 

Fall 2021 

The Ministry revises the Partnerships Directive to allow the Minister to apply penalties to public colleges for non­
compllance, such as if International student enrolment at the partnership campus exceeds the allowed threshold, 
If a public college Is determined to be non-compliant, the Ministry will Issue a written notice. Within the timellnes 
specified in the notice, the public college must provide an explanation for the non-compliance and a remediation 
plan. If the Minister determines that either of these are unsatisfactory, financial penalties may be Imposed. As of July 
2021, the revised Partnerships Directive Is pending ministerial approval. 

As outlined In the Partnerships Directive, the Ministry plans to conduct a policy review of the Partnerships Directive. 
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Prepared by the Office or the Auditor General or Ontario 

Audit Criteria for Ministry of Colleges and Universities' Oversight of Public Colleges 

1. Effective and efficient processes are In place to confirm that public colleges comply with the Ministry Polley Framework-In areas 
such as governance and accctuntabillty, programs, finance and administration- and other relevant directives. 

2. Effective and efficient processes are in place to ensure that financial and non-financial Information reported by public colleges is 
complete, accurate and timely, and Is used for monitoring compliance and other decision-making purposes. 

3. Effective and efficient processes are In place to ensure that college programs are Identified and delivered In response to 
Ontalio's employment needs In a timely manner. 

4. Effective and efficient processes are In place to monitor capital utilization and condition, program capacity and student 
enrolment and to assess the supply and demand for Ontario students and employers. 

5. Effective and efficient processes are In place to assess program Interfaces, duplication and overlaps between university, private 
college and public college offerings. 

6. Meaningful performance measures are In place to monitor and publicly report on the Ministry's and public colleges· effectiveness 
in achieving the desired education outcomes and meeting Ontarto's employment needs. College program changes and corrective 
actions are taken when needed In a timely manner. 

Audit Criteria for Public College Operations 

1. Boards of governors have governance and accountability processes In place, In areas such as board appointments and 
partnership agreements, that cJre required by legislation, .regulation and directives, or are In line with best practices. 

2. Effective and efficient processes are In place to ensure public college operauons are financially sustainable. 

3. Cost-effective and efficient processes are In place to ensure appropriate recruitment practices, and admission criteria for both 
domestic and International students are In place and followed. 
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An imernational student requires a federal study permit to study at a post-secondary institution in Canada. 

To enter the country, international students may also require a visitor visa or an Electronic Travel Authorization. 

The federal Post-Graduation Work Permit Program allows internationa l students to stay and work in Canada tem­

porarily after graduating from a designated learning institution, such as a public college. 

The le ngth of a student's work permit depends upon the length of their program. If the program is at least 

eight months and less than two years, the student is e ligible for a work permit of equal len gth. If the program 

is two years or m ore, the student is e Ligible for a three-year-maximum work permit. Accordingly, international 

students prefer to take programs that are two yeaJs in length and typically choose business and technology 

programs. According to Immigration, Refugees and Citizenship Canada, close to 827,590 international students 

held valid study permits in Canada in 2019. 

If the student wishes to become a permanent resident, Canadian work experience as well as a Canadian 

educational credential contributes to their application for permanent residency. As such, the Work Permit Program 

is one of the main reasons d1at Canada is an am-active place to scudy for international students, particularly those 

looking for an immigration pathway. According to Statistics Canada, from 2010 to 2014, 33% of international 

students who first arrived in Canada on a srudy permit and subsequently applied for a work permit became a 

permanent resident within five years of arrival. For students who arrived between 2005 and 2009 and obtained 

both permits, 62% became a permanent resident within 10 years. The Ontario government does not have a 

comprehensive record of how m any interna tional students attempt to obtain permanent residency, but the 

Ministry of Colleges and Universities is working to improve its data on the outcomes for international graduates. 
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Applications1 Acceptance2 Applications1 Acce.ptance2 Applications1 Acceptance2 Appfications1 Acceptance2 Applications1 Acceptanc:e2 

Loyalist 8,494 2,035 8,101 1,882 8,845 2,010 8,056 1,899 7,629 1,737 

Sault 5,265 4,246 5,051 4,048 4,734 3,969 4,712 3,769 4,398 3.417 

Seneca 73,526 41,192 68,718 39,820 71,917 42,396 72,665 40,571 70,223 39,230 

St Clair 21,257 13,050 19,589 11,757 18,425 10,945 19,190 11,209 18,246 11,536 . 
1. The number of applications received annually can include multiple applications from one srudent, for different programs. 

2. Public colleges review appncations to assess the student's eOgjbility under the admissions criteria. The college accepts quallfied app~cants, but the number of acceptances does not equal the enrolment at the pubUc 
college. A student may be accepted to multiple programs and ultimately choose only one. 
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Sourte of data: Ministry of Colleges and UniVersities 

I 11 I 1-1 mmITH l f ffl mm ifirn ~l!mruttm.t®nl~1 ll~m [~!!Eldl~m!tffl'l;Elm ~~1-~if,'!~!SiJimb ~ ~ff.!l fflHm;!!I~ 
College 2017 2018 2019 2017 2018 2019 2017 2018 2019 2017 201.8 2019 2017 2018 
Algonquin 66.1 66.6 65.7 86.6 85.5 86.9 80.1 81.1 79.5 95.6 91.4 85.0 73.2 76.2 
801-eal 75.3 76.3 74.9 89.0 86.5 87.9 89.6 86.2 90.2 , 92.3 93.8 100.0 86.3 87.0 
cambrian 74.0 71.9 69.1 83.0 90.2 91.9 85.0 85.8 83.1 94.3 89.6 84.2 77.7 80.4 
Canadore 73.5 70.6 64.0 88.6 89.3 86.8 81.8 86.1 81.5 96.3 80.0 83.3 75.3 78.3 
Centennial 62.2 63.1 65.0 77.9 79.5 80.6 77.9 77.7 79.0 89.4 90.8 96.3 73.6 73.9 
Conestoga 72.8 74.1 72.4 89.3 88.3 86.9 82.7 80.7 81.6 92.8 88.2 92.9 73.3 74.8 
Confederation 67.9 67.5 60.2 87.9 88.4 87.7 83.0 87.0 83.6 93.8 78.6 100.0 77.4 79.2 
Durham 68.1 67.5 65.9 86.5 86.6 83.9 78.l 76.8 75.7 94.3 93.9 91.4 72.5 73.6 
Fanshawe 68.8 69.5 67.9 87.6 90.3 85.8 80.2 81.2 80.8 94.2 85.8 95.8 75.5 77.8 
Fleming 69.5 69.4 68.0 85.3 88.6 86.0 78.9 81.8 79.5 95.7 90.1 95.5 69.7 76.1 
George Brown 67.7 67.3 66.5 81.9 84.1 82.2 ' 77.8 78.6 77.8 90.6 89.3 88.3 71.5 72.9 
Georgian 63.6 65.0 65.5 90.3 89.7 90.2 82.5 80.9 76.8 93.0 87.9 100.0 75.3 75.8 
Humber 63.3 66.9 64.7 85.4 86.8 86.5 i 75.5 75.6 74.9 97.4 83.0 87.1 70.4 73.0 
La Cite 66.7 65.6 67.5 86.3 88.4 85.7 84.0 87.7 85.1 80.6 95.2 80.0 79.1 84.5 
L.ambton 68.6 68.9 66.6 90.7 87.9 86.4 81.8 79.0 79.1 100.0 100.0 100.0 71.4 76.0 
Loyalist 69.0 68.3 64.2 90.8 88.5 88.8 82.3' 80.5 83.8 96.5 91.1 100.0 78.4 80.9 
Mohawk 65.2 65.8 65.2 88.6 88.4 89.5 79.2 80.2 81.2 86.5 90.9 93.9 72.8 75.7 
Niagara 65.8 67.1 67.3 89.0 88.1 88.8 78.9 81.9 81.2 88.1 91.0 87.5 78.4 80.4 
Northern 67.5 63.4 62.2 

, 
88.7 85.5 86.4 75.7 84.1 87.9 86.4 100.0 n/ a2 73.3 80.2 

Sault 59.4 65.2 63.8 85.6 78.1 88.5 I 87.3 82.6 81.4 100.0 92.9 100.0 76.2 83.0 
Seneca 61.5 62.2 63.2 81.7 82.8 81.0 78.2 77.8 76.4 I 90.2 93.1 94.1 70.4 72.4 
Sheridan 68.7 67.0 70.0 83.3 83.3 83.6 77.9 78.6 16.o I 93.6 91.5 77.4 71.5 74.1 
St Clair 67.2 66.6 63.8 87.2 87.5 81.8 81.0 82.8 80.2 86.7 84.0 90.0 78.0 79.8 
St Lawrence 72.9 72.6 66.0 89.7 89.0 88.0 85.1 83.8 81.3 I 89.2 88.6 100.0 75.5 76.9 
Province 66.8 67.2 66.4 85.7 86.2 85.5 79.5 79.9 78.9 92.5 89.6 91.1 l 73.4 75.7 

1. Toe Ministry of Colleges and Universities stopped coDectin.g this information as of 2020 as i1S priolity was on the cotrection of labour market and outromes data, and thus daia for 2019 graduates is not avanallle. Some 
public colleges collect this data ;ndependemly. 

2. £mplo)'ersatislaclion rate datll is unavailable due man insufficient number of emplayers that responded. 

I 

AGENDA PAGE   168



Office of the Auditor General of Ontario 

20 Dundas Street West, Suite 1530 
Toronto, Ontario 
MSG 2C2 

www.auditor.on.ca 

ISSN 1911 -7078 (Online) 
ISBN 978-1-4868-5657-2 
(PDF, 2021 ed.) 

Cover photogfaph credits: 
@ iStockphoto.com/jeffbergen AGENDA PAGE   169


	Agenda
	7.1 BOG-2021-72-BOG Public Minutes of October 13, 2021.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	7.2 BOG-2021-80-DCSA's Audited Financial Statements and Budget.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	7.3 BOG-2021-74-Presidents Report, October to December 2021.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	8.1 BOG-2021-70-Approval to Formalize Apprenticeship Programs.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	8.2 BOG-2021-71-New Program - Fire Protection Technology.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	8.2 BOG-2021-71-Attachment - Fire Protection Technology Program Summary.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	9.1 BOG-2021-81-Sexual Violence and Harassment Action Plan Statistics.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	9.2 BOG-2021-73-Collaborative Efforts with Ontario Tech University.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	9.2 BOG-2021-73-Attachment 1-Collaborative Efforts Between DC and OTU.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	9.3 BOG-2021-83-Value for Money Audit - Public Colleges Oversight.pdf
	Back to Agenda


